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THE SECURITIES BEING OFFERED OR SOLD UNDER THIS OFFERING 
MEMORANDUM HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE COMMISSION (SEC) AS THE ISSUANCE IS AN EXEMPT TRANSACTION 
UNDER SECTION 10.1 (L) OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE (SRC). UPON 
ISSUANCE, THESE SECURITIES SHALL BE SIMULTANEOUSLY ENROLLED AS 
SECURITIES THAT MAY BE TRADED BETWEEN AND AMONG QUALIFIED BUYERS 
WHICH ARE JURIDICAL PERSONS AT THE PHILIPPINE DEALING & EXCHANGE 
CORP. (PDEX) IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROCEDURES AND REQUIREMENTS 
SET FORTH IN THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM, AND THE RELEVANT PDEX RULES, 
OPERATING FRAMEWORK, AND TRADING CONVENTIONS. ANY FUTURE OFFER OR 
SALE OF THE SECURITIES WITHIN THE PDEX TRADING SYSTEM MUST BE TO A 
QUALIFIED BUYER WHICH IS A JURIDICAL PERSON, AS DEFINED AND 
PRESCRIBED UNDER THE SRC AND ITS IMPLEMENTING RULES AND 
REGULATIONS. FOR SALES THAT DO NOT OBSERVE THE PROCESSES SET FORTH 
IN THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM, OR THAT OCCUR OUTSIDE THE PDEX TRADING 
SYSTEM, THE SALE TO A NON-QUALIFIED BUYER IS SUBJECT TO THE 
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS UNDER THE SRC, AND SUCH OTHER 
CONSEQUENCES AS MAY BE PROVIDED UNDER THE PDEX RULES. 
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THE OFFER AND ISSUANCE OF THE NOTES ARE MADE SOLELY TO QUALIFIED 
BUYERS WHICH ARE JURIDICAL PERSONS UNDER SECTION 10.1(L) OF THE SRC 
AND SECTIONS 10.1.3.1, 10.1.3.2, 10.1.3.3, 10.1.3.4, 10.1.3.5, AND 10.1.3.6 OF ITS 
IMPLEMENTING RULES AND REGULATIONS, WITH THOSE UNDER SECTION 
10.1.3.6 HAVING BEEN DULY QUALIFIED BY A DULY SEC-REGISTERED QUALIFIED 
INVESTOR REGISTRAR. THE OFFER AND ISSUANCE IS EXEMPT FROM THE 
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SRC. SMIC WILL NOT OBTAIN A 
CONFIRMATION OR DECLARATION OF SUCH EXEMPTION FROM OR FILE A NOTICE 
OF SUCH EXEMPTION WITH THE SEC. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
This Information Memorandum contains forward-looking statements that are, by their nature, subject to 
significant risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements 
relating to: 
 

 known and unknown risks; 
 uncertainties and other factors which may cause the Issuer’s actual results, performance or 

achievements to be materially different from any future results; and 
 performance or achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. 

 
Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Issuer’s present and 
future business strategies and the environment in which the Issuer will operate in the future. Among the 
important factors that could cause some or all of the assumptions not to occur or cause actual results, 
performance or achievements to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include, among 
other things: 
 

 the Issuer’s ability to successfully implement its strategy; 
 the Issuer’s ability to successfully manage growth; 
 changes in the various industries in the Philippines in which the Issuer’s subsidiaries operate; 
 the condition and changes in the Philippine, Asian or global economies; 
 future political instability in the Philippines; 
 changes in interest rates, inflation rates and the value of the Philippine Peso against the U.S. dollar 

and other currencies; 
 changes in Government regulations, including tax laws, or licensing in the Philippines; and 
 competition in the various industries in the Philippines in which the Issuer’s subsidiaries operate. 

 
Additional factors that could cause the Issuer’s actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially 
include, but are not limited to, those disclosed under “Risk Factors”. These forward-looking statements speak 
only as of the date of this Information Memorandum. The Issuer and the Joint Lead Arrangers expressly 
disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release, publicly or otherwise, any updates or revisions to any 
forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the Issuer’s expectations with regard 
thereto or any change in events, conditions, assumptions or circumstances on which any statement is based. 
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DEFINITIONS 
 

In this Information Memorandum, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the 
meanings set out below. 
 

Aggregate Consolidated 

Indebtedness 

the total of bank loans, current and noncurrent portions of long-term 

debt, net of pledged time deposits 

Articles of Incorporation the Articles of Incorporation of SMIC as amended to date 

BDO  BDO Unibank, Inc. 

BDO Capital BDO Capital & Investment Corporation, an investment house and a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of BDO 

BIR the Bureau of Internal Revenue of the Philippines 

Board or Board of Directors the Board of Directors of SMIC 

Business Day means a day, other than Saturday, Sunday and public holidays, on which 

facilities of the Philippine banking system are open and available for 

clearing and banks are generally open for the transaction of business in 

the cities of Pasay and Makati 

By-laws the By-laws of SMIC as amended to date 

China Bank China Banking Corporation 

China Bank Capital China Bank Capital Corporation, an investment house and a wholly-

owned subsidiary of China Bank 

Company, Issuer or SMIC SM Investments Corporation 

Debt to Equity Ratio the ratio of Aggregate Consolidated Indebtedness compared to the sum 
of such Aggregate Consolidated Indebtedness and total stockholders’ 

equity 

Directors the directors of SMIC 

Financial Statements SMIC’s audited consolidated financial statements and related notes as at 

31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019, and for each of the three years in the 
period ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019; its unaudited 

consolidated financial statements and related notes as at 31 March 2020, 

and for the three-month periods ended 31 March 2019 and 2020.   

GFA gross floor area 

Government the Government of the Philippines 

Group SMIC, its subsidiaries and associated companies 

GSA gross selling area 

Hedging Transactions “Hedging Transactions” means any transaction pursuant to which: 

(i) a bank deposit held in a currency other than Pesos; or (ii) securities or 

instruments denominated in a currency other than Pesos issued or 
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guaranteed by (a) the Republic of the Philippines (or any agency, 
instrumentality, ministry, department or other authority thereof) or (b) 

entities which are rated at least ‘A’ (long-term) by Standard & Poor’s 

Ratings Services (or any successor) or ‘A2’ (long-term foreign currency 
senior unsecured debt rating) by Moody’s Investors Service Inc. (or any 

successor), relating to, or acquired with, the proceeds of non-Peso 
denominated indebtedness for borrowed monies, that is pledged for the 

purposes of raising an equivalent amount of Peso denominated 
indebtedness for borrowed monies, such transaction being for the sole 

purpose of limiting the currency exchange risk of such non-Peso 

denominated indebtedness for borrowed monies in the ordinary course of 

business 

Homeworld Homeworld Shopping Corporation 

Joint Lead Arrangers BDO Capital and China Bank Capital 

Kultura Kultura Store, Inc. 

Majority Noteholders Noteholders representing not less than 51% of the outstanding Notes 

Malls SM City North EDSA, SM Mall of Asia, SM Megamall, SM Aura Premier, SM City 

Southmall, SM City BF Paranaque, SM City Fairview, SM City San Lazaro, SM 
City Marikina, SM City Manila, SM City Sta. Mesa, SM City Bicutan, SM City 

Sucat, SM Center Valenzuela, SM City Novaliches, SM Center Muntinlupa, SM 
Center Sangandaan, SM Center Las Piñas, SM Center Pasig, Cherry Foodarama 

Shaw Boulevard, SM Seaside City Cebu, SM City Cebu, SM City Dasmariñas, 
SM Cabanatuan, SM Lanang Premier, SM City Clark, SM City Pampanga, SM 

City Davao, SM City General Santos, SM City Bacoor, SM City Baguio, SM City 

Iloilo, SM City Consolacion, SM City Tarlac, SM City Taytay, SM City Marilao, SM 
City Masinag, SM City Cagayan de Oro, SM City Sta. Rosa, SM City Batangas, 

SM City Lucena, SM City Lipa, SM City Naga, SM City San Mateo, SM City 
Cauayan, SM City Bacolod, SM City Calamba, SM City Rosales, SM City Baliwag, 

SM City Rosario, SM City San Pablo, SM Center Molino, SM Megacenter 

Cabanatuan, SM City Olongapo, SM City San Fernando, SM Center Angono, SM 
City San Jose del Monte, SM City Trece Martires, SM Cherry Congressional, SM 

City East Ortigas, SM CDO Downtown Premier, S Maison, SM Cherry Antipolo, 
SM Puerto Princesa, SM Center Tuguegarao Downtown, SM Center Pulilan, SM 

Center Lemery, SM Center Imus, SM Urdaneta Central, SM City Telabastagan, 

SM City Legazpi, SM Center Ormoc, SM Olongapo Central and SM Center 

Dagupan 

Material Subsidiary SM Prime Holdings, Inc., SM Retail Inc. and shall include BDO Unibank, 
Inc. (prior to it becoming a Subsidiary and thereafter shall be tested as 

a Material Subsidiary pursuant to this condition), and any Subsidiary of 

the Issuer: 

(a) whose gross revenues or (in the case of a Subsidiary which itself 

has subsidiaries) consolidated gross revenues, as shown by its latest 
audited income statement are at least 10% of the consolidated gross 

revenues as shown by the latest published audited consolidated 

income statement of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries; or 

(b) whose net income or (in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has 

subsidiaries) consolidated net income before taxation and 
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extraordinary items, as shown by its latest audited income statement 
is at least 15% of the consolidated net income before taxation and 

extraordinary items, as shown by the latest published audited 

consolidated income statement of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries; or 

(c) whose gross assets or (in the case of a Subsidiary which itself 

has subsidiaries) gross consolidated assets, as shown by its latest 
audited balance sheet are at least 10% of the amount which equals 

the amount included in the consolidated gross assets of the Issuer 
and its Subsidiaries as shown by the latest published audited 

consolidated balance sheet of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries; 

Provided that, in relation to paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) above: 

(i) in the case of a corporation or other business entity becoming 

a Subsidiary after the end of the financial period to which the 
latest consolidated audited accounts of the Issuer relate, the 

reference to the then latest consolidated audited accounts of the 

Issuer for the purposes of the calculation above shall, until 
consolidated audited accounts of the Issuer for the financial 

period in which the relevant corporation or other business entity 
becomes a Subsidiary are published, be deemed to be a 

reference to the then latest consolidated audited accounts of the 
Issuer adjusted to consolidate the latest audited accounts 

(consolidated in the case of a Subsidiary which itself has 

Subsidiaries) of such Subsidiary in such accounts; 

(ii) if at any relevant time in relation to the Issuer or any 

Subsidiary which itself has Subsidiaries no consolidated accounts 
are prepared and audited, revenues, net income or gross assets 

of the Issuer and/or any such Subsidiary shall be determined on 

the basis of pro forma consolidated accounts prepared for this 
purpose by the Issuer and reviewed by the auditors for the 

purposes of preparing a certificate thereon to the Trustee; 

(iii) if at any relevant time in relation to any Subsidiary, no 

accounts are audited, its revenues, net income or gross assets 

(consolidated, if appropriate) shall be determined on the basis of 
pro forma accounts (consolidated, if appropriate) of the relevant 

Subsidiary prepared for this purpose by the Issuer and reviewed 
by the auditors for the purposes of preparing a certificate thereon 

to the Trustee; and 

(iv) if the accounts of any Subsidiary (not being a Subsidiary 

referred to in proviso (i) above) are not consolidated with those 

of the Issuer, then the determination of whether or not such 
Subsidiary is a Material Subsidiary shall be based on a pro forma 

consolidation of its accounts (consolidated, if appropriate) with 
the consolidated accounts (determined on the basis of the 

foregoing) of the Issuer; or 

(d) to which is transferred the whole or substantially the whole of 
the assets of a Subsidiary which immediately prior to such transfer 

was a Material Subsidiary, provided that the Material Subsidiary 
which so transfers its assets shall forthwith upon such transfer cease 

to be a Material Subsidiary and the Subsidiary to which the assets 
are so transferred shall cease to become a Material Subsidiary as at 
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the date on which the first published audited accounts (consolidated, 
if appropriate) of the Issuer prepared as of a date later than such 

transfer are issued unless such Subsidiary would continue to be a 

Material Subsidiary on the basis of such accounts by virtue of the 

provisions of (a), (b) or (c) above. 

Metro Manila the metropolitan area comprising the cities of Caloocan, Las Piñas, 
Makati, Malabon, Mandaluyong, Manila, Marikina, Muntinlupa, Navotas, 

Parañaque, Pasay, Pasig, Quezon, San Juan, Taguig and Valenzuela and 

the municipality of Pateros, which together comprise the “National 

Capital Region” and are commonly referred to as “Metropolitan Manila” 

Noteholder a person or entity whose name appears, at any time, as a holder of the 

Notes in the Register of Noteholders 

Notes Agreements refers to the Issue Management and Underwriting Agreement executed on 

16 July 2020 between the Issuer and the Joint Lead Arrangers, the Registry 
and Paying Agency Agreement executed on 16 July 2020 between the 

Issuer and Registrar and Paying Agent and the Trust Indenture Agreement 

executed on 16 July 2020 between the Issuer and the Trustee 

Notes refers to the notes in the aggregate principal amount of up to 

P5,600,000,000, to be issued by SMIC and which will be enrolled with PDEx 

Paying Agent Philippine Depository & Trust Corp., the party which shall receive the funds 
from the Issuer for payment of principal, interest and other amounts due 

on the Notes and remit the same to the Noteholders based on the records 

shown in the Register of Noteholders 

Payment Date each of the dates when payment of principal, interest and other amounts 

due on the Notes are due and payable to the Noteholders; provided that, 
in the event any Payment Date falls on a day that is not a Business Day, 

the Payment Date shall be automatically extended without adjustment to 

interest accrued to the immediately succeeding Business Day 

PDEx Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. 

PDTC the Philippine Depository & Trust Corporation, the central depository and 

clearing agency of the Philippines which provides the infrastructure for 
handling the lodgment of the scripless Notes and the electronic book-entry 

transfers of the lodged Notes in accordance with the PDTC Rules, and its 

successor-in-interest 

PDTC Rules the SEC-approved rules of the PDTC, including the PDTC Operating 

Procedures and PDTC Operating Manual, as may be amended, 

supplemented, or modified from time to time 

Person any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, association, joint venture, 

tribunal, limited liability company, trust, government or political subdivision 

or agency or instrumentality thereof, or any other entity or organization 

Pesos or PHP or P the lawful currency of the Philippines 

Philippines the Republic of the Philippines 
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PSE The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. 

Public Debt means any present or future indebtedness in the form of, or represented 
by bonds, notes, debentures, loan stock or other securities that are at the 

time, or are of the type customarily quoted, listed or ordinarily dealt in on 

any stock exchange, over the counter or other securities market 

Register of Noteholders the electronic record of the issuances, sales and transfers of the Notes to 

be maintained by the Registrar pursuant to and under the terms of the 

Registry and Paying Agency Agreement 

Registrar the Philippine Depository & Trust Corporation, being the registrar appointed 

by the Issuer to maintain the Register of Noteholders pursuant to the 

Registry and Paying Agency Agreement 

Retail Affiliates retail companies including ACE Hardware Philippines, Inc., Homeworld 
Shopping Corporation, International Toyworld, Inc., Nursery Care 

Corporation, Kultura Store, Inc., Star Appliance Center, Inc., CK_Fashion 

Collection Corp., Signature Lines, Inc., Supplies Station, Inc., Sports 
Central (Manila), Inc., H&B, Inc., Fitness Health & Beauty Holdings Corp. 

among others, which are now subsidiaries of SM Retail 

Retail Subsidiaries the Group’s retail and merchandising business, including The SM Store, SM 
Supermarkets, SM Hypermarkets, Savemore, WalterMart Supermarket, Alfamart 

and several specialty stores 

SEC the Securities and Exchange Commission of the Philippines 

SKU stock keeping unit 

SMDC SM Development Corporation 

SM Hotels SM Hotels and Conventions Corp. 

SM Prime or SMPH SM Prime Holdings, Inc. 

SM Retail SM Retail, Inc. and its subsidiaries including the absorbed companies 

which originally held the ownership in the Retail Affiliates 

Sports Central Sports Central (Manila), Inc. 

sqm square meters 

Subsidiary means at any particular time, any company or other business entity which 

is then directly or indirectly controlled, or more than 50%, of whose issued 
equity share capital (or equivalent) is then beneficially owned, by the Issuer 

and/or one or more of its Subsidiaries. For a company to be “controlled” 
by another means that the other (whether directly or indirectly and 

whether by the ownership of share capital, the possession of voting power, 

contract or otherwise) has the power to appoint and/or remove all or the 
majority of the members of the board of directors or other governing body 

of that company or otherwise controls or has a power to control the affairs 

and policies of that company and control shall be construed accordingly. 

Supplies Station Supplies Station, Inc. 
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Sy Family Felicidad T. Sy, and he r  children Teresita T. Sy, Elizabeth T. Sy, Henry T. 

Sy, Jr., Hans T. Sy, Herbert T. Sy and Harley T. Sy 

Tax Code the Philippine National Internal Revenue Code of 1997, as amended, and 

its implementing rules and regulations 

The SM Stores the retail department stores operated by the Group under the “SM” 

name which presently include SM Makati, SM Cubao, SM North EDSA, 

SM Sta. Mesa, SM Quiapo, SM Megamall, SM Cebu, SM Southmall, SM 
Bacoor, SM Fairview, SM Iloilo, SM Manila, SM Pampanga, SM Davao, 

SM Cagayan de Oro, SM Bicutan, SM Lucena, SM Baguio, SM Marilao, 
SM Dasmariñas, SM Batangas, SM Delgado, SM San Lazaro, SM Sucat, 

SM Sta. Rosa, SM Clark, SM Mall of Asia, SM Lipa, SM Bacolod, SM 

Taytay, SM Marikina, SM Baliwag, SM Naga, SM Rosales, SM Rosario, SM 
Tarlac, SM San Pablo, SM Calamba, SM Novaliches, SM Masinag, SM 

Olongapo, SM Consolacion, SM Lanang, SM General Santos City, SM San 
Fernando, SM Aura, SM BF Parañaque, SM Cauayan, SM Megacenter 

Cabanatuan, SM San Mateo, SM Cabanatuan, SM Seaside Cebu, SM San 
Jose Del Monte, SM Trece Martires, SM Molino, SM East Ortigas, SM 

Cagayan de Oro Downtown Premier, SM Puerto Princesa, SM Urdaneta, 

SM Telabastagan, SM Legazpi, SM Valenzuela, SM Olongapo Central and 

The SM Store at Estancia Mall 

Total Assets consolidated total assets of the Issuer and its subsidiaries 

Total Liabilities the aggregate of consolidated total current and noncurrent liabilities as 
derived from the balance sheet, excluding any Peso-denominated 

indebtedness for borrowed monies entered into with respect to any 

Hedging Transaction  

Total Equity the consolidated total equity of the Issuer as derived from the balance 

sheet 

Toy World International Toy World, Inc. 

Trustee or RCBC Trust & 

Investments Group 

Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation Trust and Investments Group, the 

entity appointed by the Issuer which shall act as the legal title holder of 
the Notes and shall monitor compliance and observance of all covenants 

of and performance by the Issuer of its obligations under the Notes and 

enforce all possible remedies pursuant to such mandate 

Watsons Watsons Personal Care Stores (Philippines), Inc. 

WalterMart Waltermart Supermarket, Incorporated 
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COMPANY OVERVIEW 

 

Overview  
 

The Issuer is the holding company of the Group, one of the largest conglomerates in the Philippines. The 

Issuer was incorporated in the Philippines on 15 January 1960. On December 27, 2019, the SEC approved 
the amendment of the Issuer’s Articles of Incorporation changing its corporate life to perpetual. Its 

registered office is at the 10th Floor, One E-Com Center, Harbor Drive, Mall of Asia Complex, CBP-1A, Pasay 
City, Metro Manila, Philippines.  

 

The Issuer is the largest publicly listed company in the Philippines that is invested in market leading 
businesses in retail, banking and property. It also invests in ventures that capture high growth opportunities 

in the emerging Philippine economy. 
 

The Group’s business activities and interests are divided into three principal business segments: 
 

 Its Retail arm, SM Retail Inc., operates department stores under The SM Store brand, and several 

food retail formats including Supermarkets, Hypermarkets and Savemore Stores. It also operates 

specialty stores focused on DIY, furniture, appliances and toys among others; 
 

 Its Property arm, SM Prime Holdings Inc., is engaged in building and operating shopping malls both 
in the Philippines and China. It is also engaged in Residential property development under its SM 

Development Corporation subsidiary, commercial property development, as well as various hotels 
and convention centers; and 
 

 Its Financial Services and Others segment is composed of the following: 

- The Banking Group comprised of BDO Unibank, Inc., the country’s largest bank by resources, 

and China Banking Corporation ; and 
- The Issuer’s equity investments in other sectors such as premium commercial buildings, leisure, 

logistics and mining. 
 

As at 31 March 2020, the Issuer had two principal consolidated subsidiaries namely SM Prime and SM Retail, 

and two principal equity-accounted associates, namely BDO and China Bank, each of whose shares (except 
for SM Retail) are listed on the PSE, in which the Issuer had effective interests of 49.7%, 77.3%, 45.3%, 

and 22.6%, respectively.    
 

For the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019, the Issuer’s audited consolidated revenues were 
P397,948.2 million, P449,788.2 million and P501,651.9 million, respectively, and its audited consolidated 

net income attributable to equity holders of the parent were P32,923.5 million, P37,078.3 million and 

P44,568.2 million, respectively. For the three months ended 31 March 2020, the Issuer’s unaudited 
consolidated revenues were P111,152.5 million and its unaudited consolidated net income attributable to 

equity holders of the parent was P9,007.3 million. 
 

As at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019, the Issuer’s audited consolidated total assets were P960,080.7 

million, P1,060,642.3 million and P1,144,164.6 million, respectively, and its audited total equity was 
P453,812.2 million, P492,290.0 million and P536,151.5 million, respectively. As at 31 March 2020, the 

Issuer’s unaudited consolidated total assets were P1,154,722.3 million and its unaudited total equity was 
P538,234.1 million. 

 

The principal source of consolidated revenue of the Issuer is from the Retail Group which contributed 
P300,043.1 million, P336,263.8 million, P370,700.6 million, P79,691.0 million and P81,787.1 million, 

respectively, or 75%, 75%, 74%, 73% and 74%, respectively, of its consolidated revenues for the years 
ended 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019 and the three months ended 31 March 2019 and 2020.  Property 

contributed P83,198.2 million, P96,537.2 million, P107,798.3 million, P24,383.6 million and P24,713.0 
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million or 21%, 21%, 21%, 22% and 22%, respectively, of the Issuer’s consolidated revenues for the years 
ended 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019 and the three months ended 31 March 2019 and 2020. The Property 

Group and Retail Group contributed P20,488.4 million, P22,928.8 million, P25,508.6 million, P6,244.5 
million and P4,885.8 million, respectively, of the Issuer’s consolidated net income attributable to equity 

holders of the parent for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019 and the three months ended 31 

March 2019 and 2020. 
 

SMIC was listed on the PSE on 22 March 2005, and as at 16 July 2020, had a market capitalization of 
P1,124 billion, based on a price of P933.00 per common share on such date. 

 
Businesses of the Issuer 

 

Retail 
 

SM Retail, Inc. is the holding company of the Group’s retail and merchandising operations where SMIC 
has a 77.3% effective stake. SM Retail organizes its operations into three categories: Non-Food, Food and 

Specialty: 

 
Non-Food Retail 

 
“The SM Store”, in operation since 1958, is SM Retail’s department store format, a leading player in the 

Philippines and an anchor tenant in SM malls nationwide. The SM Store serves a wide customer base and 
is committed to providing an extensive range of up to date fashion.  

 

As at end-2019, there were 65 department stores in operation. These stores are located in Mero Manila 
and key provincial cities. Of these, 60 stores are based inside SM malls, while five stores in Makati, Cubao, 

Quiapo, Harrison and Delgado are stand-alone stores. In 2019, two new stores were opened in Metro 
Manila and Olongapo. These new stores contributed an additional 8,575 sqm, bringing the GSA of The SM 

Store to 807,854 sqm. 

 
Specialty Stores 

 
In July 2016, several leading specialty retail stores were merged with SM Retail. These included ACE 

Hardware, SM Appliances, Homeworld, Our Home, Toy Kingdom, Watsons, Kultura, Baby Company, Sports 

Central, Pet Express and others. 
 

Specialty stores provide SM Retail with a range of leading brands in various fast-growing categories of 
discretionary spending. All formats operate as tenants in SM malls with several, such as ACE Hardware and 

Watsons, also growing outside malls. 
 

As at end-2019, there were 1,609 specialty stores in operation. 

 
Food Retail 

 
SM Retail has five Food Retail formats varying by size, namely SM Supermarket, SM Hypermarket, Savemore, 

WalterMart and Alfamart. These formats enable SM Retail to serve many different local markets nationwide. 

 
SM Supermarket is a large format anchor tenant in SM malls. It has been in operation since 1985. As at 

end-2019, there were 58 stores in operation nationwide totaling to 361,285 sqm of GSA with each store 
carrying 30,000 to 35,000 SKUs. 

 
SM Hypermarket is a large format food retailer store with both stand-alone and in-mall locations. It has 

been in operation since 2001 and provides a shopping experience that combines the features of a 
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supermarket with those of a department store. As at end-2019, there were 52 stores in operation totaling 
336,867 sqm of GSA with each store carrying over 35,000 SKUs. 

 
Savemore is a mid-sized format introduced in 1998. It is located in community malls or as a standalone 

store. Savemore is a neighborhood format, providing food and grocery items in residential locations with 

extended opening hours. Among SM Retail’s Food formats, Savemore has the largest footprint with 543,815 
sqm of GSA across 201 stores as at end-2019. These stores carry 20,000 to 25,000 SKUs. 

 
WalterMart is a mid-sized format that provides food and non-food shopping as an anchor tenant in 

WalterMart community malls, located primarily in Luzon. SM Retail acquired a controlling stake in 
WalterMart in 2013. As at end-2019, there were 60 Department Stores and Supermarkets in operation, with 

an aggregate GSA of 164,361 sqm. 

 
Alfamart is a small format minimart grocery store situated primarily in residential neighborhoods and 

offering a range of essential groceries with supermarket pricing. It is a joint venture with Indonesia-based 
minimart operator, PT Sumber Alfaria Trijaya Tbk, which started operations in the Philippines in 2014. As at 

end-2019, there were 754 stores in operation, mostly located outside Metro Manila, each carrying 2,500 to 

3,000 SKUs. 
 

Property 
 

SM Prime Holdings, Inc. is one of the largest integrated property developers in Southeast Asia that 
develops innovative and sustainable lifestyle cities, comprising malls, residences, offices, hotels and 

convention centers. SMIC’s effective ownership in SM Prime is 49.7%. 

 
Malls 

 
SM Prime’s mall business unit operates and maintains modern commercial shopping malls. Its main sources 

of revenue include rental income from leased shopping spaces, cinema tickets sales and other amusement 

income. As at end-2019, there were 74 malls in the Philippines with a total GFA of 8.5 million sqm and 
seven malls in China with a total GFA of 1.3 million sqm. 

 
Residential 

 

SM Prime’s residential development arm, SMDC, derives development revenues largely from the sales of 
condominium units. As at end-2019, the primary residential business unit had 49 residential projects in the 

market worth P482 billion. 
 

SMDC’s primary residential business unit typically launches 15,000 to 20,000 units annually, including high-
rise, mid-rise and single detached housing. Projects are located in Metro Manila and key provincial cities. 

 

SM Prime owns leisure and resort developments including properties in the vicinity of Tagaytay Highlands 
and Tagaytay Midlands golf clubs in Laguna, Tagaytay City and Batangas. It is also the developer of Pico 

de Loro Cove residential community within Hamilo Coast. 
 

Commercial 

 
SM Prime’s commercial properties business unit is engaged in the development and leasing of office 

buildings in prime locations in Metro Manila. As at end-2019, there were twelve office buildings with a total 
GFA of more than 695,000 sqm. These are located in the cities of Quezon, Pasay, Makati, Taguig and Las 

Piñas. Their assets outside Metro Manila are located in Clark, Pampanga, Taytay, Rizal, and Sta. Rosa, 
Laguna. 
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Hotels and Convention Centers 
 

SM Prime’s hotel and convention centers business unit manages eight hotels located in Tagaytay City, 
Batangas, Pampanga, Cebu City, Davao City, Pasay City, Iloilo City and Quezon City with more than 1,900 

rooms. It also operates four convention centers located in the Mall of Asia Complex in Pasay City, SM Lanang 

Premier in Davao City, SM Aura in Taguig City and SM City Bacolod in Bacolod City, and three trade halls 
located in SM Megamall, SM City Cebu and SM Seaside City Cebu. 

 
Financial Services 

 
BDO Unibank, Inc. is a full-service universal bank in the Philippines. It provides a complete array of 

industry-leading products and services including lending, deposit-taking, foreign exchange, brokering, trust 

and investments, credit cards, corporate cash management and remittances. Through its local subsidiaries, 
it offers leasing and financing, investment banking, private banking, rural banking, life insurance, insurance 

brokerage and stock brokerage services. 
 

BDO has one of the largest distribution networks with 1,450 operating branches and offices, and more than 

4,400 ATMs nationwide. 
 

BDO is the country’s largest bank in terms of consolidated resources, customer loans, deposits, assets 
under management and capital, as well as branch and ATM network. 

 
As at end-2019, BDO had a strong balance sheet with total resources of P3.2 trillion. SMIC’s effective 

ownership in BDO is 45.3%. 

 
China Banking Corporation was incorporated in 1920 as among the first privately owned banks in the 

Philippines. It has historical strength in catering to the Chinese-Filipino commercial sector, as well as local 
corporate and retail banking segments. China Bank offers a complete range of deposit, lending, 

international and investment products. Through its local subsidiaries, it offers investment banking, securities 

broking, insurance broking, and thrift bank services. China Bank services its customers through its 631 
bank branches with 1,002 ATMs nationwide. 

 
The Bank boasts a strong balance sheet, with total resources at P962 billion as at end-2019. SMIC’s effective 

ownership in China Bank is 22.6%. 

 
Equity Investments 

 
SMIC invests in ventures that capture high growth opportunities in the emerging Philippine economy, 

looking for market leaders that offer synergies, attractive returns and cash flows. 
 

Belle Corporation (“Belle”) is a developer of tourism and leisure destinations in the Philippines. Its 

principal asset is the City of Dreams Manila in PAGCOR Entertainment City by Manila Bay, which is leased 
on a long-term basis to Melco Resorts and Entertainment (Philippines) Corporation (“Melco”). In addition 

to lease income, Belle is accorded a share in revenues or earnings from City of Dreams Manila’s gaming 
operations through the operating agreement between its 78.7%-owned subsidiary, Premium Leisure 

Corporation (“PLC”), and Melco. 

 
South of Metro Manila, Belle owns significant real estate assets and develops premium residential resort 

projects around Tagaytay City. Among its exclusive destinations are the club and golf facilities and residential 
communities of Tagaytay Highlands and Tagaytay Midlands, as well as a further 800 hectares intended for 

future development. 
 

SMIC’s effective ownership in Belle is 26.4%. 
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Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development Corporation (“Atlas Mining”) is primarily engaged in 

metallic mineral exploration and mining. It operates the Toledo copper mine in the province of Cebu through 
its wholly-owned subsidiary Carmen Copper Corporation ("Carmen Copper"). The Toledo copper mine is 

one of the Philippines' largest exporters of copper concentrate and also markets by-products from copper 

concentrate processing such as magnetite and pyrite. 
 

Atlas Mining also has a stake in the nickel laterite mining project of Berong Nickel Corporation ("Berong 
Nickel") in Palawan. Berong Nickel has been engaged in the direct shipping of nickel laterite ore since 2007. 

 
SMIC’s effective ownership in Atlas Mining is 34.1%. 

 

Neo Office Ph consists of seven commercial buildings located within the largest and only PEZA certified 
IT park in Bonifacio Global City, Metro Manila. Its tenant base includes top tier local and multinational 

companies. Its gross lot area is 23,300 sqm and gross leasable area is 268,000 sqm. The occupancy rate 
as of December 31, 2019 was 99.10%. 

 

SMIC effectively owns 95.0% of the first 5 buildings and 34.0% of the latest 2 buildings in the portfolio. 
 

2GO Group, Inc. (“2GO”) is the country’s largest integrated supply chain operator whose businesses 
include shipping, freight forwarding, warehousing and express delivery services. 

 
SMIC’s effective ownership in 2GO is 30.5%. 

 

Philippine Urban Living Solutions, Inc. (“PULS”) is a dormitory developer and operator specializing in 
the development of rental housing communities under the MyTown brand. It provides affordable living 

spaces to young urban professionals within walking distance of the central business districts of Metro Manila. 
As at end-2019, there were 16 buildings in operation with 2 more buildings under development. 

 

SMIC’s effective ownership in PULS is 63.3%. 
 

CityMall Commercial Centers Inc. (“CityMalls”) is a mall developer and operator that specializes in 
developing community malls in second and third cities across the Philippines. SMIC acquired a 34.0% stake 

in CityMalls in 2014 with the balance owned by Double Dragon Properties Corporation. 

 
Goldilocks Bakeshop, Inc. (“Goldilocks”) is the largest bakeshop chain in the Philippines with over 700 

stores and selected operations overseas. Now on its 53rd year, Goldilocks continues to provide its customers 
with a wide array of baked goods and home cooked food. 

 
SMIC’s effective ownership in Goldilocks is 34.1%. 

 

GPay Network PH, Inc. (“GrabPay”) is a strategic partnership combining the strength of Grab’s user base 
and tech platform with SM’s nationwide retail and banking portfolio. The partnership will collaborate on: 

universal acceptance of the GrabPay wallet as a payment option, offer greater convenience by expanding 
wallet top-up channels through SM subsidiaries and affiliates, and enhance GrabPay user experience in SM 

Retail subsidiaries and affiliates. 

 
SMIC has a 34.5% participation in the joint venture. 

 
Ownership and Corporate Structure 

 
As at the date of this Information Memorandum, the Sy Family holds 52.5% of the outstanding issued and 

paid-up share capital of the Issuer. 
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The conglomerate map found elsewhere in this Information Memorandum sets forth the Issuer’s simplified 

corporate structure, organized by business segment, including its principal subsidiaries and associates and 
the direct ownership of each as at 31 March 2020.  

 

Insurance, Environment, Health and Safety 
 

The Group’s insurance arrangements are procured through BDO Insurance Brokers, Inc. (as broker). 
The Issuer believes that each of its subsidiaries is adequately insured, both in terms of the insured 

risks and the amount which is covered. The Group’s current commercial all risks insurance policy is 
underwritten by Prudential Guarantee & Assurance, Inc. 

 

The Group’s commercial all risk insurance policy covers any potential loss of property. Loss of income  
under the loss of rent coverage resulting from fire, water damage and acts of God including earthquake, 

typhoon and flood is provided for SM Prime as a mall operator. The SM Stores and Supervalue Inc., 
operating inside the Malls, have their own loss of revenue/business interruption insurance 

cover. However, Retail Subsidiaries operating inside the Malls do not have such insurance cover. 

 
In addition, the comprehensive general liability insurance coverage extends to third-party liabilities, 

including loss of life and its corresponding litigation expenses. 
 

The Issuer and each of its principal subsidiaries is in material compliance with all applicable 
environmental, health and safety regulations. 

 

Investments and Property 
 
The Issuer’s current assets, consisting of cash and cash equivalents, time deposits, financial assets, 
receivables, merchandise inventories, and other current assets, amounted to P241,725.5 million, 

P248,357.0 million and P249,447.1 million as at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 31 March 2020, 

respectively. 
 

As at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 31 March 2020, the Issuer’s investments in associate companies 
and joint ventures amounted to P259,795.1 million, P280,971.6 million and P282,259.1 million, 

respectively. These investments pertain to investments in shares of stock of associates and joint 

ventures such as, but not limited to, BDO, China Bank, Belle Corporation, Atlas Mining, Sodexo Benefits 
and Rewards Services Philippines, Inc., Fast Retailing Philippines, Inc., CityMalls, Premium Leisure Corp., 

OCLP Holdings, Inc., Feihua Real Estate (Chongqing) Company Ltd. and WalterMart Malls. 
 
The Issuer ’s investment properties amounted to P309,264.3 million, P338,075.3 million and P342,622.0 

million as at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 31 March 2020, respectively. These investments consist 
mainly of land, shopping malls and improvements. 

 

The carrying amount of the Issuer ’s consolidated property and equipment was P23,201.7 million, 

P24,720.9 million and P25,189.7 million as at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 31 March 2020, respectively. 

The Issuer ’s consolidated noncurrent time deposits amounted to P2,392.6 million and P2,413.0 million 

and P2,413.0 million as at 31 December 2018, 2019 and 31 March 2020, respectively. The Issuer 

leases from SM Prime the land on which its offices in SM Mall of Asia Complex are located. The lease 

covers four parcels of land with a total area of 11,703 sqm.  
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Intellectual Property 
 

The Issuer is the registered owner of the trademark “SM” which has been registered with the 
Intellectual Property Office since the year 1977. To date, the SM trademark is actively used to identify 

the Issuer’s core businesses such as retail, real estate development and management, hotels, leisure 

and entertainment, among others. 
  

The Issuer has allowed use of the “SM” trademark by some of its subsidiary and affiliate companies. 
The trademark “SM” has been incorporated in the in-house brands and service marks belonging to the 

SM Group. To date, the Issuer has 30 trademarks registered under its own name, including its legacy 
trademarks, “SHOEMART”, “SM SHOEMART” and the “SM STORE”. 

 
Competition 
 

The Group’s subsidiaries compete with other local companies in the industry segments in which they operate. 
The Group believes that each of its subsidiaries has strong competitive advantages over the other industry 

players. In addition, the strong synergy created by the complementary nature of the business of each of 

its subsidiaries has further reinforced each subsidiary’s preparedness to face stiff competition in the coming 
years. 

 
Employees 

 
As of March 31, 2020, the Issuer had 469 regular employees. Its employees are not subject to any Collective 

Bargaining Agreements. 
 

Capital Expenditure 
 
The Group has made, and expects to continue to make, substantial capital expenditures in connection 
with the construction of new Malls, opening of new stores, development of SM Mall of Asia Complex, 

and its residential developments. 

 
Legal Proceedings 

 
Neither SMIC nor any of its subsidiaries is a party to nor its properties subject of, any material pending 

legal proceeding that could be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Offer and on the results 

of the financials and the operations of SMIC. 
 

Strategy 
 

The Issuer’s strategy is focused on growing its retail, property and financial services businesses, and 

maintaining or attaining market leadership in each of their respective sectors. The Issuer will continue to 
target the mass market in the Philippines by offering essential goods and services such as food, clothing, 

housing and financial services.  
 

The Issuer is responsible for setting Group policy and strategy. The Issuer establishes the financial and 
operating policies for the Group and supervises and monitors the performance of its subsidiaries and 

associates. 

 
Key elements of the Issuer’s strategy are to: 

 

 maintain its leading market share in the shopping mall sector by continuing to expand the Group’s 
mall and retail activities into major centers of population in Metro Manila and particularly in the 

provinces where there are opportunities for growth, and capture strategic opportunities overseas 
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particularly China; 
 

 continue to capture a significant share of retail spending in the Philippines by providing the most 

attractive retail and leisure facilities to Philippine mass market consumers;  
 

 continue to grow its financial services businesses, through acquisitions by BDO, and develop further 

synergies between financial services and its shopping malls and the Retail Subsidiaries by providing 

its suppliers and retail customers their required banking facilities and services;  
 

 diversify and expand the businesses of the Group (through acquisition) in the property development, 

tourism and leisure sectors as the Philippines becomes a more attractive tourist destination, by 
leveraging the Group’s strategically located land bank; 

 

 integrate all land banking functions into a centralized department while retaining the highly 
successful culture that allowed the Group to reach its strong current land bank position, and 

continue acquiring land bank that is suitable for mid-to-large scale mixed-use master planned 

projects in fast growing areas of the Philippines; 

 
 supervise a range of related businesses and investments, providing support, expertise and funding 

to its developing businesses and encouraging further growth in its more established businesses; 

and 
 

 promote the independence of its various businesses in terms of executing set strategies and 

encouraging financial independence in terms of external funding. 
 

Strengths 

 
The Issuer believes that the key strengths of the Group are as follows: 

 

 a well-established platform providing quality services from retail to real estate development to 
financial services to cater for the domestic consumption growth in the Philippines; 

 

 its 62 years of retail experience, which has created significant goodwill among its customers and 

suppliers, a well-known brand and image and a reputation for providing value for customers;  
 

 its leading market share positions in providing one-stop experience through shopping malls, 

department stores and supermarkets and the largest bank in the Philippines in terms of assets; 
 

 fast growing residential development expertise that is sitting at the sweet spot of the local real 

estate markets, well-supported by SM-branded shopping malls nearby;  
 

 prudent financial management and a strong balance sheet with stable recurring cash flows by 

focusing on diverse businesses which are relatively less cyclical; 

 

 its experienced management team, which has consistently focused on related businesses that 
promote synergies; and 

 

 its overall corporate reputation in the Philippines and abroad, which has brought the Group 
numerous awards for corporate excellence, corporate governance and financial management.  
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Future Plans and Prospects 
 

The Issuer as well as its major business segments, Property and Retail, have appropriated certain portions 
of retained earnings to cover expansion plans which include corporate projects, expansions, new 

development projects, land acquisitions and/or investment in new business ventures. 

 
These projects would be funded through internally generated sources and other capital raising initiatives 

such as bond issuances and loan availments. 
 
Risk Factors 
 
Before making an investment decision, investors should carefully consider the risks associated with an 
investment in the Notes. These risks include: 

 
Risks Relating to the Company 
 

 The Issuer is primarily a holding company and payments under the Notes are structurally 

subordinated to all liabilities of the Issuer’s subsidiaries and associates. 

 Any restriction or prohibition on the Issuer’s subsidiaries’ and associates’ ability to distribute 

dividends would have a negative effect on its financial condition and results of operations. 

 The Issuer is controlled by the Sy Family, whose interests may not be the same as those of other 

shareholders. 

 The Issuer’s businesses have significant levels of related party transactions and are interdependent, 
and any material adverse change in one member of the Group could adversely affect the results of 

operations of other members of the Group, including SMIC. 

 The Issuer has conducted and may continue to conduct acquisitions, the impact of which could be 

less favorable for its activities and results than anticipated, or which could affect its financial 

situation. 

 Infringement of the SM intellectual property rights would have a material adverse effect on the 

Group’s business. 

 The Group’s debt leverage will be increased following the issue of the Notes. 
 

Risks Relating to the Group’s Malls and Property Businesses 
 

 The Philippine property market is cyclical and can be affected by domestic and global economic 

conditions.  

 SM Prime is exposed to general risks associated with the ownership and management of real estate.  

 SM Prime will continue to compete with other mall operators and commercial and residential 

developers. 

 SM Prime is exposed to risks associated with the operation of its malls and commercial businesses. 

 SM Prime faces reputational risk and operational risks relating to its residential and commercial 

businesses. 

 SM Prime generates a portion of its rental revenues from affiliated companies. 

 SM Prime faces risks relating to the management of its land bank. 

 SM Prime operates in a highly regulated environment and it is affected by the development and 

application of regulations in the Philippines. 
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 Zoning restrictions and local opposition may delay or preclude construction. 

 Infringement of intellectual property rights could have a material adverse effect on SM Prime’s 

business. 

 Land and/or real property may be subject to compulsory acquisition. 

 SM Prime faces risks inherent in joint venture structures and/or funds. 

 Construction defects and other building-related claims may be asserted against SM Prime, and SM 

Prime may be subject to liability for such claims. 

 SM Prime may suffer material losses in excess of insurance proceeds. 

 SM Prime faces property development risk. 

 SM Prime will continue to face certain risks related to the cancellation of sales involving its 

residential projects. 

 The loss of certain tax exemptions and incentives for residential home sales may increase the price 

of SM Prime’s residential units and may lead to a reduction in sales. 

 
Risks Relating to the Retail Operations 
 

 The success of SM Retail is premised upon its ability to satisfy consumer preferences and spending 

trends in the markets it serves as well as its ability to retain its existing supplier base and secure 

new ones. 

 Non-renewal of leases or substantial increases in rent for the Issuer’s retail stores may have a 

material adverse effect on the Issuer. 

 The future growth of SM Retail will be largely driven by the effectiveness and success of its 

expansion strategy. 

 SM Retail may be subject to increasing competitive pressures. 

 There can be no assurance that SM Retail is fully insured against unexpected losses. 

 SM Retail’s business activities are subject to seasonality and timing. 

 The food retailing industry is highly competitive and characterized by narrow profit margins. 

 As a result of selling food products, the Group faces the risk of exposure to product liability claims 

and adverse publicity. 
 

Risks Relating to the Banks 
 

 The Philippine banking industry is highly competitive and increasing competition may result in 

declining margins in the banks’ principal businesses. 

 Philippine banks are generally exposed to higher credit risks and greater market volatility than 

banks in more developed countries. 

 Philippine banks’ ability to assess, monitor and manage risks inherent in its business differs from 

the standards of its counterparts in more developed countries. 

 Philippine banks face regulatory pressure to comply with new capital, liquidity and leverage 

standards as well as meet prudential limits for real estate exposures. 

 
Risks Relating to the Philippines 
 

 Substantially all of the Group’s operations and assets are based in the Philippines; a slowdown in 
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economic growth in the Philippines could have a material adverse effect on its businesses. 

 Any political instability in the future may have a negative effect on the Group’s financial results. 

 SM Group’s businesses may be disrupted by terrorist acts, crime, natural disasters and outbreaks 

of infectious diseases or fears of such occurrences in Metro Manila or other parts of the Philippines. 

 Volatility in the value of the Peso against the U.S. dollar and other currencies could adversely affect 

the Group’s businesses.  

 Corporate governance and disclosure standards in the Philippines may differ from those in more 
developed countries.  

 
Risks Relating to the Notes 
 

 The priority of debt evidenced by a public instrument. 

 An active trading market for the Notes may not develop. 

 The Issuer may be unable to redeem the Notes.  

 
Recent Developments 

 
Amidst the COVID-19 pandemic and consumers’ notable preference of transacting online during the 

quarantine, the Group has accelerated the roll out of digital solutions.  

 
Intent on responding to changes in consumer purchasing habits, SM Retail has launched a combination of 

click, call, collect and/or deliver services to ensure that customers are able to obtain the products they want 
in the most convenient way possible. SM Retail continues to adopt an omnichannel approach, ensuring that 

its portfolio of leading retail brands can be accessed online and offline. 
 

At SM Prime, the aim is to bring foot traffic in its malls back to pre-ECQ levels as soon as possible. To 

achieve this, the Mall Group’s focus is to institutionalize the system of hygiene and operating protocols 
being implemented not only to ensure a safe workplace and mall destination but to give all its stakeholders 

– employees, tenant partners, suppliers and customers – a high level of comfort while at its malls. The Mall 
Group is also assisting its tenant partners in preparing for an increase in online transactions by offering 

logistics solutions tailored to their customer preferences. For its residential component, SM Prime has an 

adequate supply of existing inventory to cushion the effect of construction delays in its projects. For the 
Commercial Property Group, with 90% of its tenants being business process outsourcing (BPO) offices, 

businesses located in its properties were allowed to operate by the Philippine Inter-Agency Task Force. At 
its hotels, employees and staff are being oriented and trained on new operating protocols to ensure their 

well-being and that of its guests.  

 
At its banks, both BDO and China Bank are moving forward with their respective digital initiatives, scaling 

up capabilities and enhancing transaction options. Concurrently, both banks are addressing possible online 
security issues to ensure the protection of our customers’ data and transactions. 
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

The following tables set forth the summary consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at and for 

the periods indicated. The selected financial information presented below as at 31 December 2017, 2018, 

2019 and 31 March 2020, for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and for the three-

month periods ended 31 March 2019 and 2020 have been derived from the Issuer’s consolidated financial 

statements. The information set out below should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its 

entirety by reference to, the relevant consolidated financial statements of the Issuer, including the notes 

thereto, included elsewhere in this Information Memorandum.  

 

Consolidated Balance Sheets  

 
As at 31 December 

As at  

31 March 

 

(in P thousands) 

2017 

Audited 

2018 

Audited 

2019 

Audited 

2020 

Unaudited 

ASSETS  

Current Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 74,318,190 79,313,215 76,213,774 70,828,712 

Time deposits  13,237,886 25,842,829 30,488 30,739 

Financial assets 1,347,926 639,316 659,077 567,102 

Receivables and contract assets 32,352,574 33,755,192 53,617,200 55,152,663 

Merchandise inventories – at cost 27,778,741 31,836,333 33,157,622 34,402,700 

Other current assets 63,478,186 70,338,577 84,678,819 88,465,218 

 Total Current Assets 212,513,503 241,725,462 248,356,980 249,447,134 

Noncurrent Assets     

Financial assets – net of current 
portion 

25,590,162 26,702,764 24,229,560 18,038,688 

Investments in associate 
companies and joint ventures 

242,114,427 259,795,077 280,971,638 282,259,117 

Time deposits – net of current 
portion 

26,688,721 2,392,622 2,412,972 2,412,972 

Property and equipment 21,339,407 23,201,667 24,720,873 25,189,679 

Investment properties 289,018,265 309,264,274 338,075,303 342,622,033 

Right-of-use assets - - 37,664,176 36,900,513 

Land and development – net of 
current portion 

40,180,145 53,928,447 74,946,694 74,980,002 

Intangibles 25,591,232 25,470,696 25,289,609 25,227,078 

Deferred tax assets  2,489,814 2,726,155 3,121,117 3,661,613 

Other noncurrent assets 74,555,033 115,435,107 84,375,645 93,983,511 

 Total Noncurrent Assets 747,567,206 818,916,809 895,807,587 905,275,206 

Total Assets 960,080,709 1,060,642,271 1,144,164,567 1,154,722,340 
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As at 31 December 
As at 

31 March 

 
(in P thousands) 

2017 

Audited 

2018 

Audited 

2019 

Audited 

2020 

Unaudited 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  

Current Liabilities     

Bank loans 24,172,965 18,885,465 18,710,465 35,731,174 

Accounts payable and other current 
liabilities 

106,561,455 124,777,719 141,451,764 124,957,682 

Income tax payable 1,883,871 3,641,379 3,273,872 3,936,601 

Current portion of long-term debt 40,297,133 61,480,887 29,077,719 50,151,469 

Dividends payable 2,939,590 3,906,476 4,204,962 3,957,888 

 Total Current Liabilities 175,855,014 212,691,926 196,718,782 218,734,814 

Noncurrent Liabilities     

Long-term debt – net of current portion 292,555,868 305,555,356 327,358,208 310,574,467 

Lease liabilities – net of current portion - - 27,600,392 27,397,531 

Deferred tax liabilities  8,029,579 8,810,862 9,604,043 10,534,929 

Tenants’ deposits and others 29,828,024 41,294,115 46,731,664 49,246,457 

 Total Noncurrent Liabilities 330,413,471 355,660,333 411,294,307 397,753,384 

Total Liabilities 506,268,485 568,352,259 608,013,089 616,488,198 

Equity Attributable to Owners of the 
Parent 

    

Capital stock 12,045,829 12,045,829 12,045,829 12,045,829 

Additional paid-in capital 76,439,288 75,815,520 75,815,923 75,815,923 

Equity adjustments from common control 
transactions 

(5,424,455) (5,424,455) (5,424,455) (5,424,455) 

Cost of Parent common shares held by 

subsidiaries 

(25,386) (25,386) (25,386) (25,386) 

Cumulative translation adjustment  1,402,623 2,014,573 1,308,228 1,190,386 

Net fair value changes on cash flow 
hedges 

 62,444 (1,406,026) (1,291,152) 

Remeasurement loss on defined benefit 
asset/obligation 

(701,255) (2,063,358) (8,633,269) (8,633,269) 

Net unrealized gain on financial assets 15,324,123 11,748,980 14,399,640 3,772,845 

Retained earnings:     

 Appropriated 37,000,000 37,000,000 37,000,000 37,000,000 

 Unappropriated 192,071,968 222,213,054 257,546,591 266,553,868 

Total Equity Attributable to Owners of the 
Parent 

328,132,735 353,387,201 382,627,075 381,004,589 

Non-controlling Interests 125,679,489 138,902,811 153,524,403 157,229,553 

Total Equity 453,812,224 492,290,012 536,151,478 538,234,142 

Total Liabilities and Equity 960,080,709 1,060,642,271 1,144,164,567 1,154,722,340 
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Consolidated Statements of Income 

 For the years ended 31 December 
For the three months 

ended 31 March 

 

(in P thousands) 
2017 

Audited 

2018 

Audited 

2019 

Audited 

2019 

Unaudited 

2020 

Unaudited 

Revenue      

Sales:      

 Merchandise 288,532,163 323,740,170 354,088,848 76,059,266 78,289,599 

 Real estate  29,567,021 35,967,663 44,499,529 9,109,799 11,293,965 

Rent 42,067,892 47,555,061 51,573,157 12,471,507 11,076,148 

Equity in net earnings of associate 
companies and joint ventures 

16,640,597 19,164,345 26,038,426 5,535,151 5,298,309 

Cinema ticket sales, amusement and 
others 

6,578,362 7,286,654 7,739,761 1,692,754 955,640 

Management and service fees 5,820,571 6,379,831 7,348,479 1,599,977 1,474,881 

Gain on sale of financial assets - net 110,234 1,337 27,812 - - 

Dividend income 495,582 421,914 480,513 103,628 31,261 

Others 8,135,798 9,271,192 9,855,370 2,475,563 2,732,690 

 397,948,220 449,788,167 501,651,895 109,047,645 111,152,493 

Costs and Expenses      

Cost of sales:      

 Merchandise 214,494,703 238,902,107 262,434,661 55,790,186 59,434,998 

 Real estate  15,260,313 17,852,270 20,806,612 4,357,150 4,964,036 

Selling, general and administrative 
expenses 

92,342,430 106,419,699 113,257,931 25,619,860 26,550,681 

 322,097,446 363,174,076 396,499,204 85,767,196 90,949,715 

Other Income (Charges)      

Interest expense (15,580,819) (16,574,388) (19,194,311) (4,294,118) (4,192,716) 

Interest income 4,003,501 3,754,141 3,881,156 998,947 764,626 

Gain (loss) on disposal of investments 
and properties - net 

22,702 64,034 193,878 8,279 (19,326) 

Gain on fair value changes on 
derivatives – net 

296,334 454,941 6,379 55,278 472 

Impairment loss on investment - - (3,987,000) - - 

Foreign exchange gain (loss) – net 698,742 (182,483) 561,705 260,995 9,229 

 (10,559,540) (12,483,755) (18,538,193) (2,970,619) (3,437,715) 

Income Before Income Tax 65,291,234 74,130,336 86,614,498 20,309,830 16,765,063 

Provision for (benefit from) income 
tax 

     

 Current 13,616,519 15,115,326 16,218,229 3,710,093 2,727,400 

 Deferred 156,198 460,442 951,955 223,689 260,770 

 13,772,717 15,575,768 17,170,184 3,933,782 2,988,170 

Net Income 51,518,517 58,554,568 69,444,314 16,376,048 13,776,893 

Attributable to:      

 Owners of the Parent 32,923,455 37,078,325 44,568,244 10,690,220 9,007,277 

 Non-controlling interests 18,595,062 21,476,243 24,876,070 5,685,828 4,769,616 

 51,518,517 58,554,568 69,444,314 16,376,048 13,776,893 

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per 
Common Share Attributable to 
Owners of the Parent 

P27.33 P30.78 P37.00 P8.87 P7.48 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

 For the years ended 31 December 
For the three months 

ended 31 March 

 

(in P thousands) 
2017 

Audited 

2018 

Audited 

2019 

Audited 

2019 

Unaudited 

2020 

Unaudited 

NET INCOME 51,518,517 58,554,568 69,444,314 16,376,048 13,776,893 

      

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

Items that will be reclassified to  

 profit or loss in subsequent periods 

Net unrealized gain on financial 
assets 

4,973,426 - - - - 

Share in unrealized gain (loss) on 
financial assets of associates 

354,028 (3,502,992) 4,505,589 2,206,223 (2,860,183) 

Cumulative translation adjustment 1,243,928 326,536 (1,011,736) 309,992 (231,447) 

Net fair value changes on cash flow 
hedges 

(1,266,333) 2,589 (1,712,763) (482,068) (184,091) 

Income tax relating to items to be 
reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods 

(147,803) - - - - 

 5,157,246 (3,173,867) 1,781,090 2,034,147 (3,275,721) 

      

Items not to be reclassified to  

 profit or loss in subsequent periods 

Remeasurement loss on defined 
benefit obligation 

(416,283) (2,080,805) (8,209,190) - - 

Net unrealized gain (loss) on 
financial assets 

- (520,230) (176,975) 2,083,652 (8,991,818) 

Income tax relating to items not to 
be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods 

124,884 (84,499) 553,736 301,361 (129,618) 

 (291,399) (2,685,534) (7,832,429) 2,385,013 (9,121,436) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

56,384,364 52,695,167 63,392,975 20,795,208 1,379,736 

Attributable to:      

 Owners of the Parent 36,916,903 31,112,015 40,223,919 14,766,701 (1,622,486) 

 Non-controlling interests 19,467,461 21,583,152 23,169,056 6,028,507 3,002,222 

 56,384,364 52,695,167 63,392,975 20,795,208 1,379,736 
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SUMMARY OF THE OFFERING 

 

The following summary is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with, the more 
detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Information Memorandum. 
 

Issuer SM Investments Corporation  

  

Issue  PHP-denominated, SEC registration-exempt, fixed rate corporate 

notes constituting the direct, unconditional, unsecured and 
unsubordinated obligations of SM Investments Corporation 

  

Issue Size P5,600,000,000 

  

Manner of Offer Offering will be limited to resident juridical persons or entities 

who, at the point of offer, purchase and on the Issue Date, are 
classified or considered as Qualified Buyers under Section 10.1.3 

and/or 10.1.11.2 of the 2015 IRR of the SRC, and when 
applicable, duly qualified by Qualified Investor Registrar. No 
offering shall be made to individuals or non-resident investors 

  

Use of Proceeds The net proceeds of the Issue shall be used to refinance existing 
indebtedness, and for other general corporate purposes (see 
“Use of Proceeds”) 

  

Issue Price  100% of the face value of the Notes 

  

Form and Denomination of the 

Notes 

The Notes shall be issued in scripless form in minimum 

denominations of P50,000,000.00, and in multiples of 

P50,000,000.00 thereafter, and traded in minimum 
denominations of P10,000,000.00, and multiples of 
P5,000,000.00 thereafter in the secondary market 

  

Issue Date 22 July 2020 

  

Maturity Date One (1) year and six (6) months from the Issue Date 

  

Interest Rate
 

2.875% per annum 
 

  

Interest Computation & 
Payment  

Interest on the Notes shall be calculated on a 30/360 day count 
basis commencing on 22 January 2021, and shall thereafter be 

paid semi-annually in arrears on 22 January and 22 July of each 
year.  

  

Final Redemption  The Notes shall be redeemed at 100% of face value on the 
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Maturity Date. 

  

Redemption for Taxation 
Reasons 

If payments under the Fixed-Rate Notes become subject to 

additional or increased taxes other than the taxes and rates of 

such taxes prevailing on the Issue Date as a result of certain 
changes in law, rule or regulation, or in the interpretation thereof, 

and such additional or increased rate of such tax cannot be 
avoided by use of reasonable measures available to the Issuer, 

the Issuer may redeem the Fixed-Rate Notes in whole, but not 

in part, (having given not more than sixty (60) nor less than 
fifteen (15) days prior written notice to the Trustee) at par or 
100% face value plus accrued interest. 

  

Purchase and Cancellation The Issuer may at any time purchase any of the Fixed-Rate 

Notes, in accordance with PDEx Rules, in the open market or by 

tender or by contract at any price, without any obligation to 
purchase (and the Noteholders shall not be obliged to sell) the 

Fixed-Rate Notes pro-rata from all Noteholders. Any Fixed-Rate 
Notes so purchased shall be redeemed and cancelled and may 

not be re-issued. Upon enrolment of the Fixed-Rate Notes on 

Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (“PDEx”), the Issuer shall 
disclose any such transactions in accordance with the applicable 
PDEx disclosure rules. 

  

Rating The Notes shall not be rated. 

  

Registration The Notes shall be considered as an SEC-registration exempt 
transaction under Section 10.1(l) of the SRC and Section 10.1.3 

of the 2015 IRR of the SRC as the offering is limited to juridical 

persons or entities who, at the point of offer or sale and on Issue 
Date, are Qualified Buyers who are juridical persons. As an 

exempt transaction, the Notes shall not be registered with the 
SEC, and no notice of exemption shall be filed with the SEC in 

respect of such transaction. 

  

Taxation Interest on the Notes is generally subject to Final Withholding 

Tax at a rate of 20%. 

 
Noteholders who are exempt from or not subject to final 

withholding tax, may avail of such exemption by submitting the 
necessary documents. Said Noteholder shall submit the following 

requirements, in form and substance prescribed by the Issuer, to 

the Registrar or to the Joint Lead Arrangers (together with their 
completed Application to Purchase) who shall then forward the 

same to the Registrar: (i) a copy of the current and valid tax 
exemption certificate, ruling or opinion (dated no earlier than 

required to be considered valid under applicable tax regulations 
at the relevant time) issued by the BIR addressed to the 

Applicant confirming the exemption, as certified by the Corporate 

Secretary of the Applicant as being a true copy of the original on 
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file with the Applicant, which notarized certification indicates 
that: (i.a) the exemption certificate is a true copy of the original; 

(i.b) the original is in the possession of the Corporate Secretary 
as the duly authorized custodian of the same; and (i.c) the 

Corporate Secretary has personal knowledge based on his official 

functions of any amendment, revocation, expiration, change or 
any circumstance affecting said certification’s validity; (ii) a duly 

notarized undertaking, in prescribed form, executed by (ii.a) the 
Corporate Secretary or any authorized representative, who has 

personal knowledge of the exemption based on his official 
functions, if the Applicant purchases the Notes for its account, or 

(ii.b) the Trust Officer, if the Applicant is a universal bank 

authorized under Philippine law to perform trust and fiduciary 
functions and purchase the Notes pursuant to its management 

of tax-exempt entities (i.e. Employee Retirement Fund, etc.), 
declaring and warranting that the same Noteholder named in the 

tax exemption certificate described in (i) above, is specifically 

exempt from the relevant tax, undertaking to immediately notify 
the Issuer and the Registrar and Paying Agent of any suspension 

or revocation of the tax exemption certificates, and agreeing to 
indemnify and hold the Issuer and Registrar and Paying Agent 

free and harmless against any claims, actions, suits, and liabilities 
arising from the non-withholding of the required tax; and (iii) 

such other documentary requirements as may be reasonably 

required under the applicable regulations of the BIR; provided 
further that, all sums payable by the Issuer to tax-exempt entities 

shall be paid in full without deductions for Taxes, duties, 
assessments, or government charges, subject to the submission 

by the Noteholder claiming the benefit of any exemption of 

reasonable evidence of such exemption to the Registrar and 
Paying Agent. 

 
Transfers taking place in the Register of Noteholders after the 

Notes are enrolled in PDEx may be allowed between taxable and 

tax-exempt entities without restriction and observing the tax 
exemption of tax-exempt entities, if and/or when allowed under, 

and are in accordance with the relevant rules, conventions and 
guidelines of PDEx and PDTC. A selling or purchasing Noteholder 

claiming tax-exempt status is required to submit to the Registrar 
the tax status of the transferor or transferee, as appropriate, 

together with the supporting documents specified under the 

Registry and Paying Agency Agreement upon submission of 
Account Opening Documents to the Registrar. 

 
Income arising from gains on the sale or disposition of the Notes 

will form part of the relevant Noteholders’ income and may be 

subject to tax. Noteholders should consult their own tax advisers 
on the ownership and disposition of the Notes, including the 

applicability of any state, local or foreign tax laws. 
 

The BIR’s tax treatment of the Fixed-Rate Notes may vary from 
the tax treatment described herein. Any adverse tax 

consequences upon the Noteholder arising from any variance in 
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tax treatment shall be for such Noteholder’s sole risk and 
account. 

  

Enrolment The Issuer intends to enrol the Fixed-Rate Notes in the PDEx and 

render them admitted for trading on the PDEx Trading System on 
the Issue Date. 

  

Trustee Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation Trust and Investments 
Group

 

  

Registrar & Paying Agent Philippine Depository & Trust Corp. 

  

Legal Counsel to the Joint Lead 

Arrangers 

Martinez Vergara Gonzalez & Serrano 
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USE OF PROCEEDS  
 

Following the offer and sale of the Fixed-Rate Notes in the amount of up to ₱5.6 billion, SMIC expects that 
the net proceeds of the offer shall be used (1) to refinance existing indebtedness, and (2) for other general 

corporate purposes. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE FIXED RATE NOTES 
 

The Fixed-Rate Notes covered by this Information Memorandum and described below were authorized by 

a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company dated 24 June 2020. The Fixed-Rate Notes will be 
issued with a principal amount of up to ₱5,600,000,000 (the “Fixed-Rate Notes” or the “Offer”) under this 

Information Memorandum. The Notes shall be considered as an SEC-registration exempt transaction under 
Section 10.1(l) of the SRC and Section 10.1.3 of the 2015 SRC IRR as the offering is limited to juridical 

entities or institutions that, at the point of offer or purchase, whether on the primary or secondary markets, 

are classified or considered as Qualified Buyers, who are juridical persons, duly determined as such by an 
SEC-registered Qualified Investor Registrar in applicable cases. No offering shall be made to individuals or 

non-resident investors. As an exempt transaction, the Fixed-Rate Notes shall not be registered with the 
SEC, and no notice of exemption shall be filed with the SEC in respect of such transaction. The issuance of 

the Fixed-Rate Notes will be covered by disclosures to be filed by the Company describing the transaction, 
according to the policies of the SEC toward exempt transactions such as the Offer. 

 

The Fixed-Rate Notes are constituted by a Trust Indenture Agreement executed on 16 July 2020 (the “Trust 
Agreement”) between the Issuer and RCBC Trust & Investments Group (the “Trustee”, which term shall, 

wherever the context permits, include all other persons or companies for the time being acting as trustee 
or trustees under the Trust Agreement). The description of the terms and conditions of the Fixed-Rate 

Notes set out below includes summaries of, and is subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Agreement 

and the Registry and Paying Agency Agreement executed on 16 July 2020 (the “Registry and Paying Agency 
Agreement”) among the Issuer, the Registrar, and the Paying Agent.  

 
PDTC has no interest in or relation to SMIC which may conflict with its roles as Registrar and as Paying 

Agent for the Offer. RCBC Trust & Investments Group has no interest in or relation to SMIC which may 
conflict with its role as Trustee for the Offer.  

 

Copies of the Trust Agreement and the Registry and Paying Agency Agreement are available for inspection 
during normal business hours at the specified offices of the Trustee and the Registrar. The holders of the 

Fixed-Rate Notes (the “Noteholders”) are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have 
notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Agreement and are deemed to have notice of those provisions of 

the Registry and Paying Agency Agreement applicable to them.  

 
1. Eligible Noteholders  

 
Eligible Noteholders will be limited to resident juridical entities or institutions (excluding natural 

persons) that, at the point of offer or purchase, are Qualified Buyers, whether on the primary or 

secondary markets. 
 

For reference, the Qualified Buyers, as defined in SRC IRR Rule 10.1.3, are as follows: 
 

(a) Bank; 

(b) Registered Investment House; 

(c) Insurance Company; 

(d) Pension fund or retirement plan maintained by the Government of the Philippines or any 
political subdivision thereof or managed by a bank or other persons authorized by BSP to 

engage in trust functions; 

(e) Investment Company; or 

(f) Such other person as the SEC may by rule determine as qualified buyers, on the basis of 

such factors as financial sophistication, net worth, knowledge and experience in financial 
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and business matters, or amount of assets under management. For this particular class of 
QIB, it shall be necessary that an SEC-registered QIB registrar shall ascertain the QIB 

nature of the QIB. The Trading Participant who will deal with the QIB whether as 
counterparty or Broker represents and warrants the same to PDEx and PDTC in its being 

involved in the trade, at the time of the same. 

 
For the avoidance of doubt, natural persons and non-residents are not eligible buyers or holders of 

the Fixed-Rate Notes. 
 

2. Handling of Loss of Eligibility by Noteholders 
 

If prior to the Maturity Date of the Notes, and after the purchase thereof, it is discovered that the 

buyer did not qualify as a Qualified Buyer at the point of purchase on the secondary market, then 
the Remediation Procedure shall be implemented as provided below. 

 
If for any reason after the relevant point of purchase but prior to the Maturity Date of the Notes, 

a buyer loses its status as a Qualified Buyer after the point of purchase, the Remediation Procedure, 

as provided in Paragraph 4 below, shall not apply, and the buyer shall not be forced to sell its 
holdings, as outlined in the Remediation Procedure below, and the exempt nature of the Notes will 

not be affected. However, such buyer shall no longer be eligible to purchase additional Notes. 
 

3. Continuing Restriction of Holdings to Eligible Noteholders in the Secondary Market 
 

The restriction of holdings to Eligible Noteholders shall be maintained throughout the tenor of this 

Note, and to this end PDEx Trading Participants that trade on the Notes in the secondary market 
shall have the following additional responsibilities to the Notes: 

 
(a) Each Participating Broker or Dealer (“Trading Participant”) shall determine the eligibility 

and suitability of each buyer, and ensure that the buyer fully understands the terms and 

conditions of, and the risks involved in, the Notes, including the option and tax features of 
the same. 

 
(b) Each Trading Participant shall warrant that it is fully informed of the special features and 

mechanics relating to the Notes as contained in this Information Memorandum each time 

it executes a trade. 
 

(c) Each Trading Participant shall represent and warrant that their clients (for Brokers) or 
counterpart clients (Dealers) are Eligible Noteholders as defined above at the point of 

purchase either on the primary or secondary market, and eligible to purchase and hold the 
Notes.  

 

(d) For each Eligible Noteholder falling under Paragraph 1. (f) above, each Trading Participant 
shall indicate the QIB Registrar of such QIB clients or counterparts, and represent and 

warrant that the QIB Registrar is duly registered as such with the SEC. 

 

(e) The Issuer shall rely on determinations made by the Trading Participants regarding the 

eligibility of their clients and counterpart clients at the point of purchase of the Notes. The 
Issuer shall not incur any liability to any party arising from the ineligibility of a Trading 

Participant’s client/counterparty clients causing prejudice to the exempt nature of the Notes. 
The Issuer shall not assume any cost incurred for remediation of the ineligibility (e.g. costs 

of triggering a sell-out provision below), and shall not assume any cost incurred to 
implement the Remediation Procedure below. 
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4. Remediation Procedure – Sell Out Mechanism 

 
If it is discovered after purchase that (i) a buyer is not an Eligible Noteholder at the point of sale, 

or (ii) a transfer or recording of ownership has been made to an entity who is not an Eligible 

Noteholder (each of (i) and (ii) shall be deemed as a “Sell Out Trigger”), a remediation procedure 
via the sell-out mechanism of such ineligible investor or Noteholder’s Notes will be done in 

accordance with the following: 
 

(a) In case of violation of restrictions of Eligible Noteholders, the Registry shall not effect any 
account opening at the Registry and no transfer will be possible from the Depository to the 

Registry. 

 
(b) The party that discovers a violation in the eligibility requirements (e.g. Participant, 

Registry) must immediately inform PDEx of the violation. 
 

(c) PDEx shall inform the Trading Participant involved to trigger the Remediation Process - 

Sell-out Mechanism as follows: 

i. The ineligible buyer’s Trading Participant shall sell out the ineligible client buyer’s 

holdings at the market. In the absence of a better bid then it must sell to the Market 

Maker. 

ii. The Trading Participant must execute the sell-out transaction no later than three (3) 

trading days from the day of discovery. 

iii. No ineligible investor shall be allowed to hold the Notes by the end of three (3) trading 

days from the day of discovery.  

iv. The sell-out mechanism may result in a price difference between the original purchase 

and the sell-out price. If the price difference results in a loss, such loss shall be 
assumed by the responsible Trading Participant. If the price difference results in a 

gain, it shall accrue to the ineligible investor that was forced to sell out the holdings. 

v. The sell-out shall be reported to the SEC and the responsible Trading Participant may 

be subject to SEC action. 

 
5. Form, Denomination and Title 

 

(a) Form and Denomination 
 

The Fixed-Rate Notes are in scripless form and shall be issued in denominations of Fifty 
Million Pesos (₱50,000,000.00) each, as a minimum, and in multiples of Fifty Million Pesos 

(₱50,000,000.00) thereafter.  
 

(b) Title 

 
The beneficial interest to the Fixed-Rate Notes shall be shown on and recorded in the 

Register of Noteholders maintained by the Registrar. A notice confirming the principal 
amount of the Fixed-Rate Notes purchased by each applicant in the Offering shall be issued 

by the Registrar to all Noteholders following the Issue Date. Upon any assignment, title to 

the Fixed-Rate Notes shall pass by recording the transfer from a transferor to the transferee 
in the Register of Noteholders maintained by the Registrar. Settlement in respect of such 

transfer or change of title to the Fixed-Rate Notes, including the settlement of any cost 
arising from such transfers, including, but not limited to, documentary stamps tax, if any, 
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arising from subsequent transfers, shall be for the account of the relevant Noteholder.  
 

6. Transfer of the Fixed-Rate Notes  
 

(a)  Register of Noteholders  

The Issuer shall cause the Register of Noteholders to be kept by the Registrar, in electronic 

form. The names and addresses of the Noteholders and the particulars of the Fixed-Rate 
Notes held by them and of all transfers of Fixed-Rate Notes shall be entered into the 

Register of Noteholders. As required by Circular No. 428-04 issued by the Bangko Sentral 
ng Pilipinas, the Registrar shall send each Noteholder a written statement of registry 

holdings at least quarterly (at the cost of the Issuer) and a written advice confirming every 
receipt or transfer of the Fixed-Rate Notes that is effected in the Registrar’s system (at the 

cost of the Issuer). Such statement of registry holdings shall serve as the confirmation of 

ownership of the relevant Noteholder as of the date thereof. Any requests of Noteholders 
for certifications, reports or other documents from the Registrar, except as provided herein, 

shall be for the account of the requesting Noteholder. No transfers of the Fixed-Rate Notes 
may be made during the period commencing on a Record Date as defined in the section 

on “Interest Payment Date.” 

 

(b)  Transfers; Tax Status  

The Notes may be transferred upon exchange of confirmation of sale and confirmation of 
purchase, or by book entry in recording platforms maintained by approved securities 
dealers. The Registrar shall ultimately and conclusively determine all matters regarding the 
evidence necessary to effect any such transfers. Settlement in respect of such transfers or 
change of title to the Notes, including the settlement of documentary stamps tax, if any, 
arising from subsequent transfers, shall be settled directly between the transferee and/or 
the transferor Noteholders.  
 
Subject to the provisions of the Registry and Paying Agency Agreement, Noteholders may 
transfer their Notes at any time, regardless of tax status of the transferor vis-à-vis the 
transferee. 
 
Transfers across tax categories shall not be allowed except on Interest Payment Dates that 
fall on a Business Day. Restricted transfers include, but are not limited to, transfers between 
taxable and non-taxable entities, between taxable entities of different tax categories 
(where tax-withheld entities with different final withholding tax rates (e.g. 20%, 25%, 30%) 
are considered as belonging to different tax categories), or between parties who claim the 
benefit of a tax treaty; provided, however, that transfers from a tax-exempt category to a 
taxable tax category on a non-Interest Payment Date shall be allowed using the applicable 
tax-withheld series name to ensure that the computation is based on the final withholding 
tax rate of the taxable party to the trade. For such transactions, the tax-exempt entity shall 
be treated as belonging to the same tax category as its taxable counterpart for the interest 
period within which such transfer occurred. A Noteholder claiming tax-exempt status is 
required to submit a written notification of the sale or purchase to the Trustee and the 
Registrar, including the tax status of the transferor or transferee, as appropriate, together 
with the supporting documents specified under the Registry and Paying Agency Agreement 
within three (3) Business Days from the settlement date for such transfer. Transfers taking 
place in the Register of Noteholders after the Notes are listed on PDEx shall be allowed 
between tax-exempt and non tax-exempt entities without restriction and observing the tax 
exemption of tax-exempt entities, if and/or when so allowed under and in accordance with 
the relevant rules, conventions and guidelines of PDEx and PDTC. 
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(c) Registrar 

 
For transfers and record updates, notices and communication with the Registrar may be 

made thru the following: 

 
 Philippine Depository & Trust Corporation 

29th Floor, BDO Equitable Tower 

8751 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City, Metro Manila 

Telephone no:  (632) 8884-4425 

Fax no:  (632) 8757-6025 
E-mail:  baby_delacruz@pds.com.ph 

Attention:  Josephine Dela Cruz, Director 

 

(d) Secondary Trading of the Fixed-Rate Notes 

The Issuer intends to enrol the Fixed-Rate Notes in PDEx for secondary market trading. 

The Fixed-Rate Notes will be traded in a minimum board lot size of ₱10,000,000.00 as a 
minimum, and in multiples of ₱5,000,000.00 in excess thereof for as long as any of the 

Fixed-Rate Notes are traded on PDEx.  
 

The Notes shall be subject to the commitment of at least one (1) Market Maker that will 

commit to provide a live bid using the tax-withheld series name for the Fixed-Rate Notes 
in the Order-Driven system good for the minimum trading lot for the issue and a cumulative 

trading commitment of at least ₱10,000,000.00 per trading day per issue. The Market 
Maker commits to all other regulations as described in the Corporate Security Market Maker 

Participation Letter. 

 
In addition to the special provisions on the continuing restriction to Eligible Noteholders 

under paragraph 3 above, secondary market trading in PDEx shall follow the applicable 
PDEx rules, conventions, operating framework and guidelines governing trading and 

settlement between Noteholders of different tax status and shall be subject to the relevant 
fees of PDEx and PDTC. The Market Maker further commits to: 

 

a. Adopt and abide by a rate reasonability standard that is consistent with PDEx rules, 
conventions and guidelines, and 

b. Disclose and explain its reference and pricing methodology and any deviations 
therefrom to PDEx and regulators, upon request. 

 

7. Ranking  
 

The Fixed-Rate Notes constitute direct, unconditional, and unsecured Peso-denominated 
obligations of the Issuer and shall rank pari passu and ratably without any preference or priority 

amongst themselves and at least pari passu with all other present and future unsecured obligations 

of the Issuer, other than obligations preferred by the law.  
 

 
8. Interest  

 
(a) Interest Payment Dates  

 
The Fixed-Rate Notes bear interest on its principal amount from and including the Issue 
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Date at the fixed rate of 2.875% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 22 
January and 22 July of each year while the Fixed-Rate Notes are outstanding (each of 

which, for purposes of this section is an “Interest Payment Date”) commencing on 22 
January 2021 or the subsequent Business Day, without adjustment, if such Interest 

Payment Date is not a Business Day. The last Interest Payment Date shall fall on the 

relevant Maturity Date. 
 

The cut-off date in determining the existing Noteholders entitled to receive interest or 
principal amount due shall be the day two (2) Business Days prior to the relevant Interest 

Payment Date (the “Record Date”), which shall be the reckoning day in determining the 
Noteholders entitled to receive interest, principal or any other amount due under the Fixed-

Rate Notes. No transfers of the Fixed-Rate Notes may be made during this period 

intervening between and commencing on the Record Date and the relevant Interest 
Payment Date. 

 
(b) Interest Accrual 

 
Each Fixed-Rate Note shall cease to bear interest, net of applicable withholding taxes, from 
and including the relevant Maturity Date, as defined in the discussion on “Final Redemption”, 
unless, upon due presentation, payment of the principal in respect of the Fixed-Rate Note 
then outstanding is not made, is improperly withheld or refused, in which case the Penalty 

Interest (see “Penalty Interest”) shall apply.  
 

(c) Determination of Interest Amount 
 
The interest shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve (12) 

months of thirty (30) days each and, in the case of an incomplete month, the number of 
days elapsed on the basis of a month of thirty (30) days.  

 

9. Redemption and Purchase 
 

(a) Final Redemption 

Unless previously purchased and cancelled, the Fixed-Rate Notes shall be redeemed at par 
or 100% of face value on the Maturity Date. However, payment of all amounts due on such 
date may be made by the Issuer through the Paying Agent, without adjustment, on the 
succeeding Business Day if the Maturity Date is not a Business Day. 

 
(b) Redemption for Taxation Reasons  

 

If payments under the Fixed-Rate Notes become subject to additional or increased taxes 

other than the taxes and rates of such taxes prevailing on the Issue Date as a result of 
certain changes in law, rule or regulation, or in the interpretation thereof, and such 

additional or increased rate of such tax cannot be avoided by use of reasonable measures 
available to the Issuer, the Issuer may redeem the Fixed-Rate Notes in whole, but not in 

part, (having given not more than sixty (60) nor less than fifteen (15) days prior written 

notice to the Trustee) at par or 100% face value plus accrued interest. 
 

(c) Purchase and Cancellation 
 

The Issuer may at any time purchase any of the Fixed-Rate Notes in the open market or 
by tender or by contract at market price, in accordance with PDEx Rules without any 

obligation to purchase (and the Noteholders shall not be obliged to sell) the Fixed-Rate 
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Notes pro-rata from all Noteholders. Any Fixed-Rate Notes so purchased shall be redeemed 
and cancelled and may not be re-issued. Upon enrolment of the Fixed-Rate Notes on PDEx, 

the Issuer shall disclose any such transactions in accordance with the applicable PDEx 
disclosure rules. 

 

(d) Change in Law or Circumstance  

The following events shall be considered as changes in law or circumstances as it refers to 
the obligations of the Issuer and the rights and interests of the Noteholders under the 
Trust Indenture Agreement and the Notes:  

(i) Any government and/or non-government consent, license, authorization, 

registration or approval now or hereafter necessary to enable the Issuer to comply 
with its obligations under the Trust Agreement or the Notes shall be modified, 

withdrawn or withheld in a manner which will materially and adversely affect the 
ability of the Issuer to comply with such obligations; or 

(ii) Any provision of the Trust Indenture Agreement or any of the related documents 
is or becomes, for any reason, invalid, illegal or unenforceable to the extent that 

it becomes for any reason unlawful for the Issuer to give effect to its rights or 

obligations thereunder, or to enforce any provisions of the Trust Indenture 
Agreement or any of the related documents in whole or in part; or any law is 

introduced or any applicable existing law is modified or rendered ineffective or 
inapplicable to prevent or restrain the performance by the parties thereto of their 

obligations under the Trust Indenture Agreement or any other related documents; 
or 

(iii) Any concessions, permits, rights, franchise or privileges required for the conduct 
of the business and operations of the Issuer shall be revoked, cancelled or 

otherwise terminated, or the free and continued use and exercise thereof shall be 
curtailed or prevented, in such manner as to materially and adversely affect the 
financial condition or operations of the Issuer.  

10. Payments 

 

The principal of, interest on and all other amounts payable on the Fixed-Rate Notes shall be paid 
to the Noteholders by crediting of the cash settlement accounts designated by each of the 

Noteholders. The principal of, and interest on, the Fixed-Rate Notes shall be payable in Philippine 

Pesos.  
 

The Issuer shall ensure that so long as any of the Notes remains outstanding, there shall at all 
times be a Paying Agent for purposes of disbursing payments on the Notes. In the event the Paying 

Agent shall be unable or unwilling to act as such, SMIC shall appoint a qualified financial institution 

in the Philippines authorized to act in its place. The Paying Agent may not resign its duties or be 
removed without a successor having been appointed. 

 

11. Payment of Additional Amounts; Taxation  

Interest income on the Fixed-Rate Notes is generally subject to a final withholding tax at twenty 

percent (20%). Except for such final withholding tax and as otherwise provided, all payments of 

principal and interest are to be made free and clear of any deductions or withholding for or on 
account of any present or future taxes or duties imposed by or on behalf of Republic of the 
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Philippines, including, but not limited to, issue, registration or any similar tax or other taxes and 
duties, including interest and penalties, if any. If such taxes or duties are imposed, the same shall 

be for the account of the Issuer; provided however that, the Issuer shall not be liable for the 
following: 
 
(a) The final withholding tax applicable on interest earned on the Notes prescribed under the 

Tax Code, as amended, and its implementing rules and regulations as may be in effect 
from time to time. An investor who is exempt from the aforesaid final withholding tax, or 
is subject to a preferential withholding tax rate shall be required to submit the following 
requirements to the Registrar, subject to acceptance by the Issuer as being sufficient in 
form and substance:  

 
(i)  certified true copy of the tax exemption certificate, ruling or opinion issued by 

the Bureau of Internal Revenue confirming the exemption or preferential rate;  
 
(ii)  a duly notarized undertaking, in the prescribed form, declaring and warranting 

its tax-exempt status or preferential rate entitlement, undertaking to 
immediately notify the Issuer of any suspension or revocation of the tax 
exemption certificates or preferential rate entitlement, and agreeing to 
indemnify and hold the Issuer and the Registrar free and harmless against any 
claims, actions, suits, and liabilities resulting from the non-withholding of the 
required tax; and  

 
(iii)  such other documentary requirements as may be required under the applicable 

regulations of the relevant taxing or other authorities which for purposes of 
claiming tax treaty withholding rate benefits, shall include evidence of the 
applicability of a tax treaty and consularized proof of the Noteholder’s legal 
domicile in the relevant treaty state, and confirmation acceptable to the Issuer 
that the Noteholder is not doing business in the Philippines; provided further 
that, all sums payable by the Issuer to tax exempt entities shall be paid in full 
without deductions for taxes, duties, assessments or government charges 
subject to the submission by the Noteholder claiming the benefit of any 
exemption of reasonable evidence of such exemption to the Registrar; 

(b) Gross Receipts Tax under Section 121 of the Tax Code, as amended;  

(c) Taxes on the overall income of any securities dealer or Noteholder, whether or not subject 
to withholding; and  

(d) Value-added Tax under Sections 106 to 108 of the Tax Code, and as amended by Republic 
Act No. 9337. 

Documentary stamp tax for the primary issue of the Fixed-Rate Notes and the execution of the 
Notes Agreements, if any, shall be for the Issuer’s account. 

 
The BIR’s tax treatment of the Fixed-Rate Notes may vary from the tax treatment described herein. 

Any adverse tax consequences upon the Noteholder arising from any variance in tax treatment 
shall be for such Noteholder’s sole risk and account. 

 
12. Financial Ratios 
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Similar to the covenants contained in other debt agreements of the Issuer, the Issuer shall 

maintain, for as long as any of the Fixed-Rate Notes remain outstanding, a Debt to Equity Ratio of 
not more than 80:20. 

There are no other regulatory ratios that the Issuer is required to comply with. 

13. Negative Pledge 

 
 So long as the Notes remain outstanding (as defined in the Trust Agreement): 

 
(i) the Issuer will not create or permit to subsist any lien upon the whole or any part of its 

undertaking, assets or revenues present or future to secure any Indebtedness or any 
guarantee of or indemnity in respect of any Indebtedness; 

 
(ii) the Issuer shall procure that its Material Subsidiaries will not create or permit to subsist 

any lien upon the whole or any part of any Material Subsidiary’s undertaking, assets or 
revenues present or future to secure any Public Debt or any guarantee of or indemnity in 
respect of any Public Debt; and 

 
(iii) the Issuer will procure that no other Person creates or permits to subsist any lien or gives 

any guarantee of, or indemnity upon the whole or any part of the undertaking, assets or 
revenues present or future of that other Person to secure any Public Debt of the Issuer, or 
any Material Subsidiary or to secure any guarantee of or indemnity in respect of the Public 
Debt of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary unless, at the same time or prior thereto, the 
Issuer’s obligations under the Notes and the Trust Indenture Agreement, (a) are secured 
equally and rateably therewith or benefit from a guarantee or indemnity in substantially 
identical terms thereto, as the case may be, or (b) have the benefit of such other security, 
guarantee, indemnity or other arrangement as the Trustee in its absolute discretion shall 
deem to be not materially less beneficial to the Noteholders or as shall be approved by 
Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders 

 

provided that this paragraph shall not apply to liens (aa) arising by operation of law; or (bb) created 

in respect of Indebtedness (for the avoidance of doubt, including Indebtedness in respect of which 

there is a preference or priority under Article 2244 of the Civil Code of the Philippines as the same 
may be amended from time to time) in aggregate principal amount not exceeding 20% of Total 

Consolidated Assets as determined in the Issuer's latest audited consolidated financial statements; 
or (cc) created in respect of Hedging Transactions; and unless, at the same time or prior thereto, 

the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes and the Trust Agreement, (x) are secured equally and 

rateably therewith or benefit from a guarantee or indemnity in substantially identical terms thereto, 
as the case may be, in each case to the satisfaction of the Trustee, or (y) have the benefit of such 

other security, guarantee, indemnity or other arrangement as the Trustee in its absolute discretion 
shall deem to be not materially less beneficial to the Noteholders or as shall be approved by 

Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Agreement) of the Noteholders. 
 

14.  Events of Default  

 
The Issuer shall be considered in default under the Fixed-Rate Notes and the Trust Agreement in 

case any of the following events (each an “Event of Default”) shall occur and is continuing:  
 

(a) Payment Default: there is failure to pay the interest on any of the Notes within fourteen 
(14) days from the due date for payment; or  

 
(b) Breach of Other Obligations: the Issuer defaults in the performance or observance of, 
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or compliance with, any one or more of its other obligations set out in the Notes or the 
Trust Agreement and (except where the Trustee considers, and so notifies in writing to the 
Issuer, that such default is not capable of remedy, when no such notice or grace period as 
mentioned below shall be required) such default continues for a period of thirty (30) days 
after notice of such default shall have been given to the Issuer by the Trustee; or 

 
(c) Cross-Default: (i) any other present or future Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its 

Material Subsidiaries or Subsidiaries for or in respect of moneys borrowed or raised 
becomes (or becomes capable of being declared) due and payable prior to its stated 
maturity by reason of any actual or potential default, event of default or the like (howsoever 
described), or (ii) any such Indebtedness is not paid when due or, as the case may be, 
within any applicable grace period, or (iii) the Issuer or any of its Material Subsidiaries or 
Subsidiaries fails to pay when due any amount payable by it under any present or future 
guarantee for, or indemnity in respect of, any moneys borrowed or raised provided that the 
aggregate amount of the relevant Indebtedness, guarantees and indemnities in respect of 
which one or more of the events mentioned above in this paragraph (c) have occurred 
equals or exceeds 20% of the Issuer’s Total Consolidated Assets; or 

 
(d) Judgement, Decree or Order: a final judgment, decree or order has been entered 

against the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary by a court of competent jurisdiction from 
which no appeal may be made or is taken for the payment of money in excess of 20% of 
the Issuer’s Total Consolidated Assets and any relevant period specified for payment of 
such judgment, decree or order shall have expired without it being satisfied, discharged or 
stayed; or 

 
(e) Enforcement Proceedings: a distress, attachment, execution or other legal process is 

levied, enforced or sued out on or against (in the opinion of the Trustee) any material part 
of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary and is not 
discharged or stayed within sixty (60) days (or such longer period as the Issuer satisfies 
the Trustee is appropriate in relation to the jurisdiction concerned) of having been so levied, 
enforced or sued unless and for so long as the Trustee is satisfied that it is being contested 
in good faith and diligently; or 

 
(f) Security Enforced: any lien, present or future, created or assumed by the Issuer or any 

Material Subsidiary becomes enforceable and any step is taken to enforce it (including the 
taking of possession or the appointment of a receiver, administrative receiver, manager or 
other similar person) and the Indebtedness secured by the lien is not discharged or such 
steps stayed within sixty (60) days (or such longer period as the Issuer satisfies the Trustee 
is appropriate in relation to the jurisdiction concerned) of such steps being so taken unless 
and for so long as the Trustee is satisfied that it is being contested in good faith and 
diligently; or 

 
(g) Insolvency: the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary (i) is (or is, or could be, deemed by law 

or a court to be) insolvent or bankrupt or unable to pay its debts, (ii) stops, suspends or 
threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or a material part of (or of a particular type 
of) its debts, (iii) proposes or makes any agreement for the deferral, rescheduling or other 
readjustment of all of (or all of a particular type of) its debts (or of any part which it will 
or might otherwise be unable to pay when due), (iv) proposes or makes a general 
assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of the relevant 
creditors in respect of any of such debts, or (v) a moratorium is agreed or declared in 
respect of or affecting all or any part of (or of a particular type of) the debts of the Issuer 
or any Material Subsidiary; or 

 
(h) Winding-up: an order of a court of competent jurisdiction is made or an effective 
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resolution passed for the winding-up or dissolution or administration of the Issuer or any 
Material Subsidiary, or the Issuer or any Material Subsidiary ceases or threatens to cease 
to carry on all or substantially all of its business or operations, except for the purpose of 
and followed by a reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganization, merger or consolidation 
(i) on terms approved by the Trustee or by a resolution of the Noteholders, or (ii) in the 
case of a Material Subsidiary, whereby the undertaking and assets of the Material 
Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise vested in the Issuer or another Material 
Subsidiary pursuant to a merger of the Material Subsidiary with the Issuer or such other 
Material Subsidiary or by way of a voluntary winding-up or dissolution where there are 
surplus assets in such Material Subsidiary and such surplus assets attributable to the Issuer 
and/or any other Material Subsidiary are distributed to the Issuer and/or any such other 
Material Subsidiary; or  

 
(i) Bankruptcy Proceedings: proceedings shall have been initiated against the Issuer or 

any Material Subsidiary under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization law 
and such proceedings shall not have been discharged or stayed within a period of sixty 
(60) days (or such longer period as the Issuer satisfies the Trustee is appropriate in relation 
to the jurisdiction concerned) unless and for so long as it is being contested in good faith 
and diligently; or 

 
(j) Validity: the Issuer shall contest in writing the validity or enforceability of the Trust 

Agreement or the Notes or shall deny generally in writing the liability of the Issuer, under 
the Trust Agreement or the Notes; or 

 
(k) Expropriation: any step is taken by any person with a view to the seizure, compulsory 

acquisition, or expropriation of all or a material part of the assets of the Issuer or any of 
its Material Subsidiaries; or 

 
(l) Illegality: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any one 

or more of its obligations under any of the Notes or the Trust Agreement; or 

 
(m) Analogous Events: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction 

has an analogous effect to any of the events referred to in any of the foregoing paragraphs 
provided that in the case of paragraph (c), (h) and (i) in relation to a Subsidiary or the 
Material Subsidiary (as the case may be), the Trustee shall have certified that in its opinion 
such event is materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders. 

 
15. Notice of Default  
 

The Trustee shall, within five (5) days after the occurrence of any Event of Default, give to the 

Noteholders written notice of such default known to it, unless the same shall have been cured 
before the giving of such notice; provided that, in the case of payment default, as described in 

item (a) of “Events of Default” above, the Trustee shall immediately notify the Noteholders upon 
the occurrence of such payment default. The existence of a written notice required to be given to 

the Noteholders hereunder shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
Philippines for two consecutive days, further indicating in the published notice that the Noteholders 

or their duly authorized representatives may obtain an important notice regarding the Notes at the 

principal office of the Trustee upon presentment of sufficient and acceptable identification. 
 

16. Consequences of Default  
 

(a)   If any one or more of the Events of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, either 

the Trustee, upon the written instructions of the Majority Noteholders whose written 
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instructions/consents/letters shall be signature verified by the Registrar, in accordance with 
its procedures, against their physical or digital signature cards endorsed by the relevant 

Joint Lead Arranger or PDEx Trading Participant and by notice in writing delivered to the 
Issuer, or the Majority Noteholders, by notice in writing delivered to the Issuer and the 

Trustee, may declare the principal of the Fixed-Rate Notes, including all accrued interest, 

net of applicable withholding taxes, and other charges thereon, if any, to be immediately 
due and payable, and upon such declaration the same shall be immediately due and 

payable. The Registrar shall verify the signature of the Noteholders on the 
instructions/consents/letters by comparing the same against the duly endorsed physical or 

digital copies of the signature cards in its possession and determine if the same can be 
interpreted to belong to the same person, based on industry standard and processes for 

signature verification.  

 
(b)  This provision, however, is subject to the condition that, except in the case of a Writ and 

Similar Process Default, the Majority Noteholders, by written notice to the Issuer and the 
Trustee may, during the prescribed curing period, if any, rescind and annul such declaration 

made by the Trustee pursuant to a consequence of default, and the consequences of such 

declaration, upon such terms, conditions and agreement, if any, as they may determine; 
provided that, no such rescission and annulment shall extend to or shall affect any 

subsequent default or shall impair any right consequent thereon.  
 

(c)  At any time after any Event of Default shall have occurred, the Trustee may:  
 

(i)  by notice in writing to the Issuer, require the Registrar and Paying Agent to deliver 

all evidence of the Fixed-Rate Notes and all sums, documents and records held by 
them in respect of the Fixed-Rate Notes to the Trustee or as the Trustee shall direct 

in such notice; provided that, such notice shall be deemed not to apply to any 
document or record which the Registrar and Paying Agent is not obliged to release 

by any law or regulation; and  

 
(ii)  by notice in writing to the Issuer, require the Issuer to make all subsequent 

payments in respect of the Fixed-Rate Notes to the order of the Trustee. From the 
issue of any such notice until such notice is withdrawn, provision (i) above and the 

Issuer’s positive covenant to pay principal and interest on the Fixed-Rate Notes, 

more particularly set forth in the Trust Agreement, shall cease to have effect.  
 

In case any amount payable by the Issuer under the Fixed-Rate Notes, whether for 
principal, interest or otherwise, is not paid on due date, subject to the applicable grace 

period, if any, the Issuer shall, without prejudice to its obligations to pay the said principal, 
interest, and other amounts, pay Penalty Interest on the defaulted amount(s) from the 

time the amount falls due until it is fully paid.  

 
17. Penalty Interest 

 
In case any amount payable by the Issuer under the Notes, whether for principal, interest, fees 

due to Trustee or Registrar or otherwise, is not paid on due date, the Issuer shall, without prejudice 

to its obligations to pay the said principal, interest and other amounts, pay penalty interest on the 
defaulted amount(s) at the rate of 2% p.a. (the “Penalty Interest”) from the time the amount falls 

due until it is fully paid. 
 

18. Payment in the Event of Default 
 

The Issuer covenants that upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Issuer shall pay to the 
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Noteholders, through the Paying Agent, the whole amount which shall then have become due and 
payable on all such outstanding Notes with interest at the rate borne by the Notes on the overdue 

principal and with Penalty Interest as described above, and in addition thereto, the Issuer shall pay 
to the Trustee such further amounts as shall be determined by the Trustee to be sufficient to cover 

the cost and expenses of collection, including reasonable compensation to the Trustee, its agents, 

attorneys and counsel, and any reasonable expenses or liabilities incurred without negligence or 
bad faith by the Trustee hereunder.  

 
19. Application of Payments  

 
Any money collected or delivered to the Paying Agent, and any other funds held by it, subject to 

any other provision of the Trust Agreement and the Paying Agency and Registry Agreement relating 

to the disposition of such money and funds, shall be applied by the Paying Agent in the order of 
preference as follows: first, to the payment to the Trustee, the Paying Agent and the Registrar, of 

the costs, expenses, fees and other charges of collection, including reasonable compensation to 
them, their agents, attorneys and counsel, and all reasonable expenses and liabilities incurred or 

disbursements made by them, without negligence or bad faith; second, to the payment of the 

interest in default, in the order of the maturity of such interest with Penalty Interest; third, to the 
payment of the whole amount then due and unpaid upon the Notes for principal, and interest, with 

Penalty Interest; and fourth, the remainder, if any shall be paid to the Issuer, its successors or 
assigns, or to whoever may be lawfully entitled to receive the same, or as a court of competent 

jurisdiction may direct. Except for any interest and principal payments, all disbursements of the 
Paying Agent in relation to the Notes shall require the conformity of the Trustee. The Paying Agent 

shall render a monthly account of such funds under its control. 

 
20. Prescription  

 
Claims in respect of principal and interest or other sums payable hereunder shall prescribe unless 

made within seven (7) years (in the case of principal or other sums) or five (5) years (in the case 

of interest) from the date on which payment becomes due.  
 

21. Remedies  
 

All remedies conferred by the Trust Agreement to the Trustee and the Noteholders shall be 

cumulative and not exclusive and shall not be so construed as to deprive the Trustee or the 
Noteholders of any legal remedy by judicial or extra judicial proceedings appropriate to enforce the 

conditions and covenants of the Trust Agreement, subject to the discussion below on “Ability to File 
Suit”.  

 
No delay or omission by the Trustee or the Noteholders to exercise any right or power arising from 

or on account of any default hereunder shall impair any such right or power, or shall be construed 

to be a waiver of any such default or an acquiescence thereto; and every power and remedy given 
by the Trust Agreement to the Trustee or the Noteholders may be exercised from time to time and 

as often as may be necessary or expedient. 
 

22. Ability to File Suit 

 
No Noteholder shall have any right by virtue of or by availing of any provision of the Trust 

Agreement to institute any suit, action or proceeding for the collection of any sum due from the 
Issuer hereunder on account of principal, interest and other charges, or for the appointment of a 

receiver or trustee, or for any other remedy hereunder, unless (i) such Noteholder previously shall 
have given to the Trustee written notice of an Event of Default and of the continuance thereof and 

the related request for the Trustee to convene a meeting of the Noteholders to take up matters 
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related to their rights and interests under the Notes; (ii) the Majority Noteholders shall have decided 
and made the written request upon the Trustee to institute such action, suit or proceeding in the 

latter’s name; (iii) the Trustee for sixty (60) days after the receipt of such notice and request shall 
have neglected or refused to institute any such action, suit or proceeding; and (iv) no directions 

inconsistent with such written request shall have been given under a waiver of default by the 

Noteholders, it being understood and intended, and being expressly covenanted by every 
Noteholder with every other Noteholder and the Trustee, that no one or more Noteholders shall 

have any right in any manner whatever by virtue of or by availing of any provision of the Trust 
Agreement to affect, disturb or prejudice the rights of the holders of any other such Notes or to 

obtain or seek to obtain priority over or preference to any other such holder or to enforce any right 
under the Trust Agreement, except in the manner herein provided and for the equal, ratable and 

common benefit of all the Noteholders.  

 
23. Waiver of Default by the Noteholders  

 
The Majority Noteholders may direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for 

any remedy available to the Trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee, 

or may, on behalf of the Noteholders waive any past default, except the events of default defined 
as a payment default, breach of representation or warranty default, insolvency default, or closure 

default, and its consequences. In case of any such waiver, the Issuer, the Trustee and the 
Noteholders shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder; provided however 

that, no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other default or impair any right consequent 
thereto. Any such waiver by the Majority Noteholders shall be conclusive and binding upon all 

Noteholders and upon all future holders and owners thereof, irrespective of whether or not any 

notation of such waiver is made upon the certificate representing the Fixed-Rate Notes.  

24. Trustee; Notices  

 
(a) Notice to the Trustee 

 

All documents required to be submitted to the Trustee pursuant to the Trust Agreement 
and the Information Memorandum and all correspondence addressed to the Trustee shall 

be delivered to: 
 

To the Trustee: Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation Trust and Investments 

 Group 
Attention:  Mr. Raoul V. Santos / Mr. Ryan Roy W. Sinaon  

 Subject:  SMIC Fixed Rate Notes due 2022 
 Address:  9th Floor, Yuchengco Tower 1, RCBC Plaza  

  6819 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 0727  
 Facsimile: +632 8878 3377 

 

All documents and correspondence not sent to the above-mentioned address shall be 
considered as not to have been sent at all.   

 
(b) Notice to the Noteholders 

 

The Trustee shall send all notices to Noteholders to their mailing address as set forth in 
the Register of Noteholders. Except where a specific mode of notification is provided for 

herein, notices to Noteholders shall be sufficient when made in writing and transmitted in 
any one of the following modes: (i) registered mail; (ii) surface mail; (iii) by one-time 

publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the Philippines; or (iv) personal delivery 
to the address of record in the Register of Noteholders. The Trustee shall rely on the 
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Register of Noteholders in determining the Noteholders entitled to notice. All notices shall 
be deemed to have been received (i) ten (10) days from posting if transmitted by registered 

mail; (ii) fifteen (15) days from mailing if transmitted by surface mail; (iii) on date of 
publication, or; (iv) on date of delivery, for personal delivery. 

 

(c) Binding and Conclusive Nature 
 

Except as provided in the Trust Agreement, all notifications, opinions, determinations, 
certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained by 

the Trustee for the purposes of the provisions of the Trust Agreement, shall (in the absence 
of willful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, and all Noteholders 

and (in the absence as referred to above) no liability to the Issuer, the Paying Agent or 

the Noteholders shall attach to the Trustee in connection with the exercise or non-exercise 
by it of its powers, duties and discretions under the Trust Agreement. 

25. Duties and Responsibilities of the Trustee  

 
(a) The Trustee is hereby appointed as trustee for and on behalf of the Noteholders and 

accordingly shall perform such duties and shall have such responsibilities as expressly 
provided in the Trust Agreement. The Trustee shall, in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the Trust Agreement, monitor the compliance or non-compliance by the 
Issuer with all its representations and warranties, and the observance by the Issuer of all 
its covenants and performance of all its obligations under and pursuant to the Trust 
Agreement. The Trustee shall observe due diligence in the performance of its duties and 
obligations under the Trust Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any 
actions that the Trustee may take, the Trustee shall remain to be the party responsible to 
the Noteholders, and to whom the Noteholders shall communicate with in respect to any 
matters that must be taken up with the Issuer. 
 

(b) The Trustee shall, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default or after the curing of all 
such defaults which may have occurred, perform only such duties as are specifically set 
forth in the Trust Agreement.  In case of default, the Trustee shall exercise such rights 
and powers vested in it pursuant to the Trust Agreement, and use such judgment and care 
under the circumstances then prevailing that individuals of prudence, discretion and 
intelligence, and familiar with such matters exercise in the management of their own affairs. 

 
(c) The Trustee, in the performance of its duties, shall exercise such rights and powers vested 

in it by the Trust Agreement, and use such judgment and care under the circumstances 
then prevailing that individuals of prudence, discretion, and intelligence, and familiar with 
such matters, exercise in the management of their own affairs. For the avoidance of doubt, 
notwithstanding any actions that the Trustee may take, the Trustee shall remain to be the 
party responsible to the Noteholders, and to whom the Noteholders shall communicate 
with in respect to any matters that must be taken up with the Issuer. 
 

(d) The Trustee shall submit to the Noteholders a brief report within ninety (90) days from the 
making of any advance, for the reimbursement of such advance which it claims or may 
claim a lien or charge, which is a prior claim to that of the Noteholders, on the property or 
funds held or collected by the Paying Agent indicating the character, amount, and the 
circumstances surrounding the making of such advance; provided that the remaining 
unpaid portion of such advance amounts to at least 10% of the aggregate outstanding 
principal amount of the Notes at such time. 

 
(e) The Trustee shall hold on behalf of the Noteholders the Master Certificate of Indebtedness 
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for the total issuance. 
 

(f) For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee shall perform such other powers and functions as 
provided for elsewhere in the Trust Agreement. 

26. Resignation and Change of Trustee 

 

(a) The Trustee may at any time resign by giving ninety (90) days prior written notice to the 
Issuer and to the Noteholders of such resignation. 

 

(b) Upon receiving such notice of resignation of the Trustee, the Issuer shall immediately 
appoint a successor trustee by written instrument in duplicate, executed by its authorized 

officers, one (1) copy of which instrument shall be delivered to the resigning Trustee and 
one (1) copy to the successor trustee.  If no successor shall have been so appointed and 

have accepted appointment within thirty (30) days after the giving of such notice of 
resignation, the resigning Trustee may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the 

appointment of a successor, or any Noteholder who has been a bona fide holder for at 

least six (6) months (the “Bona Fide Noteholder”) may, for and on behalf of the Noteholders, 
petition any such court for the appointment of a successor. Such court may thereupon after 

notice, if any, as it may deem proper, appoint a successor trustee. Subject to the provisions 
of Section 7.5(e), such a successor trustee must possess all the qualifications required 

under pertinent Laws.  

 
(c) In case at any time the Trustee shall become incapable of acting, or has acquired conflicting 

interest, or shall be adjudged as bankrupt or insolvent, or a receiver for the Trustee or of 
its property shall be appointed, or any public officer shall take charge or control of the 

Trustee or of its properties or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation, or 
liquidation, then the Issuer may within thirty (30) days therefrom remove the Trustee 

concerned, and appoint a successor trustee, by written instrument in duplicate, executed 

by its authorized officers, one (1) copy of which instrument shall be delivered to the Trustee 
so removed and one (1) copy to the successor trustee. If the Issuer fails to remove the 

Trustee concerned and appoint a successor trustee, any Bona Fide Noteholder may petition 
any court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of the Trustee concerned and the 

appointment of a successor trustee. Such court may thereupon after such notice, if any, 

as it may deem proper, remove the Trustee and appoint a successor trustee. Subject to the 
provisions of Section 7.5(e), such successor trustee must possess all the qualifications 

required under pertinent Laws. 
 

(d) The Majority Noteholders may at any time remove the Trustee for cause, and, with prior 

consultation with the Issuer, except in an Event of Default, appoint a successor trustee, by 
the delivery to the Trustee so removed, to the successor trustee, and to the Issuer the 

required evidence under the provisions on Evidence Supporting the Action of the 
Noteholders in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. For the avoidance of doubt, the 

Majority Noteholders shall have the sole discretion to appoint a successor trustee for the 
Notes by vote of the Majority Noteholders. Such removal shall take effect thirty (30) days 

from receipt of such notice by the Trustee. 

 
(e) Without prejudice to any liabilities of the Trustee which have accrued, any resignation or 

removal of the Trustee and the appointment of a successor trustee pursuant to any of the 
provisions of this Section shall become effective upon the earlier of (i) acceptance of 

appointment by the successor trustee as provided in Section 7.6; or (ii) the effectivity of 

the resignation notice sent by the Trustee as provided in this Section; provided, however, 
that until such successor trustee is qualified and appointed, the resigning Trustee shall 
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continue to discharge its duties and responsibilities and receive reasonable fees solely as 
custodian of records for prompt turnover to the successor trustee upon the appointment 

thereof by the Issuer or the Majority Noteholders, as applicable. 

27. Successor Trustee 

 

(a) Any successor trustee appointed as provided in Paragraph 26 shall execute, acknowledge, 
and deliver to the Issuer and to its predecessor Trustee an instrument accepting such 

appointment hereunder, and thereupon the resignation or removal of the predecessor 
Trustee shall become effective and such successor trustee, without further act, deed, or 

conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights, powers, trusts, duties, and obligations 
of its predecessor in the trusteeship hereunder with like effect as if originally named as 

trustee herein and the predecessor trustee shall be relieved from its duties and 

responsibilities herein. The foregoing notwithstanding, on the written request of the Issuer 
or of the successor trustee, the Trustee ceasing to act as such shall execute and deliver an 

instrument transferring to the successor trustee, upon the trusteeship under the Trust 
Agreement, all the rights, powers, and duties of the Trustee so ceasing to act as such. 

Upon request of any such successor trustee, the Issuer shall execute any and all 

instruments in writing as may be necessary to fully vest in and confer to such successor 
trustee all such rights, powers, and duties. 

 
(b) Upon acceptance of the appointment by a successor trustee as provided in this Section, 

the Issuer shall notify the Noteholders in writing of the succession of such trustee to the 
trusteeship herein provided. If the Issuer fails to notify the Noteholders within ten (10) 

days after the acceptance of appointment by the successor trustee, the latter shall cause 

the Noteholders to be notified at the expense of the Issuer. 

28. Reports to the Noteholders and Inspection of Documents  

 
(a)  The Trustee shall submit to the Noteholders on or before February 28 of each year from 

the Issue Date until full payment of the Notes a brief report dated as of December 31 of 

the immediately preceding year with respect to: 
 

(i) The funds, if any, physically in the possession of the Paying Agent held in trust for 
the Noteholders on the date of such report; and 

 
(ii) Any action taken by the Trustee in the performance of its duties under the Trust 

Agreement which it has not previously reported and which in its opinion materially 
affects the Notes, except action in respect of a default, notice of which has been 
or is to be withheld by it. 

 
(b)  The Trustee shall submit to the Noteholders a brief report within ninety (90) days from the 

making of any advance, for the reimbursement of such advance which it claims or may 

claim a lien or charge, which is a prior claim to that of the Noteholders, on the property or 
funds held or collected by the Paying Agent indicating the character, amount, and the 

circumstances surrounding the making of such advance; provided that the remaining 
unpaid portion of such advance amounts to at least 10% of the aggregate outstanding 

principal amount of the Notes at such time. 
 

(c) The following pertinent documents may be inspected during regular business hours on any 

Business Day at the principal office of the Trustee: 
 

(i) Trust Indenture Agreement; 
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(ii) Registry and Paying Agency Agreement;  
(iii) Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of the Issuer; and 

(iv) Opinion of the legal counsel indicated in Section 7.3 of the Trust Agreement with 
respect to the Issuer and the Fixed-Rate Notes 

 

29. Meetings of the Noteholders  
 

A meeting of the Noteholders may be called at any time for the purpose of taking any actions 
authorized to be taken by or on behalf of the Noteholders of any specified aggregate principal 

amount of the Notes under any other provisions of the Trust Agreement or under the Law and such 
other matters related to the rights and interests of the Noteholders.  

 

(a) Notice of Meetings  
 

The Trustee may at any time call a meeting of the Noteholders, or the holders of at least 
twenty-five (25%) of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Notes may direct in 

writing through the Registrar, the Trustee to call a meeting of the Noteholders, to take up 

any allowed action, to be held at such time and at such place, or other means of 
communication (i.e. teleconferencing, videoconferencing or other means of remote or 

electronic communication) in the event that physical conduct of the meeting is not possible, 
as the Trustee shall determine. Notice of every meeting of the Noteholders, setting forth 

the time and the place/other means of communication of such meeting and the purpose 
of such meeting in reasonable detail, shall be sent by the Trustee to each of the registered 

Noteholders, through the Registrar, and to the Issuer, as may be necessary, not earlier than 

forty-five (45) days nor later than fifteen (15) days prior to the date fixed for the meeting. 
Each of such notices shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation. All reasonable 

costs and expenses incurred by the Trustee for the proper dissemination of the requested 
meeting shall be reimbursed by the Issuer within ten (10) days from receipt of the duly 

supported billing statement. 

 
(b) Failure of the Trustee to Call a Meeting  

 
In case at any time the Issuer, pursuant to a resolution of its board of directors or executive 
committee, or the holders of at least twenty-five (25%) of the aggregate outstanding 

principal amount of the Notes shall have requested the Trustee to call a meeting of the 

Noteholders by written request setting forth in reasonable detail the purpose of the 
meeting, and the Trustee shall not have mailed, in accordance with the notice requirements, 

the notice of such meeting, then the Issuer or the Noteholders in the amount above 
specified may determine the time and place for such meeting and may call such meeting 

by mailing and publishing notice thereof.  
 

(c) Quorum  

The Trustee shall determine and record the presence of the Majority Noteholders, 

personally or by proxy. The presence of the Majority Noteholders shall be necessary to 
constitute a quorum to do business at any meeting of the Noteholders except for any 

meeting called by the  Issuer solely for the purpose of obtaining the consent of the 
Noteholders to an amendment of the Trust Agreement, where the failure of any Noteholder 

to transmit an objection to such proposal of the Issuer after at least two (2) notices to 

such Noteholder have been sent by the Trustee, will be considered by the Trustee as an 
affirmative vote on the proposal of the Issuer,  and consequently, such Noteholder will be 

considered present for quorum purposes by the Trustee.  
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(d) Procedure for Meetings  
 

(i) The Trustee shall preside at all the meetings of the Noteholders unless the meeting 
shall have been called by the Issuer or by the Noteholders, in which case the Issuer 

or the Noteholders calling the meeting, as the case may be, shall in like manner 

move for the election of the chairman and secretary of the meeting. The Trustee 
and Registrar shall initially and continually preside as chairman and secretary, 

respectively, until a chairman and secretary are duly elected by the Majority 
Noteholders.  

 
(ii) Any meeting of the Noteholders duly called may be adjourned for a period or 

periods not to exceed in the aggregate of one (1) year from the date for which the 

meeting shall originally have been called and the meeting so adjourned may be 
held without further notice to the Noteholders present or represented at the 

original meeting. Any such adjournment may be ordered by persons representing 
a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes represented at the 

meeting and entitled to vote, whether or not a quorum shall be present at the 

meeting. At least five (5) days prior to the meeting to which the original meeting 
is adjourned, the Trustee, through the Registrar, shall send to all Noteholders not 

present or represented at the original meeting notice setting forth the time and 
the place of the meeting to which the original meeting was adjourned and 

indicating that the purpose of such meeting is the same as that of the original 
meeting. All reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Trustee for the proper 

dissemination of the requested meeting shall be reimbursed by the Issuer within 

ten (10) days from receipt of the duly supported billing statement. 
 

(e)  Voting Rights 
 

To be entitled to vote at any meeting of the Noteholders, a person shall be a registered 

holder of one or more Notes or a person appointed by an instrument in writing as proxy 
by any such holder as of the date of the said meeting. Noteholders shall be entitled to one 

vote for every Php10,000.00 interest. The only persons who shall be entitled to be present 
or to speak at any meeting of the Noteholders shall be the persons entitled to vote at such 

meeting and any representatives of the Issuer and its legal counsel.  

 
(f) Voting Requirement  

 
All matters presented for resolution by the Noteholders in a meeting duly called for the 

purpose shall be decided or approved by the affirmative vote of the Majority Noteholders 
present or represented in a meeting at which there is a quorum except as otherwise 

provided in the Trust Agreement. Any resolution of the Noteholders which has been duly 

approved with the required number of votes of the Noteholders as herein provided, shall 
be binding upon all the Noteholders and the Issuer as if the votes were unanimous.  

 
(g)  Role of the Trustee in Meetings of the Noteholders  

 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Trust Agreement, the Trustee may make such 
reasonable regulations as it may deem advisable for any meeting of the Noteholders, in 

regard to proof of ownership of the Notes, the appointment of proxies by registered holders 
of the Notes, the election of the chairman and the secretary, the appointment and duties 

of inspectors of votes, the submission and examination of proxies, certificates, and other 
evidences of the right to vote, and such other matters concerning the conduct of the 

meeting as it shall deem fit. The minutes of each meeting and any resolution made thereat 
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shall be taken by the Registrar.  
 

30. Evidence Supporting the Action of the Noteholders  
 

Wherever in the Trust Agreement it is provided that the holders of a specified percentage of the 

aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes may take any action (including the making of 
any demand or requests and the giving of any notice or consent or the taking of any other action), 

the fact that at the time of taking any such action the holders of such specified percentage have 
joined therein may be evidenced by: (i) any instrument executed by the Noteholders in person or 

by the agent or proxy appointed in writing, or (ii) the duly authenticated record of voting in favor 
thereof at the meeting of the Noteholders duly called and held in accordance herewith, or (iii) a 

combination of such instrument and any such record of meeting of such Noteholders.  

 
 

31. Non-Reliance 
 

Each Noteholder also represents and warrants to the Trustee that it has independently and, without 

reliance on the Trustee, made its own credit investigation and appraisal of the financial condition 
and affairs of the Issuer on the basis of such documents and information as it has deemed 

appropriate and that it has subscribed to the Issue on the basis of such independent appraisal, and 
each Noteholder represents and warrants that it shall continue to make its own credit appraisal 

without reliance on the Trustee. The Noteholders agree to indemnify and hold the Trustee harmless 
from and against any and all liabilities, damages, penalties, judgments, suits, expenses and other 

costs of any kind or nature against the Trustee in respect of its obligations hereunder, except for 

its gross negligence or wilful misconduct. 
 

32. Amendments 
 

SMIC and the Trustee may amend the Terms and Conditions of the Notes without prior notice to 
every Noteholder, but with the written consent of the Majority Noteholders (including consents 
obtained in connection with a tender offer or exchange offer for the Notes). However, without the 
written consent of each Noteholder affected thereby, notwithstanding any meeting among such 
Noteholders, in accordance with Paragraph 29, in case one is held for this purpose, an amendment 
may not:  

 
(1) reduce the percentage amount of Notes outstanding that must consent to an amendment 

or waiver; 
 
(2) reduce the rate of or extend the time for payment of interest on the Notes; 
 
(3) reduce the principal of or extend the Maturity Date of the Notes; 
 
(4)  impair the right of any Noteholder to receive payment of principal of and interest on such 

Noteholder’s Notes on or after the due dates thereof or to institute suit for the enforcement 
of any payment on or with respect to such Noteholders; 

 
(5)  reduce the amount payable upon the redemption or repurchase of the Notes under the 

Terms and Conditions or change the time at which any Note may be redeemed; 
 
(6)  make any Notes payable in money other than that stated in the Notes; 
 
(7)  subordinate the Notes to any other obligations of the Issuer; 
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(8)  release any Lien that may have been granted in favor of the Noteholders; 
 
(9)  amend or modify the Payment of Additional Amounts, Taxation, the Events of Default, or 

the Waiver of Default by the Noteholders in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes; or 
 
(10)  make any change or waiver of this condition. 

 
It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Noteholders under this condition to approve the 
particular form of any proposed amendment, but it shall be sufficient if such consent approves the 

substance thereof. After an amendment under this condition becomes effective, the Issuer shall 
send a notice briefly describing such amendment to the Noteholders affected in the manner 

provided in the section entitled “Notices”. 

 
Any consent given pursuant to this Section shall be conclusive and binding upon all Noteholders 

and upon all future holders and owners thereof or of any Notes issued in lieu thereof or in exchange 
therefor, irrespective of whether or not any notation of such consent is made upon the Notes. 

 
33.  Governing Law  

 

The Notes Agreements are governed by and are construed in accordance with Philippine law. 
 

34. Venue  
 

Any suit, action, or proceeding against the Issuer with respect to the Notes or the Notes 

Agreements or on any judgment entered by any court in respect thereof may be brought in any 
competent court in the City of Makati or Pasay, and the parties submit to the exclusive jurisdiction 

of such courts for the purpose of any such suit, action, proceeding or judgment, the Issuer and 
Noteholders expressly waiving other venue. 

 
35. Waiver of Preference 

 

The obligation created under the Agreements and the Notes shall not enjoy any priority of 
preference or special privileges whatsoever over any indebtedness or obligations of the Issuer. 

Accordingly, whatever priorities or preferences that this instrument may have or any person deriving 
a right hereunder may have under Article 2244, paragraph 14 of the Civil Code of the Philippines 

are hereby absolutely and unconditionally waived and renounced. Provided, however, that should 

any creditor of the Issuer heretofore and hereinafter have a reference or priority over amounts 
owing under the Notes as a result of notarization, and the Issuer has not procured a waiver of this 

preference, then such waiver and renunciation of the priority of preference under Article 2244 
paragraph 14 of the Civil Code of the Philippines shall be revoked. 
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REPORT ON REVIEW OF UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
SM Investments Corporation
10th Floor, One E-Com Center
Harbor Drive, Mall of Asia Complex
CBP-1A, Pasay City 1300

Introduction

We have reviewed the accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of
SM Investments Corporation and its subsidiaries, which comprise the unaudited interim consolidated balance sheet as at
March 31, 2020 and the related unaudited interim consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in
equity and cash flows for three-month periods ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, and other explanatory notes to unaudited
interim condensed consolidated financial statements.  Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of
these unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with Philippine Accounting Standard
(PAS) 34, Interim Financial Reporting.  Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on these unaudited interim
condensed consolidated financial statements based on our review.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with Philippine Standard on Review Engagements 2410, Review of Interim

Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity.  A review of interim financial information
consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical
and other review procedures.  A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with
Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Consequently, it does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of
all significant matters that might be identified in an audit.  Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying unaudited interim
condensed consolidated financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with PAS 34, Interim
Financial Reporting.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Julie Christine O. Mateo
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 93542
SEC Accreditation No. 0780-AR-3 (Group A),
 August 16, 2018, valid until August 15, 2021
Tax Identification No. 198-819-116
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-68-2018,
 February 26, 2018, valid until February 25, 2021
PTR No. 8125278, January 7, 2020, Makati City

June 26, 2020

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
1226 Makati City
Philippines

 Tel: (632) 891 0307
Fax: (632) 819 0872
ey.com/ph

 BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
   October 4, 2018, valid until August 24, 2021
SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-5 (Group A),

November 6, 2018, valid until November 5, 2021

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
March 31, 2020

(With Comparative Audited Figures as at December 31, 2019)

(Amounts in Thousands)

March 31,

2020

December 31,
2019

(Unaudited) (Audited)

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 5 and 22) P=70,828,712 P=76,213,774
Time deposits (Notes 6 and 22) 30,739 30,488
Financial assets (Notes 7 and 22) 567,102 659,077
Receivables and contract assets (Notes 8 and 22) 55,152,663 53,617,200
Merchandise inventories - at cost (Note 20) 34,402,700 33,157,622
Other current assets (Notes 9 and 22) 88,465,218 84,678,819

Total Current Assets 249,447,134 248,356,980

Noncurrent Assets

Financial assets - net of current portion (Notes 7 and 22) 18,038,688 24,229,560
Investments in associate companies and joint ventures (Note 10) 282,259,117 280,971,638
Time deposits - net of current portion (Notes 6, 22 and 23) 2,412,972 2,412,972
Property and equipment (Note 11) 25,189,679 24,720,873
Investment properties (Note 12) 342,622,033 338,075,303
Right-of-use assets 36,900,513 37,664,176
Land and development - net of current portion (Note 13) 74,980,002 74,946,694
Intangibles (Note 14) 25,227,078 25,289,609
Deferred tax assets (Note 21) 3,661,613 3,121,117
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 14 and 22) 93,983,511 84,375,645

Total Noncurrent Assets 905,275,206 895,807,587

P=1,154,722,340 P=1,144,164,567

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Bank loans (Notes 15, 19 and 22) P=35,731,174 P=18,710,465
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (Notes 16 and 22) 124,957,682 141,451,764
Income tax payable 3,936,601 3,273,872
Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 17, 19, 22 and 23) 50,151,469 29,077,719
Dividends payable 3,957,888 4,204,962

Total Current Liabilities 218,734,814 196,718,782

Noncurrent Liabilities

Long-term debt - net of current portion (Notes 17, 19, 22 and 23) 310,574,467 327,358,208
Lease liabilities - net of current portion 27,397,531 27,600,392
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 21) 10,534,929 9,604,043
Tenants’ deposits and others (Notes 22 and 23) 49,246,457 46,731,664

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 397,753,384 411,294,307

Total Liabilities 616,488,198 608,013,089

(Forward)
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March 31,

2020

December 31,
2019

(Unaudited) (Audited)

Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent

Capital stock (Note 18) P=12,045,829 P=12,045,829

Additional paid-in capital 75,815,923 75,815,923

Equity adjustments from common control transactions (5,424,455) (5,424,455)

Cost of Parent common shares held by subsidiaries (25,386) (25,386)
Cumulative translation adjustment 1,190,386 1,308,228
Net fair value changes on cash flow hedges (1,291,152) (1,406,026)

Net unrealized gain on financial assets 3,772,845 14,399,640

Remeasurement loss on defined benefit asset/obligation (8,633,269) (8,633,269)

Retained earnings (Note 18):

Appropriated 37,000,000 37,000,000

Unappropriated 266,553,868 257,546,591

Total Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent 381,004,589 382,627,075

Non-controlling Interests 157,229,553 153,524,403

Total Equity 538,234,142 536,151,478

P=1,154,722,340 P=1,144,164,567

See accompanying Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Amounts in Thousands Except Per Share Data)

Three-Month Periods Ended March 31

2020 2019
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

REVENUES

Sales:
 Merchandise P=78,289,599 P=76,059,266

Real estate 11,293,965 9,109,799
Rent (Note 19) 11,076,148 12,471,507
Equity in net earnings of associate companies and joint ventures 5,298,309 5,535,151
Cinema ticket sales, amusement and others 955,640 1,692,754
Dividend, management fees and others 4,238,832 4,179,168

111,152,493 109,047,645

COST AND EXPENSES

Cost of sales:
Merchandise (Note 20) 59,434,998 55,790,186

 Real estate (Note 13) 4,964,036 4,357,150
Selling, general and administrative expenses 26,550,681 25,619,860

90,949,715 85,767,196

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES)

Interest expense (Note 19) (4,192,716) (4,294,118)
Interest income (Note 19) 764,626 998,947
Gain on fair value changes on derivatives - net (Note 23) 472 55,278
Foreign exchange gain (loss) - net and others (Note 22) (10,097) 269,274

(3,437,715) (2,970,619)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 16,765,063 20,309,830

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 21)
Current 2,727,400 3,710,093
Deferred 260,770 223,689

2,988,170 3,933,782

NET INCOME P=13,776,893 P=16,376,048

Attributable to

Owners of the Parent P=9,007,277 P=10,690,220
Non-controlling interests 4,769,616 5,685,828

P=13,776,893 P=16,376,048

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Common Share Attributable

to Owners of the Parent (Note 24) P=7.48 P=8.87

See accompanying Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in Thousands)

Three-Month Periods Ended March 31

2020 2019
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

NET INCOME P=13,776,893 P=16,376,048

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

Share in unrealized gain (loss) on financial assets of associates (2,860,183) 2,206,223

Cumulative translation adjustment (231,447) 309,992

Net fair value changes on cash flow hedges (184,091) (482,068)

(3,275,721) 2,034,147

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

Net unrealized gain (loss) on financial assets (8,991,818) 2,083,652
Income tax relating to items not to be reclassified to profit

or loss in subsequent periods (129,618) 301,361

(9,121,436) 2,385,013

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=1,379,736 P=20,795,208

Attributable to

Owners of the Parent (P=1,622,486) P=14,766,701
Non-controlling interests 3,002,222 6,028,507

P=1,379,736 P=20,795,208

See accompanying Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

UNUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE THREE-MONTH PERIODS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019

(Amounts in Thousands Except Per Share Data)

Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent

Capital Stock

Additional

Paid-in Capital

Equity

Adjustments

from Common

Control

Transactions

Cost of Parent

Common

Shares Held

by Subsidiaries

Cumulative

Translation

Adjustment

Net Fair Value

Changes on Cash

Flow Hedges

Net Unrealized

Gain (Loss) on

Financial Assets

Remeasurement

Loss on Defined

Benefit Asset/

Obligation

Appropriated

Retained

Earnings

Unappropriated

Retained

Earnings Total

Non-controlling

Interests

Total

Equity

As at December 31, 2019 (Audited) P=12,045,829 P=75,815,923 (P=5,424,455) (P=25,386) P=1,308,228 (P=1,406,026) P=14,399,640 (P=8,633,269) P=37,000,000 P=257,546,591 P=382,627,075 P=153,524,403 P=536,151,478

Net income – – – – – – – – – 9,007,277 9,007,277 4,769,616 13,776,893

Other comprehensive income – – – – (117,842) 114,874 (10,626,795) – – – (10,629,763) (1,767,394) (12,397,157)

Total comprehensive income – – – – (117,842) 114,874 (10,626,795) – – 9,007,277 (1,622,486) 3,002,222 1,379,736

Increase in previous year’s non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – – – 702,928 702,928

As at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited) P=12,045,829 P=75,815,923 (P=5,424,455) (P=25,386) P=1,190,386 (P=1,291,152) P=3,772,845 (P=8,633,269) P=37,000,000 P=266,553,868 P=381,004,589 P=157,229,553 P=538,234,142

As at December 31, 2018 (Audited) P=12,045,829 P=75,815,520 (P=5,424,455) (P=25,386) P=2,014,573 P=62,444 P=11,748,980 (P=2,063,358) P=37,000,000 P=222,213,054 P=353,387,201 P=138,902,811 P=492,290,012

Net income – – – – – – – – – 10,690,220 10,690,220 5,685,828 16,376,048

Other comprehensive income – – – – 154,084 (438,948) 4,361,345 – – – 4,076,481 342,679 4,419,160

Total comprehensive income – – – – 154,084 (438,948) 4,361,345 – – 10,690,220 14,766,701 6,028,507 20,795,208
Realized gain on sale of financial assets at FVOCI – – – – – – (703,471) – – 703,471 – – –
Cash dividends received by non-controlling

interests – – – – – – – – – – – (516,200) (516,200)
Increase in previous year’s non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – – – 129,908 129,908

As at March 31, 2019 (Unaudited) P=12,045,829 P=75,815,520 (P=5,424,455) (P=25,386) P=2,168,657 (P=376,504) P=15,406,854 (P=2,063,358) P=37,000,000 P=233,606,745 P=368,153,902 P=144,545,026 P=512,698,928

See accompanying Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in Thousands)

 Three-Month Periods Ended March 31

2020

(Unaudited)

2019
(Unaudited)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Income before income tax P=16,765,063 P=20,309,830
Adjustments for:

Equity in net earnings of associate companies and joint ventures (5,298,309) (5,535,151)
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 11, 12 and 14) 4,839,355 4,149,130
Interest expense 4,192,716 4,294,118
Interest income (764,626) (998,947)

 Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss and others 127,080 (171,527)
Dividend, management fees and others (31,261) (103,628)
Gain on fair value changes on derivatives - net (472) (55,278)

Income before working capital changes 19,829,546 21,888,547
Decrease (increase) in:

Receivables and contract assets (2,069,865) (3,038,966)
Merchandise inventories (1,245,078) (3,108,572)

 Other current assets (2,381,359) 491,404
Land and development (6,246,151) (6,203,684)

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (11,396,372) (9,259,710)
Tenants’ deposits and others 3,094,114 55,904

Net cash generated from (used in) operations (415,165) 824,923
Income tax paid (2,059,721) (2,136,826)

Net cash used in operating activities (2,474,886) (1,311,903)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of:
Investment properties 2,059 19,302
Financial assets – 1,455,363

 Property and equipment – 769
Additions to:

Investment properties (Note 12) (6,365,822) (5,963,981)
Property and equipment (Note 11) (1,700,207) (1,274,841)
Financial assets (2,854,936) (1,312,500)
Investments in associate companies and joint ventures – (1,585,342)

Decrease (increase) in:
Time deposits 15,498 2,933,293
Other noncurrent assets (10,219,030) 4,698,845

Dividends received 1,487,908 1,320,702
Interest received 537,258 675,548

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (19,097,272) 967,158

(Forward)
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Three-Month Periods Ended March 31

2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Availments of:
Bank loans P=28,223,000 P=2,250,000
Long-term debt 17,600,412 –

Payments of:
Long-term debt (13,452,316) (5,649,902)
Bank loans (11,202,291) (7,207,391)
Interest (3,630,577) (4,532,242)
Lease liabilities (790,178) –

 Dividends (247,075) (33,602)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 16,500,975 (15,173,137)

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (5,071,183) (15,517,882)

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (313,879) 359,369

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING

OF PERIOD (Note 5) 76,213,774 79,313,215

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD (Note 5) P=70,828,712 P=64,154,702

See accompanying Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO UNAUDITED INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

SM Investments Corporation (SMIC or Parent Company) was incorporated in the Philippines on
January 15, 1960.  On December 27, 2019, the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) approved the amendment of the Parent Company’s articles of incorporation changing its
corporate life to perpetual.  Its registered office address is 10th Floor, One E-Com Center, Harbor
Drive, Mall of Asia Complex, CBP-1A, Pasay City 1300.

SMIC is the largest publicly listed company in the Philippines that is invested in market leading
businesses in retail, banking and property.  It also invests in ventures that capture high growth
opportunities in the emerging Philippine economy.

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements were authorized
for issue by the Board of Directors (BOD), as approved and recommended for approval by the Audit
Committee on June 26, 2020.

2. Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance

Basis of Preparation
The interim condensed consolidated financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the Group) are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative
financial instruments and financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value.

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 34, Interim Financial Reporting.  The interim condensed
consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, which is the Parent Company’s
functional and presentation currency under Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  All
values are rounded to the nearest thousand Peso except when otherwise indicated.

The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
going concern assumption.  The Group believes that its businesses would remain relevant despite the
challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic.  Whilst the pandemic may adversely impact short-term
business results, long-term prospects remain attractive.  The Group maintains a conservative Balance
Sheet and is confident it would be able to navigate through these challenges and take on opportunities
as these arise.

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements do not include all the information and
disclosures required in the annual consolidated financial statements, and should be read in
conjunction with the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2019.
These interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared for inclusion in the
Prospectus to be prepared by the Group for its planned offering transaction.

Basis of Consolidation
The interim condensed consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the
Parent Company and its subsidiaries.  As at March 31, 2020, there were no significant changes in the
Parent Company’s ownership interest in its subsidiaries.
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Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of the interim condensed consolidated financial statements requires management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the interim condensed
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.  Changes in these estimates and
assumptions could result in outcomes that may require material adjustments to the carrying amounts
of the affected assets or liabilities in the future.

Except as otherwise stated, there were no significant changes in accounting judgments, estimates, and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the interim condensed consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes.

3. Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the interim condensed consolidated financial
statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, except for the adoption of new standards
effective as at January 1, 2020.  The Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective except for the amendments to PFRS 16,
Leases.

Unless otherwise indicated, adoption of these new standards did not have an impact on the interim
condensed consolidated financial statements of the Group.

§ Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations, Definition of a Business

The amendments to PFRS 3 clarify that to be considered a business, an integrated set of activities
and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output; that a business can exist without including
all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs.  These amendments may impact future
periods should the Group enter into any business combinations.

§ Amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and PFRS 9, Financial Instruments,
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The amendments to PFRS 9 provide a number of reliefs which apply to all hedging relationships
that are directly affected by the interest rate benchmark reform in case the reform gives rise to
uncertainties about the timing and or amount of benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item
or the hedging instrument.

§ Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, and PAS 8, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, Definition of Material

The amendments provide a new definition of “material” that states “information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.”

The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information,
either individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial
statements.  A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users.
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§ Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued on March 29, 2018

The Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override
the concepts or requirements in any standard.  The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to
assist the standard-setters in developing standards to help preparers develop consistent accounting
policies where there is no applicable standard in place and to assist all parties to understand and
interpret the standards.

The revised Conceptual Framework includes new concepts, provides updated definitions and
recognition criteria for assets and liabilities and clarifies some important concepts.

§ Amendments to PFRS 16, COVID-19-related Rent Concessions

The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying the PFRS 16 requirement on lease
modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic.  A
lessee may elect not to assess whether a rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification if it
meets all of the following criteria:

§ The rent concession is a direct consequence of COVID-19;
§ The change in lease payments results in a revised lease consideration that is substantially the

same as, or less than, the lease consideration immediately preceding the change;
§ Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before June 30,

2021; and
§ There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee that applies this practical expedient will account for any change in lease payments
resulting from the COVID-19 related rent concession in the same way it would account for a
change that is not a lease modification, i.e., as a variable lease payment.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after June 1, 2020.
Early adoption is permitted.

The Group adopted the amendments beginning January 1, 2020.  These amendments have no
significant impact on the interim consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2020.

4. Segment Information

The Group has identified three reportable operating segments as follows: property, retail, and
financial services and others.

The property segment is involved in mall, residential and commercial development and hotel and
convention center operations.  The mall segment develops, conducts, operates and maintains the
business of modern commercial shopping centers and all businesses related thereto such as the
conduct, operation and maintenance of shopping center spaces for rent, amusement centers and
cinemas within the compound of the shopping centers.  The residential and commercial segments are
involved in the development and transformation of major residential, commercial, entertainment and
tourism districts through sustained capital investments in buildings and infrastructure.  The hotels and
convention centers segment engages in and carries on the business of hotels and convention centers
and operates and maintains any and all services and facilities incident thereto.

The retail segment is engaged in the retail/wholesale trading of merchandise such as dry goods,
wearing apparels, food and other merchandise.
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The financial services and others segment primarily includes the operations of the Parent Company
which is engaged in asset management and capital investments as well as its associate companies
which include the banks.

The BOD monitors the operating results of each of its business units for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.  Segment performance is evaluated
based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with the operating profit or loss in the
consolidated financial statements.

Operating Segment Financial Data

Three-Month Period Ended March 31, 2020 (Unaudited)

Property Retail

Financial

Services

and Others

Eliminations/

Adjustments Consolidated

(In Thousands)

Revenue:

External customers P=24,453,291 P=80,927,693 P=5,771,509 P=– P=111,152,493

Inter-segment 3,028,498 – 605,840 (3,634,338) –

P=27,481,789 P=80,927,693 P=6,377,349 (P=3,634,338) P=111,152,493

Segment results:

Income before income tax P=10,771,091 P=2,079,521 P=3,914,451 P=– P=16,765,063

Provision for income tax (2,172,200) (745,473) (70,497) – (2,988,170)

Net income P=8,598,891 P=1,334,048 P=3,843,954 P=– P=13,776,893

Net income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent P=4,273,442 P=950,387 P=3,783,448 P=– P=9,007,277

Non-controlling interests 4,325,449 383,661 60,506 – 4,769,616

Three-Month Period Ended March 30, 2019 (Unaudited)

Property Retail

Financial
Services

and Others

Eliminations/

Adjustments Consolidated

(In Thousands)

Revenue:

External customers P=24,141,846 P=78,900,982 P=6,004,817 P=– P=109,047,645
Inter-segment 3,415,968 – 691,348 (4,107,316) –

P=27,557,814 P=78,900,982 P=6,696,165 (P=4,107,316) P=109,047,645

Segment results:

Income before income tax P=11,631,655 P=4,373,021 P=4,305,154 P=– P=20,309,830
Provision for income tax (2,542,744) (1,320,508) (70,530) – (3,933,782)

Net income P=9,088,911 P=3,052,513 P=4,234,624 P=– P=16,376,048

Net income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent P=4,436,282 P=2,088,104 P=4,165,834 P=– P=10,690,220

Non-controlling interests 4,652,629 964,409 68,790 – 5,685,828

Disaggregated revenue is consistent with the business segment revenues presented above.

Seasonality
Sales of the retail segment are cyclical and driven by seasonality.  Historically, sales peak during the
month of December for the Christmas period and in the month of May, prior to the opening of
schools in June.  Except for the impact of COVID-19 pandemic to the Group’s operations starting
March 2020, there were no trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably
expected to have a material impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations.
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5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)

March 31,
2019

(Unaudited)
(In Thousands)

Cash on hand and in banks (Note 19) P=16,269,047 P=19,218,912 P=12,233,279
Temporary investments (Note 19) 54,559,665 56,994,862 51,921,423

P=70,828,712 P=76,213,774 P=64,154,702

Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.  Temporary investments are made for
varying periods of up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group.
These investments earn interest at prevailing rates.

6. Time Deposits

This account consists of time deposits as follows:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)
(In Thousands)

Current P=30,739 P=30,488
Noncurrent 2,412,972 2,412,972

P=2,443,711 P=2,443,460

The time deposits bear interest ranging from 2.0% to 3.2% in 2020 and 2019.

7. Financial Assets

This account consists of:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)
(In Thousands)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI):
Shares of stock

Listed P=15,911,581 P=22,240,653
Unlisted 2,678,509 2,635,484

Club shares 15,700 12,500

18,605,790 24,888,637
Less current portion 567,102 659,077

Noncurrent portion P=18,038,688 P=24,229,560
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8. Receivables and Contract Assets

This account consists of:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)
(In Thousands)

Trade:
Real estate buyers P=71,308,390 P=66,679,220
Third party tenants 6,191,383 8,469,829
Related party tenants (Note 19) 137,230 432,513
Others 29,532 66,747

Due from related parties (Note 19) 2,238,431 1,079,944
Management and service fees (Note 19) 2,079,639 2,212,623
Dividends (Note 19) 276,774 610,649

82,261,379 79,551,525
Less allowance for expected credit loss (ECL) 1,053,447 1,053,549

81,207,932 78,497,976
Less noncurrent portion of receivables from

real estate buyers (Note 14) 26,055,269 24,880,776

Current portion P=55,152,663 P=53,617,200

* Includes unbilled revenue from sale of real estate amounting to P=64,579.4 million and P=59,903.2 million as
 at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

Allowance for ECL pertains to receivables from tenants which were identified to be impaired based
on specific assessment.  Receivables other than those identified as impaired, are assessed as good and
collectible.

9. Other Current Assets

This account consists of:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)
(In Thousands)

Land and development (Note 13) P=39,166,997 P=37,935,968
Prepaid taxes and other prepayments 14,598,778 13,985,109
Bonds and deposits 10,149,559 9,519,229
Condominium and residential units for sale (Note 13) 6,019,997 6,026,426
Non-trade receivables 6,700,281 4,362,489
Input tax 5,061,565 4,261,278
Receivable from banks 3,323,188 5,497,587
Accrued interest receivable (Note 19) 419,867 192,499
Escrow fund (Note 19) 142,835 117,985
Others 2,882,151 2,780,249

P=88,465,218 P=84,678,819
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10. Investments in Associate Companies and Joint Ventures

The P=1.3 billion increase in this account pertains mainly to equity in earnings, net of share in net
comprehensive loss and dividends of associate companies and joint ventures.
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11. Property and Equipment

The movements in this account follow:

Buildings and

Improvements

Store Equipment
and

Improvements

Data
Processing

Equipment

Furniture,
Fixtures

and Office

Equipment

Machinery
and

Equipment

Leasehold

Improvements

Transportation

Equipment

Construction

in Progress Total

(In Thousands)

Cost

As at December 31, 2018 P=13,655,272 P=3,662,606 P=7,836,767 P=9,563,662 P=9,422,640 P=18,812,117 P=964,311 P=1,514,504 P=65,431,879
Additions 356,889 144,070 681,626 1,284,065 864,377 1,347,570 90,239 2,677,577 7,446,413
Effect of business combination – – 750 86,517 14,443 – 1,562 – 103,272

Reclassifications 544,069 237,227 98,281 (974,418) 82,394 533,433 311 (1,459,977) (938,680)
Disposals/retirements (229,272) (33,454) (28,431) (74,845) (46,189) (93,669) (8,629) (13,183) (527,672)

As at December 31, 2019 (Audited) 14,326,958 4,010,449 8,588,993 9,884,981 10,337,665 20,599,451 1,047,794 2,718,921 71,515,212
Additions 109,925 63,520 107,238 217,234 199,318 173,788 4,534 824,650 1,700,207
Reclassifications 97,322 (33,402) (30,574) 685,506 15,816 53,659 (1,081) (151,432) 635,814

Disposals/retirements (7,199) (2,998) (60,654) (46,849) (44,447) (190,960) (300) (1,555) (354,962)

As at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited) P=14,527,006 P=4,037,569 P=8,605,003 P=10,740,872 P=10,508,352 P=20,635,938 P=1,050,947 P=3,390,584 P=73,496,271

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization

As at December 31, 2018 P=5,873,280 P=2,562,697 P=6,199,111 P=6,955,402 P=6,218,401 P=13,867,319 P=554,002 P=– P=42,230,212
Depreciation and amortization 773,894 380,986 695,475 554,216 1,003,150 1,467,314 59,215 – 4,934,250

Effect of business combination – – 205 33,216 2,643 – 1,157 – 37,221
Reclassifications (31,628) (80,706) (6,405) 861,310 (7,303) (840,944) (6,294) – (111,970)
Disposals/retirements (90,774) (15,556) (21,913) (23,952) (43,342) (91,236) (8,601) – (295,374)

As at December 31, 2019 (Audited) 6,524,772 2,847,421 6,866,473 8,380,192 7,173,549 14,402,453 599,479 – 46,794,339
Depreciation and amortization 184,354 87,338 162,073 232,674 244,431 402,727 49,941 – 1,363,538
Reclassifications 570 (598) (16,251) 464,901 61 (354) – – 448,329

Disposals/retirements (7,100) (2,948) (44,508) (41,193) (28,802) (174,763) (300) – (299,614)

As at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited) P=6,702,596 P=2,931,213 P=6,967,787 P=9,036,574 P=7,389,239 P=14,630,063 P=649,120 P=– P=48,306,592

Net Book Value

As at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited) P=7,824,410 P=1,106,356 P=1,637,216 P=1,704,298 P=3,119,113 P=6,005,875 P=401,827 P=3,390,584 P=25,189,679

As at December 31, 2019 (Audited) 7,802,186 1,163,028 1,722,520 1,504,789 3,164,116 6,196,998 448,315 2,718,921 24,720,873
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12. Investment Properties

The movements in this account follow:

Land and

Improvements

Buildings
and Leasehold

Improvements

Building
Equipment,

Furniture

and Others

Construction

in Progress Total

(In Thousands)

Cost

As at December 31, 2018 P=71,129,919 P=239,322,133 P=39,878,182 P=38,753,649 P=389,083,883
Additions 3,563,225 2,334,200 1,883,218 29,121,761 36,902,404
Reclassifications (120,439) 12,621,438 1,261,397 (14,002,546) (240,150)

Effect of common control business combination 510,586 3,771,736 – 382,207 4,664,529
Translation adjustment (67,417) (1,976,026) (157,843) (69,323) (2,270,609)
Disposals (5,125) (18,639) (159,680) (1,153) (184,597)

As at December 31, 2019 (Audited) 75,010,749 256,054,842 42,705,274 54,184,595 427,955,460
Additions 448,383 242,558 481,851 5,193,030 6,365,822

Reclassifications (2,268) 4,722,335 201,274 (3,371,672) 1,549,669
Translation adjustment (23,190) (695,806) (55,427) (63,189) (837,612)
Disposals (82) – (25,631) – (25,713)

As at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited) P=75,433,592 P=260,323,929 P=43,307,341 P=55,942,764 P=435,007,626

Accumulated Depreciation, Amortization

and Impairment Loss

As at December 31, 2018 P=2,153,121 P=53,349,433 P=24,317,055 P=– P=79,819,609
Depreciation and amortization 244,454 7,297,151 3,064,236 – 10,605,841

Reclassifications 7,563 (11,523) – – (3,960)
Effect of common control business combination – 57,712 – – 57,712
Translation adjustment (35,052) (355,546) (88,474) – (479,072)

Disposals (3,626) (10,454) (105,893) – (119,973)

As at December 31, 2019 (Audited) 2,366,460 60,326,773 27,186,924 – 89,880,157
Depreciation and amortization 59,784 1,870,397 778,399 – 2,708,580

Translation adjustment (14,051) (134,093) (32,270) – (180,414)
Disposals (18) – (22,712) – (22,730)

As at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited) P=2,412,175 P=62,063,077 P=27,910,341 P=– P=92,385,593

Net Book Value

As at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited) P=73,021,417 P=198,260,852 P=15,397,000 P=55,942,764 P=342,622,033

As at December 31, 2019 (Audited) 72,644,289 195,728,069 15,518,350 54,184,595 338,075,303

Construction in progress pertains to construction costs incurred for new shopping malls, commercial
buildings and redevelopment of existing malls.

Interest capitalized to investment properties amounted to P=1,411.7 million and P=3,143.3 million as at
March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.  Capitalization rates used range from 2.4% to
5.2% in 2020 and 2.4% to 5.1% in 2019.

The fair value of investment properties is categorized under Level 3 since valuation is based on
unobservable inputs.

The fair value of substantially all investment properties amounting to P=1,350,307.2 million as at
December 31, 2019 was determined by accredited independent appraisers with appropriate
qualifications and experience in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.  The fair
value represents the price that would be received to sell the investment properties in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The emergence of COVID-19
pandemic poses a potential impact in the fair value measurement of investment properties.

The Company has no restriction on the realizability of its investment properties and no obligation to
purchase, construct or develop, repair, maintain and/or enhance any of these properties.
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13. Land and Development and Condominium and Residential Units for Sale

Land and Development
Land and development includes the cost of land as well as construction cost of ongoing residential
projects.

The movements in “Land and development - current” accounted as real estate inventories follow:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)

(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of period P=37,935,968 P=29,486,964
Reclassification to land and development -

noncurrent, accounted as investment property – (7,227)
Development cost incurred 6,184,118 22,277,052
Transfer from land and development - noncurrent – 1,810,966
Cost of real estate sold (3,916,902) (14,638,083)
Transfer to condominium and residential units

for sale (1,038,259) (4,089,397)
Translation adjustment and others 2,072 3,095,693

Balance at end of period (Note 9) P=39,166,997 P=37,935,968

The movements in “Land and development - noncurrent” accounted as investment property follow:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)
(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of period P=74,946,694 P=53,928,447
Reclassification from land and development -

current, accounted as real estate inventories – 7,227
Land acquisitions 62,033 23,254,266
Reclassification to investment property (28,725) (432,280)
Transfer to land and development - current – (1,810,966)

Balance at end of period P=74,980,002 P=74,946,694

Not included in land and development - current and noncurrent is the estimated cost to complete the
projects amounting to P=80,846.4 million and P=74,238.1 million as at March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, respectively.

Land and development is stated at cost.  There is no allowance for inventory writedown as at
March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
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Condominium and Residential Units for Sale
The movements in this account follow:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)
(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of period P=6,026,426 P=8,110,504
Transfer from land and development 1,038,259 4,089,397
Cost of real estate sold (1,047,134) (6,168,529)
Repossessed inventories and others 2,446 (4,946)

Balance at end of period (Note 9) P=6,019,997 P=6,026,426

The condominium and residential units for sale are stated at cost as at March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.

14. Intangibles and Other Noncurrent Assets

Intangible Assets
This account consists of:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)
(In Thousands)

Goodwill P=17,456,168 P=17,458,431
Less accumulated impairment loss 91,620 91,620

Net book value 17,364,548 17,366,811
Trademarks and brand names 7,862,530 7,922,798

P=25,227,078 P=25,289,609

Other Noncurrent Assets
This account consists of:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)
(In Thousands)

Bonds and deposits P=56,716,495 P=48,643,102
Receivables from real estate buyers (Note 8) 26,055,269 24,880,776
Long-term notes (Notes 19 and 23) 5,948,159 5,942,878
Deferred input value-added tax 1,399,736 1,410,699
Derivative assets (Note23) 834,730 826,315
Land use rights 364,106 377,722
Escrow fund (Note 19) 132,460 132,460
Defined benefit asset 120,599 95,057
Others 2,411,957 2,066,636

P=93,983,511 P=84,375,645
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15. Bank Loans

This account consists of:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)
(In Thousands)

Peso-denominated:
Parent Company P=6,750,000 P=8,829,900
Subsidiaries 28,981,174 9,880,565

P=35,731,174 P=18,710,465

These loans bear interest ranging from 3.9% to 5.3% in 2020 and 3.8% to 7.9% in 2019.

16. Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities

This account consists of:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)

(In Thousands)

Trade P=63,447,815 P=85,996,862
Tenants and customers’ deposits 15,664,612 12,868,406
Accrued expenses 13,930,761 11,324,572
Nontrade 10,661,107 9,790,527
Payable arising from acquisition of land 4,965,263 4,769,349
Payables to government agencies 4,465,966 6,331,940
Accrued interest (Note 19) 3,286,438 2,833,930
Subscriptions payable 2,021,790 2,021,790
Due to related parties (Note 19) 772,561 1,031,812
Lease liabilities 1,455,295 1,534,154
Gift checks redeemable and others 4,286,074 2,948,422

P=124,957,682 P=141,451,764

* Includes unearned revenue from sale of real estate amounting to P=9,155.3 million and P=6,022.6 million as
 at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
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17. Long-term Debt

This account consists of:

Availment Maturity Interest Rate/Term Security

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)

(In Thousands)

Parent Company

     U.S. dollar-denominated June 10, 2014 -
July 16, 2019

September 18, 2020 -
June 28, 2024

Fixed 4.9%; three-
month LIBOR +

margin; semi-annual
and quarterly

Unsecured P=44,961,205 P=44,921,283

     Peso-denominated July 16, 2012 -
December 27, 2018

April 23, 2020 -
August 8, 2025

Fixed 4.4%-6.9%;
three-month PHP
BVAL + margin;
semi-annual and

quarterly

Unsecured 68,498,010 68,498,010

Subsidiaries

     U.S. dollar-denominated March 21, 2016 -
April 15, 2019

January 29, 2021  -
 February 28, 2024

LIBOR + spread;
semi-annual

Unsecured 39,783,902 39,749,299

     China Yuan Renminbi-
denominated

January 14, 2016 -
October 16, 2017

June 1, 2020 -
October 16, 2022

CBC rate less 10.0%;
quarterly; Fixed 5.8%

Secured 2,619,723 2,670,803

     Peso-denominated January 12, 2012 -
March 31, 2020

June 3, 2020 -
August 7, 2029

Fixed 3.8%-7.6%;
BVAL + margin

Unsecured 206,431,964 202,247,332

362,294,804 358,086,727
Less debt issue cost 1,568,868 1,650,800

360,725,936 356,435,927
Less current portion 50,151,469 29,077,719

P=310,574,467 P=327,358,208

BVAL – Bloomberg Valuation

LIBOR – London Interbank Offered Rate
CBC – Central Bank of China

Repayment Schedule
The repayment schedule of long-term debt as at March 31, 2020 follows:

Gross Debt Debt Issue Cost Net
(In Thousands)

Within 1 year P=50,214,643 P=63,174 P=50,151,469
Over 1 year to 5 years 290,904,221 1,472,512 289,431,709
Over 5 years 21,175,940 33,182 21,142,758

P=362,294,804 P=1,568,868 P=360,725,936

Covenants
The long-term debt of the Group is covered with certain covenants including adherence to financial
ratios.  The Parent Company’s loan covenants include adherence to certain financial ratios namely:
(1) debt-to-equity ratio not to exceed 80:20, and, (2) current ratio at a minimum of 0.30, and, certain
restrictions with respect to material change in ownership or control.  SM Prime Holdings, Inc. (SM
Prime’s) loan covenants include adherence to certain financial ratios namely: (1) current ratio of not
less than 1:1, (2) debt to equity ratio of not more than 70:30 to 75:25, and (3) interest coverage ratio
of not less than 2.5x; and, certain restrictions with respect to material change in ownership or
control.  As at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Group is in compliance with the terms of
its debt covenants.
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18. Equity

Capital Stock

a. Common stock

Number of Shares

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)

Authorized - P=10 par value per share 2,790,000,000 2,790,000,000

Issued and subscribed 1,204,582,867 1,204,582,867

As at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Parent Company is compliant with the
minimum public float as required by the PSE.

The total number of shareholders of the Parent Company is 1,260 and 1,261 as at March 31, 2020
and December 31, 2019, respectively.

b. Redeemable preferred shares

Number of Shares

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)

Authorized - P=10 par value per share 10,000,000 10,000,000

There are no issued and subscribed preferred shares as at March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.

Retained Earnings

§ Appropriated

Retained earnings appropriated as at March 31, 2020 is intended for the payment of certain long-
term debts and new investments as follows:

Timeline Amount
(In Thousands)

Debt service 2020 - 2023 P=27,000,000
Investments 2020 - 2021 10,000,000

P=37,000,000
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§ Unappropriated

The Parent Company’s cash dividend declaration in 2019 follows:

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Per Share Total

(In Thousands)

April 24, 2019 May 9, 2019 May 23, 2019 P=9.12 P=10,985,796

Unappropriated retained earnings include the accumulated equity in net earnings of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures amounting to P=246,523.1 million and P=237,286.0 million as at
March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, that is not available for distribution until
such time that the Parent Company receives the dividends from the respective subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

19. Related Party Disclosures

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly and indirectly, to control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.

The significant transactions with related parties follow:

§ Rent

The Group has existing lease agreements for office and commercial spaces with related
companies (retail and banking group and other related parties under common stockholders).

§ Management and Service Fees

The Parent Company and SM Retail Inc. receive management and service fees from retail entities
under common stockholders for management, consultancy, manpower and other services.

§ Dividend Income

The Group earns dividend income from certain related parties under common stockholders.

§ Cash Placements and Loans

The Group has certain bank accounts and cash placements as well as bank loans and debts with
BDO Unibank, Inc. and China Banking Corporation.  Such accounts earn interest at prevailing
market rates.

§ Notes Receivable

The Group has certain notes receivable from Carmen Copper Corporation (see Notes 14 and 22).

§ Others

The Group, in the normal course of business, has outstanding receivables from and payables to
related companies which are unsecured and normally settled in cash.
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The related party transactions and outstanding balances follow:

Transaction Amount Outstanding Amount

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

March 31,
2019

(Unaudited)

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited) Terms Conditions

(In Thousands)

Banking Group

Cash placement and investment in

marketable securities

P=62,855,860 P=60,819,475 Interest-bearing

at prevailing rates

Unsecured;

no impairment

Interest receivable 272,162 96,400 – –

Interest income P=495,462 P=759,597 – –

Interest-bearing debt 31,660,732 25,787,720 Interest-bearing Unsecured

Interest payable 116,387 85,185 – –

Interest expense 1,045,164 580,290 – –

Rent receivable 33,254 130,907 Noninterest-bearing Unsecured;

no impairment

Rent income 184,718 250,409 – –

Receivable financed 2,350,503 – Without recourse Unsecured

Dividends receivable 486 13,462 Noninterest-bearing Unsecured;

no impairment

Bonds and deposits 17,738,000 17,722,250 Interest-bearing

4.5%

Unsecured;

no impairment

Management and service fee receivable 8,459 16,882 Noninterest-bearing Unsecured;

no impairment

Management and service fee income 49 642 – –

Escrow fund 275,295 250,445 Interest-bearing

at prevailing rates

Unsecured;

no impairment

Retail and Other Entities

Rent receivable 103,976 301,606 Noninterest-bearing Unsecured;

no impairment

Rent income 378,427 491,970 – –

Management and service fee receivable 1,406,616 1,938,102 Noninterest-bearing Unsecured;

no impairment

Management and service fee income 162,103 244,773 – –

Due from related parties 2,238,431 1,079,944 Noninterest-bearing Unsecured;

no impairment

Due to related parties 772,561 1,031,812 Noninterest-bearing Unsecured

Interest receivable 11,566 9,905 – –

Interest income 92,391 86,509 – –

Dividend receivable 274,720 369,988 Noninterest-bearing Unsecured;

no impairment

Notes receivable 5,948,159 5,942,878 Interest-bearing

5.0% to 10.0%

Unsecured;

no impairment

Terms and Conditions of Transactions with Related Parties
The Group did not make any provision for impairment loss relating to amounts owed by related
parties.
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20. Cost of Merchandise Sales

This account consists of:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

March 31,
2019

(Unaudited)

(In Thousands)

Merchandise inventories at beginning of period P=33,157,622 P=31,836,333
Purchases 60,680,076 58,898,758

Total goods available for sale 93,837,698 90,735,091
Less merchandise inventories at end of period 34,402,700 34,944,905

P=59,434,998 P=55,790,186

21. Income Tax

Deferred tax assets of P=3,661.6 million and P=3,121.1 million as at March 31, 2020 and December 31,
2019, respectively, consist of the tax effects of unrealized gain on intercompany sale of investment
properties, unamortized past service cost and defined benefit liability, provision for doubtful accounts
and others, accrued leases, minimum corporate income tax, lease liabilities and net operating loss
carry over.

Deferred tax liabilities of P=10,534.9 million and P=9,604.0 million as at March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, respectively, consist of the tax effects of appraisal increment on investment
property, right-of-use assets, trademarks and brand names, capitalized interest, unrealized gross profit
on sale of real estate, accrued/deferred rent income and unamortized past service cost and defined
benefit asset.  The disproportionate relationship between income before income tax and the provision
for income tax is due to various factors such as interest income already subjected to final tax, non-
deductible interest expense, equity in net earnings of associates, and dividend income exempt from
tax.

22. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments follow:

· Interest rate risk. Fixed rate financial instruments are subject to fair value interest rate risk while
floating rate financial instruments are subject to cash flow interest rate risk.  Repricing of floating
rate financial instruments is mostly done at intervals of three months or six months.

· Foreign currency risk. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises as the Parent
Company and SM Prime have investments and debt issuances which are denominated in U.S.
Dollars and China Yuan Renminbi.

· Liquidity risk. Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may encounter difficulties
in raising funds to meet commitments from financial instruments.

· Credit risk. Refers to the risk that a borrower will default on any type of debt by failing to make
the required payments.
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· Equity price risk. The Group’s exposure to equity price risk pertains to its investments in quoted
equity shares which are classified as equity investments at FVOCI in the consolidated balance
sheets.  Equity price risk arises from changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of
individual stocks traded in the stock exchange.

The BOD reviews and approves the policies for managing each of these risks.

Interest Rate Risk
The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s
long-term debt obligations (see Note 17).

The Group maintains a conservative financing strategy and has preference for longer tenor credit with
fixed interest rate that matches the nature of its investments.  To manage this mix in a cost-efficient
manner, the Group enters into interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps in which the Group
agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable interest amounts
calculated by reference to an agreed notional amount.  The interest rate swaps economically hedge the
underlying debt obligations.  The cross-currency swaps were designated by the Group under cash
flow hedge accounting.

As at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, after taking into account the effect of the swaps,
approximately 79.4% and 79.0%, respectively of the Group’s borrowings, net of debt issue cost, is
kept at fixed interest rates.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Group aims to reduce foreign currency risks by employing on-balance sheet hedges and
derivatives such as foreign currency swap contracts, foreign cross-currency swaps, foreign currency
call options and non-deliverable forwards.

As at March 31, 2020, the Group’s foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities amounted to
P=25,637.8 million ($505.9 million) and P=24,252.8 million ($478.5 million), respectively.

As at December 31, 2019, the Group’s foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities amounted
to P=25,817.4 million ($509.9 million) and P=24,115.0 million ($476.3 million), respectively.

As at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, approximately 21.9% and 23.1%, respectively, of the
Group’s borrowings, net of debt issue cost, are denominated in foreign currency.

The following exchange rates were used in translating foreign currency-denominated assets and
liabilities into Pesos.

March 31,

2020

December 31,
2019

Philippine Peso to U.S. Dollar P=50.68 P=50.64

Liquidity Risk
The Group manages its liquidity to ensure adequate financing of capital expenditures and debt
service.  Financing consists of internally generated funds, proceeds from debt and equity issues,
and/or sales of assets.

The Group regularly evaluates its projected and actual cash flow information and assesses conditions
in the financial markets for opportunities to pursue fundraising initiatives including bank loans,
export credit agency-guaranteed facilities, bonds and equity market issues.
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Credit Risk
The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy related and third parties.  The Group policy
requires customers who wish to trade on credit terms to undergo credit verification.  In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on a regular basis to keep exposure to bad debts at the minimum.
Given the Group’s diverse customer base, it is not exposed to large concentrations of credit risk.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group which consist of cash
and cash equivalents, time deposits, and certain derivative instruments, the Group’s credit risk arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these
instruments.

Receivables from sale of real estate have minimal credit risk and are effectively collateralized by the

respective units sold since title to the real estate properties are not transferred to the buyers until full
payment is made.

As at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the financial assets, except for some receivables, are
generally viewed by the management as good and collectible considering the credit history of the
counterparties.  Past due or impaired financial assets are very minimal in relation to the Group’s total
financial assets.

Equity Price Risk
Management closely monitors the equity securities in its investment portfolio.  Material equity
investments within the portfolio are managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are
approved by management.

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes appropriate adjustments based on changes in
economic conditions.  Accordingly, the Group may adjust dividend payments to shareholders, secure
new and/or payoff existing debts, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group monitors its capital gearing by maintaining its net debt at no higher than 50% of the sum
of net debt and equity.

The Group’s gearing ratios follow:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)

Gross 42% 41%
Net 38% 36%
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23. Financial Instruments

The Group’s financial assets and liabilities by category and by class, except for those with carrying
amounts that are reasonable approximations of fair values, follow:

March 31, 2020

(Unaudited)

Carrying

Value Fair Value

Quoted Prices

in Active

Markets

(Level 1)

Significant

Observable

Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

(Level 3)

(In Thousands)
Assets Measured at Fair Value

Financial assets at FVOCI

Listed shares of stock P=15,911,581 P=15,911,581 P=15,911,581 P=– P=–

Unlisted shares of stock 2,678,509 2,678,509 – – 2,678,509

Club shares 15,700 15,700 – 15,700 –

Derivative assets 834,730 834,730 – 834,730 –

19,440,520 19,440,520 15,911,581 850,430 2,678,509

Assets for which Fair Values are Disclosed

Time deposits - noncurrent portion 2,412,972 2,412,972 – – 2,412,972

 Other noncurrent assets:
Bonds and deposits 17,738,000 20,714,251 – – 20,714,251

Long-term notes 5,948,159 7,861,676 – – 7,861,676

26,099,131 30,988,899 – – 30,988,899

P=45,539,651 P=50,429,419 P=15,911,581 P=850,430 P=33,667,408

Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

Derivative liabilities P=1,556,256 P=1,556,256 P=– P=1,556,256 P=–

Liabilities for which Fair Values are Disclosed

Long-term debt (noncurrent portion, net of debt issue cost) 310,574,467 296,867,413 – – 296,867,413

Lease liabilities - noncurrent portion 27,397,531 39,783,809 39,783,809

Tenants’ deposits and others* 37,449,263 34,686,806 – – 34,686,806

375,421,261 371,338,028 – – 371,338,028

P=376,977,517 P=372,894,284 P=– P=1,556,256 P=371,338,028

*Excluding nonfinancial liabilities amounting to P=6,281.9 million

December 31, 2019

(Audited)

Carrying

Value Fair Value

Quoted Prices

in Active
Markets

(Level 1)

Significant

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

Unobservable
Inputs

(Level 3)

(In Thousands)
Assets Measured at Fair Value

Financial assets at FVOCI
Listed shares of stock P=22,240,653 P=22,240,653 P=22,240,653 P=– P=–

Unlisted shares of stock 2,635,484 2,635,484 – – 2,635,484
Club shares 12,500 12,500 – 12,500 –

Derivative assets 826,315 826,315 – 826,315 –

25,714,952 25,714,952 22,240,653 838,815 2,635,484

Assets for which Fair Values are Disclosed

Time deposits - noncurrent portion 2,412,972 2,386,637 – – 2,386,637
 Other noncurrent assets:

Bonds and deposits 17,722,250 19,763,982 – – 19,763,982
Long-term notes 5,942,878 7,577,904 – – 7,577,904

26,078,100 29,728,523 – – 29,728,523

P=51,793,052 P=55,443,475 P=22,240,653 P=838,815 P=32,364,007

Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

Derivative liabilities P=1,966,090 P=1,966,090 P=– P=1,966,090 P=–

Liabilities for which Fair Values are Disclosed

 Long-term debt (noncurrent portion and net of

unamortized debt issue cost) 327,358,208 331,463,306 – – 331,463,306
Lease liabilities - noncurrent portion 27,600,392 38,144,838 – – 38,144,838

Tenants’ deposits and others* 35,607,059 32,355,186 – – 32,355,186

390,565,659 401,963,330 – – 401,963,330

P=392,531,749 P=403,929,420 P=– P=1,966,090 P=401,963,330

*Excluding nonfinancial liabilities amounting to P=5,086.4 million.

There were no transfers into and out of Levels 1, 2 and 3 fair value measurements as at
March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
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The estimated fair value of the following financial instruments is based on the discounted value of
future cash flows using the prevailing interest rates.  Discount rates used follow:

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

December 31,
2019

(Audited)

Noncurrent portion of time deposits 4.77% - 5.47% 4.41% - 4.74%
Long-term notes included under

“Other noncurrent assets” account 0.46% - 1.46% 1.69% - 1.94%
Tenants’ deposits 3.18% - 7.86% 3.12% - 4.74%

Long-term Debt.  The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on the following assumptions:

Debt Fair Value Assumptions

Fixed Rate Estimated fair value is based on the discounted value
of future cash flows using the applicable rates for
similar types of loans.  Discount rates used range from
0.5% to 7.7% and 1.7% to 6.5% as at March 31, 2020
and December 31, 2019, respectively.

Variable Rate For variable rate loans that re-price every three months,
the carrying value approximates the fair value because
of recent and regular repricing based on current market
rates.  For variable rate loans that re-price every six
months, the fair value is determined by discounting the
principal amount plus the next interest payment
amount using the prevailing market rate for the period
up to the next repricing date.  Discount rates used were
2.3% to 6.7% and 3.0% to 7.0% as at March 31, 2020
and December 31, 2019, respectively.

Derivative Instruments Accounted for as Cash Flow Hedges
As at March 31, 2020, the Parent Company and SM Prime have outstanding arrangements to hedge
both foreign currency and interest rate exposure on its foreign currency-denominated debt.  Details
follow:

Cross-currency swaps:

Notional Amount

(In US$) (In PhP=) (In CN¥) Principal Fair Value Receive Pay US$:PhP= US$:CN¥ Maturity

(In Thousands)

Parent:
$53,000 P=2,761,300 P=2,686,040 (P=87,375) LIBOR + spread 5.3% P=52.10 March 6, 2023

100,000 5,210,000 5,068,000 (288,809) LIBOR + spread 5.9% 52.10 April 16, 2023

56,159 3,000,000 2,846,125 (272,110) LIBOR + spread 6.1% 53.42 July 26, 2023

100,000 5,140,000 5,068,000 (105,313) LIBOR + spread 5.5% 51.40 June 28, 2024

100,000 5,115,000 5,068,000 (71,153) LIBOR + spread 5.4% 51.15 June 28, 2024

SM Prime:
50,000 2,666,500 2,534,000 (290,424) LIBOR + spread 6.4% 53.33 June 14, 2023

60,000 3,199,200 3,040,800 (353,581) LIBOR + spread 6.4% 53.32 June 14, 2023

25,000 ¥172,100 1,267,000 (35,546) LIBOR + spread 5.4% ¥6.884 March 27, 2022

25,000 172,300 1,267,000 (36,604) LIBOR + spread 5.4% 6.892 March 27, 2022

50,000 327,315 2,534,000 67,261 LIBOR + spread 5.0% 6.546 June 30, 2022

50,000 335,940 2,534,000 18,507 LIBOR + spread 4.0% 6.719 February 28, 2024

50,000 335,725 2,534,000 25,599 LIBOR + spread 3.9% 6.715 February 28, 2024

50,000 335,750 2,534,000 13,606 LIBOR + spread 3.9% 6.715 February 28, 2024

50,000 334,400 2,534,000 4,594 LIBOR + spread 3.9% 6.688 February 28, 2024

50,000 335,750 2,534,000 16,834 LIBOR + spread 3.9% 6.715 February 28, 2024

36,000 241,643 1,824,480 15,695 LIBOR + spread 3.9% 6.712 February 28, 2024



- 22 -

*SGVFSM003031*

Principal only and interest rate swaps:

Fair Value

Notional
Amount Principal

Principal
Only Swap

Interest
Rate Swap

Interest
Rate US$:CN¥ Maturity

(In Thousands)
SM Prime US$270,000 P=13,683,654 P=744,784 (P=86,949) 6.2% ¥6.458-6.889 January 29, 2021

As the terms of the swaps have been negotiated to match the terms of the hedged loans and advances,
the hedges are assessed to be highly effective.

Other Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Accounting Hedges

Non-deliverable Forwards and Swaps.  The net fair value changes from the settled currency forward
and swap contracts recognized in the interim consolidated statements of income amounted to nil in
2020 and P=20.0 million gain in 2019.

24. EPS Computation

March 31,

2020

(Unaudited)

March 31,
2019

(Unaudited)

(In Thousands Except Per Share Data)

Net income attributable to owners of the Parent (a) P=9,007,277 P=10,690,220

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (b) 1,204,583 1,204,583

EPS (a/b) P=7.48 P=8.87

25. Events After the Reporting Period

Declaration of Dividends
On June 24, 2020, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividend amounting
to P=5,119.5 million or P=4.25 per share in favor of all stockholders of record as at July 9, 2020,
payable on July 23, 2020.

26. Other Matters

COVID-19 Outbreak
In a move to contain the COVID-19 outbreak, on March 13, 2020, the Office of the President of the
Philippines issued a Memorandum directive to impose stringent social distancing measures in the
National Capital Region (NCR) effective March 15, 2020.  On March 16, 2020, Presidential
Proclamation No. 929 was issued, declaring a State of Calamity throughout the Philippines for a
period of six (6) months and imposed an enhanced community quarantine throughout the island of
Luzon until April 12, 2020, which was subsequently extended to April 30, 2020 and further extended
to May 15, 2020.  The enhanced community quarantine shifted to modified enhanced community
quarantine until May 31, 2020 and to general community quarantine until June 30, 2020 for NCR and
certain provinces.
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The declaration of COVID-19 as a pandemic by the World Health Organization (WHO), the
declaration of nationwide state of calamity and implementation of community quarantine throughout
the Philippines starting March 16 and in most parts of China starting January 25, have caused
disruptions in the Group’s business activities.  As this global problem evolves, the Group would
continually adapt and adjust its business model according to the business environment in the areas
where the Group operates, in full cooperation with the national and local government units.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
SM Investments Corporation

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SM Investments Corporation and Subsidiaries
(the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the
consolidated statements of income, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated
statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2019, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2019 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs).  Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit

of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.  The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
1226 Makati City
Philippines

Tel: (632) 891 0307
Fax: (632) 819 0872
ey.com/ph

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
   October 4, 2018, valid until August 24, 2021
SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-5 (Group A),
   November 6, 2018, valid until November 5, 2021

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Adoption of PFRS 16, Leases

Effective January 1, 2019, the Group adopted PFRS 16, Leases, under the modified retrospective
approach which resulted in significant changes in the Group’s accounting policy for leases.  The Group’s
adoption of PFRS 16 is significant to our audit because the Group has high volume of lease agreements;
the recorded amounts are material to the consolidated financial statements; and adoption involves
significant judgment and estimation in determining the lease term, including evaluating whether the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise options to extend or terminate the lease, and in determining the
incremental borrowing rate.  This resulted in the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
amounting to P=32,020.3 million and P=24,781.2 million, respectively, as at January 1, 2019 and the
recognition of depreciation expense and interest expense of P=3,587.9 million and P=1,676.0 million,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2019.

The disclosures related to the adoption of PFRS 16 applied by the Group are included in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Audit Response

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s process in implementing the new standard on leases,
including the determination of the population of the lease contracts covered by PFRS 16, the application
of the short-term and low-value assets exemption, the selection of the transition approach and any
election of available practical expedients.

We tested the population of lease agreements by tracing the lease agreements to the master lease schedule
of the Group.

On a test basis, we inspected lease agreements, identified their contractual terms and conditions, and
traced these contractual terms and conditions to the lease calculations prepared by management, which
covers the calculation of financial impact of PFRS 16, including the transition adjustments.

For selected lease contracts with renewal and/or termination option, we reviewed the management’s
assessment of whether it is reasonably certain that the Group will exercise the option to renew or not
exercise the option to terminate.

We tested the parameters used in the determination of the incremental borrowing rate by reference to
market data.  We test computed the lease calculation prepared by management on a sample basis,
including the transition adjustments.

We reviewed the disclosures related to the transition adjustments based on the requirements of PFRS 16
and Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and

Errors.

Recoverability of Goodwill

As at December 31, 2019, the Group reported P=17,366.8 million goodwill attributable mainly to SM
Prime Holdings, Inc., Supervalue, Inc., Super Shopping Market, Inc., Neo Subsidiaries, Waltermart
Supermarket, Incorporated and others.  The Group performed an annual testing per cash generating unit
(CGU) to assess whether goodwill might be impaired.  Given the significant management estimates and

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



*SGVFS038966*

- 3 -

assumptions, and the uncertainty of internal and external factors, including future market circumstances,
this is considered as a key audit matter.

The assumptions, sensitivities and results of the annual impairment testing are disclosed in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Audit Response

We involved our internal specialist in assessing the methodologies and assumptions used by the Group in
calculating each CGU’s recoverable amount.  For the fair value less cost of disposal calculations, we
evaluated the approach used by the Group and reviewed the calculations performed with reference to the
observable market prices and allowable costs for disposing the asset.  For the value-in-use calculations,
we assessed the prospective financial information (PFI) for each CGU by understanding the Group’s
approach to develop the PFI and evaluating the key assumptions used such as revenue.  We reviewed the
key assumptions used by comparing the PFI to historical operating results.  We also involved our internal
specialist in recalculating the discount rates used for each CGU.  Recalculations involve comparison to
publicly available market information, cost of debt and equity and other relevant risk factors.  We
performed sensitivity analyses to understand the impact of reasonable changes in the key assumptions.

Accounting for Investments in Associate Companies

As at December 31, 2019, the Group’s investments in associate companies amounted to
P=272,671.6 million, representing 30.4% and 23.8% of the Group’s total noncurrent assets and total assets,
respectively.  The investments in associate companies are accounted for under the equity method and
considered for impairment if there are indicators that such investments may be impaired.  Given the
magnitude of the carrying amount and share in equity on investments in associate companies, as well as
the significant management judgments and estimates applied in determining the recoverable amount of
these investments, we consider this matter significant to our audit.

The details of these investments are disclosed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Response

We obtained relevant financial information of the associate companies and recomputed the Group’s share
in equity in net earnings.  For investments with indicators of possible impairment, we obtained
management’s impairment analysis and gained an understanding of their impairment assessment process.
We discussed the current and projected financial performance of the associate companies with
management and assessed whether these were reflected in the Group’s own assumptions.  We also
involved our internal specialist in assessing the Group’s methodology and assumptions used in calculating
the associate companies’ recoverable amount.  We reviewed the key inputs used such as growth rates,
gross margins, projected earnings before interest and taxes, effective tax rates, non-cash charges, net
working capital changes, capital expenditures and others.  For growth rates, we have assessed the
reasonableness by comparing it with the long-term average growth rate for the products, industries, or
country where the entity operates.  We have assessed the PFI for the CGU by understanding the Group’s
approach to develop the PFI and evaluating the key assumptions used.  We reviewed the key assumptions
used by comparing the PFI with the industry practice.  We also involved our internal specialist in
recalculating the discount rate used that involves comparison to publicly available market information,
cost of debt and equity and other relevant risk factors.  We performed sensitivity analyses to understand
the impact of reasonable changes in the key assumptions.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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For the material associate company audited by other auditor, we sent audit instructions to the other
auditor to perform an audit on the relevant financial information of the associate company for the purpose
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.  Our audit instructions detailed the other auditor’s scope
of work, audit strategy and reporting requirements.  We discussed with the other auditor their key audit
areas, including areas of significant judgments and estimates, and their audit findings.  We focused on the
other auditor’s procedures on the review of the classification and measurement, expected credit loss and
hedge accounting related to its financial instruments and revenue recognition.

Real Estate Revenue Recognition

The Group applies PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, in recognizing revenue from sale
of real estate units.  The following matters are significant to our audit because these involve application of
significant judgment and estimation: (1) identification of the contract for sale of real estate property that
would meet the requirements of PFRS 15; (2) assessment of the probability that the entity will collect the
consideration from the buyer; (3) determination of the transaction price; (4) application of the output
method as the measure of progress in determining revenue from real estate sale; (5) determination of the
actual costs incurred as cost of real estate sold; and (6) recognition of costs to obtain a contract.

The Group identifies the contract that meets all the criteria required under PFRS 15 for a valid revenue
contract.  In the absence of a signed contract to sell, the Group identifies alternative documentation that
are enforceable and that contain each party’s rights regarding the real estate property to be transferred, the
payment terms and the contract’s commercial substance.

In evaluating whether collectibility of the amount of consideration is probable, the Group considers the
significance of the buyer’s initial payments in relation to the total contract price (or buyer’s equity).
Collectibility is also assessed by considering factors such as past history with the buyer, age of the
outstanding receivables and pricing of the property.  Management regularly evaluates the historical sales
cancellations if it would still support its current threshold of buyers’ equity before commencing revenue
recognition.

In determining the transaction price, the Group considers the selling price of the real estate property and
other fees collected from the buyers that are not held on behalf of other parties.

In measuring the progress of its performance obligation over time, the Group uses the output method.
This method measures progress based on physical proportion of work done on the real estate project
which requires technical determination by the Group’s project engineers.  This is based on the monthly
project accomplishment report prepared by the third-party project managers as approved by the
construction managers.

The Group identifies sales commissions after contract inception as costs of obtaining a contract.  For
contracts which qualified for revenue recognition, the Group capitalizes the total sales commissions due
to sales agent as costs to obtain a contract and recognizes the related commissions payable.  The Group
uses percentage of completion (POC) method in amortizing sales commissions consistent with the
Group’s revenue recognition policy.

The disclosures related to the Group’s revenue recognition are included in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Audit Response

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s revenue recognition processes and tested relevant controls.

For the identification of the alternative documentation for sale of real estate property (in the absence of a
signed contract to sell) that would meet the requirements of PFRS 15, our audit procedures include,
among others, involvement of our internal specialist in reviewing the Group’s legal basis regarding the
enforceability of the alternative documentation against previous court decisions, buyers’ behavior and
industry practices.

For the buyers’ equity, we evaluated management’s basis of the buyer’s equity by comparing this to the
historical analysis of sales collections from buyers with accumulated payments above the collection
threshold.

For the determination of the transaction price, we obtained an understanding of the nature of other fees
charged to the buyers.  For selected contracts, we agreed the amounts excluded from the transaction price
against the expected amounts required to be remitted to the government based on existing tax rules and
regulations (e.g., documentary stamp taxes, transfer taxes and real property taxes).

For the application of the output method, in determining revenue from sale of real estate, we obtained an
understanding of the Group’s processes for determining the POC, and performed tests of the relevant
controls.  We obtained the certified POC reports prepared by the third-party project managers and
assessed their competence and objectivity by reference to their qualifications, experience and reporting
responsibilities.  For selected projects, we conducted ocular inspections, made relevant inquiries and
obtained the supporting details of POC reports showing the completion of the major activities of the
project construction.

For the cost of real estate sold, we obtained an understanding of the Group’s cost accumulation process
and performed tests of the relevant controls.  For selected projects, we traced costs accumulated,
including those incurred but not yet billed costs, to supporting documents such as contractors billing
invoices, certificates of progress acceptance, official receipts, among others.

For the recognition of cost to obtain a contract, we obtained an understanding of the sales commission
process. For selected contracts, we agreed the basis for calculating the sales commission capitalized and
portion recognized in profit or loss, particularly (a) the percentage of commissions due against contracts
with sales agents, (b) the total commissionable amount (e.g., net contract price) against the related
contract to sell, and, (c) the POC against the POC used in recognizing the related revenue from sale of
real estate.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Existence and Completeness of Merchandise Inventories

As at December 31, 2019, the merchandise inventories of certain subsidiaries of the Group amounted to
P=33,157.6 million, representing 13.4% and 2.9% of the Group’s total current assets and total assets,
respectively.  The Group has several warehouses and operates multiple stores across the country.  Since
the merchandise inventories are material to the consolidated financial statements, and various warehouses
and stores are geographically dispersed across the country, we consider this a key audit matter.

The disclosures about inventories are included in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Response

We obtained an understanding of the subsidiaries’ inventory process and performed test of controls for
selected stores and warehouses.  We visited selected warehouses and stores and observed the physical
inventory counts.  We performed test counts and compared the results to the subsidiaries’ inventory
compilation reports to determine if the compilation reports reflect the results of the inventory count.  We
reviewed the reconciliations performed by management and tested the reconciling items.  We performed
testing, on a sampling basis, of the subsidiaries’ rollforward or rollback procedures on inventory
quantities from the date of physical inventory count to the financial reporting date.

We also reviewed the working papers of other auditor on merchandise inventories, specifically on the
observation and testing of physical inventory counts, testing of compilation procedures and the
reconciliation of the physical inventory count to the general ledger and financial reports.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information
included in the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report
for the year ended December 31, 2019, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.  The SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2019 are expected to be made available to us after the
date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated

Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

· Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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· Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit.  We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is
Julie Christine O. Mateo.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Julie Christine O. Mateo
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 93542
SEC Accreditation No. 0780-AR-3 (Group A),
 August 16, 2018, valid until August 15, 2021
Tax Identification No. 198-819-116
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-68-2018,
 February 26, 2018, valid until February 25, 2021
PTR No. 8125278, January 7, 2020, Makati City

February 28, 2020

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in Thousands)

December 31

2019 2018

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 7 and 28) P=76,213,774 P=79,313,215
Time deposits (Notes 8 and 28) 30,488 25,842,829
Financial assets (Notes 9 and 28) 659,077 639,316
Receivables and contract assets (Notes 10, 28 and 29) 53,617,200 33,755,192
Merchandise inventories - at cost (Note 22) 33,157,622 31,836,333
Other current assets (Notes 11 and 28) 84,678,819 70,338,577

Total Current Assets 248,356,980 241,725,462

Noncurrent Assets

Financial assets - net of current portion (Notes 9 and 28) 24,229,560 26,702,764
Investments in associate companies and joint ventures (Note 12) 280,971,638 259,795,077
Time deposits - net of current portion (Notes 8, 28 and 29) 2,412,972 2,392,622
Property and equipment (Note 13) 24,720,873 23,201,667
Investment properties (Note 14) 338,075,303 309,264,274
Right-of-use assets (Note 27) 37,664,176 –
Land and development - net of current portion (Note 15) 74,946,694 53,928,447
Intangibles (Note 16) 25,289,609 25,470,696
Deferred tax assets (Note 26) 3,121,117 2,726,155
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 16 and 28) 84,375,645 115,435,107

Total Noncurrent Assets 895,807,587 818,916,809

P=1,144,164,567 P=1,060,642,271

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Bank loans (Notes 17, 21, 28 and 31) P=18,710,465 P=18,885,465
Accounts payable and other current liabilities (Notes 18 and 28) 141,451,764 124,777,719
Income tax payable 3,273,872 3,641,379
Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 19, 21, 28 and 31) 29,077,719 61,480,887
Dividends payable (Note 28) 4,204,962 3,906,476

Total Current Liabilities 196,718,782 212,691,926

Noncurrent Liabilities

Long-term debt - net of current portion (Notes 19, 21, 28, 29 and 31) 327,358,208 305,555,356
Lease liabilities - net of current portion (Notes 27 and 31) 27,600,392 –
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 26) 9,604,043 8,810,862
Tenants’ deposits and others (Notes 25, 27, 28 and 29) 46,731,664 41,294,115

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 411,294,307 355,660,333

Total Liabilities 608,013,089 568,352,259

(Forward)
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December 31

2019 2018

Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent

Capital stock (Note 20) P=12,045,829 P=12,045,829

Additional paid-in capital 75,815,923 75,815,520

Equity adjustments from common control transactions (Note 20) (5,424,455) (5,424,455)

Cost of Parent common shares held by subsidiaries (25,386) (25,386)
Cumulative translation adjustment 1,308,228 2,014,573
Net fair value changes on cash flow hedges (1,406,026) 62,444

Net unrealized gain on financial assets (Note 9) 14,399,640 11,748,980

Re-measurement loss on defined benefit asset/obligation (Note 25) (8,633,269) (2,063,358)

Retained earnings (Note 20):

Appropriated 37,000,000 37,000,000

Unappropriated 257,546,591 222,213,054

Total Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent 382,627,075 353,387,201

Non-controlling Interests 153,524,403 138,902,811

Total Equity 536,151,478 492,290,012

P=1,144,164,567 P=1,060,642,271

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Amounts in Thousands Except Per Share Data)

Years Ended December 31

2019 2018 2017

REVENUES

Sales:
Merchandise P=354,088,848 P=323,740,170 P=288,532,163

 Real estate 44,499,529 35,967,663 29,567,021
Rent (Notes 14, 21 and 27) 51,573,157 47,555,061 42,067,892
Equity in net earnings of associate companies and joint ventures

(Note 12) 26,038,426 19,164,345 16,640,597
Cinema ticket sales, amusement and others 7,739,761 7,286,654 6,578,362
Management and service fees (Note 21) 7,348,479 6,379,831 5,820,571
Dividend income (Note 21) 480,513 421,914 495,582
Gain on sale of financial assets - net (Note 9) 27,812 1,337 110,234
Others 9,855,370 9,271,192 8,135,798

501,651,895 449,788,167 397,948,220

COST AND EXPENSES

Cost of sales:
Merchandise (Note 22) 262,434,661 238,902,107 214,494,703
Real estate (Note 15) 20,806,612 17,852,270 15,260,313

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 23) 113,257,931 106,419,699 92,342,430

396,499,204 363,174,076 322,097,446

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES)

Interest expense (Notes 21 and 24) (19,194,311) (16,574,388) (15,580,819)
Interest income (Notes 21 and 24) 3,881,156 3,754,141 4,003,501
Gain on disposal of investments and properties - net 193,878 64,034 22,702
Gain on fair value changes on derivatives - net (Note 29) 6,379 454,941 296,334
Impairment loss on investment (Note 12) (3,987,000) – –
Foreign exchange gain (loss) - net (Note 28) 561,705 (182,483) 698,742

(18,538,193) (12,483,755) (10,559,540)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 86,614,498 74,130,336 65,291,234

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 26)
Current 16,218,229 15,115,326 13,616,519
Deferred 951,955 460,442 156,198

17,170,184 15,575,768 13,772,717

NET INCOME P=69,444,314 P=58,554,568 P=51,518,517

Attributable to

Owners of the Parent (Note 30) P=44,568,244 P=37,078,325 P=32,923,455
Non-controlling interests 24,876,070 21,476,243 18,595,062

P=69,444,314 P=58,554,568 P=51,518,517

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Common Share

Attributable to Owners of the Parent (Note 30) P=37.00 P=30.78 P=27.33

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2019 2018 2017

NET INCOME P=69,444,314 P=58,554,568 P=51,518,517

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss

in subsequent periods

Net unrealized gain on financial assets – – 4,973,426
Share in unrealized gain (loss) on financial assets

of associates (Note 12) 4,505,589 (3,502,992) 354,028

Cumulative translation adjustment (1,011,736) 326,536 1,243,928

Net fair value changes on cash flow hedges (1,712,763) 2,589 (1,266,333)
Income tax relating to items to be reclassified to profit

or loss in subsequent periods – – (147,803)

1,781,090 (3,173,867) 5,157,246

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

Re-measurement loss on defined benefit obligation (Note 25) (8,209,190) (2,080,805) (416,283)
Net unrealized loss on financial assets (176,975) (520,230) –
Income tax relating to items not to be reclassified to profit

or loss in subsequent periods 553,736 (84,499) 124,884

(7,832,429) (2,685,534) (291,399)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=63,392,975 P=52,695,167 P=56,384,364

Attributable to

Owners of the Parent P=40,223,919 P=31,112,015 P=36,916,903
Non-controlling interests 23,169,056 21,583,152 19,467,461

P=63,392,975 P=52,695,167 P=56,384,364

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

(Amounts in Thousands Except Per Share Data)

Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent

Capital Stock

Additional

Paid-in Capital

Equity

Adjustments

from Common

Control

Transactions

Cost of Parent

Common

Shares Held

by Subsidiaries

Cumulative

Translation

Adjustment

Net Fair Value

Changes on Cash

Flow Hedges

Net Unrealized

Gain (Loss) on

Financial Assets

Re-measurement

Gain (Loss) on

Defined

Benefit Asset/

Obligation

Appropriated

Retained

Earnings

Unappropriated

Retained

Earnings Total

Non-controlling

Interests

Total

Equity

As at January 1, 2019 P=12,045,829 P=75,815,520 (P=5,424,455) (P=25,386) P=2,014,573 P=62,444 P=11,748,980 (P=2,063,358) P=37,000,000 P=222,213,054 P=353,387,201 P=138,902,811 P=492,290,012

Net income – – – – – – – – – 44,568,244 44,568,244 24,876,070 69,444,314

Other comprehensive income – – – – (706,345) (1,468,470) 4,400,401 (6,569,911) – – (4,344,325) (1,707,014) (6,051,339)

Total comprehensive income – – – – (706,345) (1,468,470) 4,400,401 (6,569,911) – 44,568,244 40,223,919 23,169,056 63,392,975

Realized gain on sale of financial assets at FVOCI (Note 9) – – – – – – (1,749,741) – –  1,749,741 – – –

Sale of non-controlling interests – 403 – – – – – – – – 403 (81,462) (81,059)

Cash dividends - P=9.12 per share (Note 20) – – – – – – – – – (10,984,448) (10,984,448) – (10,984,448)

Cash dividends received by non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – – – (9,824,854) (9,824,854)

Effect of business combination (Note 5) – – – – – – – – – – – 1,358,352 1,358,352

Increase in previous year’s non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – – – 500 500

As at December 31, 2019 P=12,045,829 P=75,815,923 (P=5,424,455) (P=25,386) P=1,308,228 (P=1,406,026) P=14,399,640 (P=8,633,269) P=37,000,000 P=257,546,591 P=382,627,075 P=153,524,403 P=536,151,478

As at January 1, 2018, as previously reported P=12,045,829 P=76,439,288 (P=5,424,455) (P=25,386) P=1,609,600 (P=206,977) P=15,324,123 (P=701,255) P=37,000,000 P=192,071,968 P=328,132,735 P=125,679,489 P=453,812,224
Effect of adoption of new accounting standards – – – – – – 1,703,458 – – 2,940,327 4,643,785 – 4,643,785

As adjusted 12,045,829 76,439,288 (5,424,455) (25,386) 1,609,600 (206,977) 17,027,581 (701,255) 37,000,000 195,012,295 332,776,520 125,679,489 463,099,794

Net income – – – – – – – – – 37,078,325 37,078,325 21,476,243 58,554,568
Other comprehensive income – – – – 404,973 269,421 (5,278,601) (1,362,103) – – (5,966,310) 106,909 (5,859,401)

Total comprehensive income – – – – 404,973 269,421 (5,278,601) (1,362,103) – 37,078,325 31,112,015 21,583,152 52,695,167
Sale of treasury shares held by a subsidiary – 291,088 – – – – – – – – 291,088 294,120 585,208
Acquisition of non-controlling interests – (914,856) – – – – – – – – (914,856) (857,160) (1,772,016)
Cash dividends - P=8.20 per share (Note 20) – – – – – – – – – (9,877,566) (9,877,566) – (9,877,566)
Cash dividends received by non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – – – (7,844,484) (7,844,484)
Increase in previous year’s non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – – 47,694 47,694

As at December 31, 2018 P=12,045,829 P=75,815,520 (P=5,424,455) (P=25,386) P=2,014,573 P=62,444 P=11,748,980 (P=2,063,358) P=37,000,000 P=222,213,054 P=353,387,201 P=138,902,811 P=492,290,012
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Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent

Capital Stock

Additional

Paid-in Capital

Equity

Adjustments

from Common

Control

Transactions

Cost of Parent

Common

Shares Held

by Subsidiaries

Cumulative

Translation

Adjustment

Net Fair Value

Changes on Cash

Flow Hedges

Net Unrealized

Gain (Loss) on

Financial Assets

Re-measurement

Gain (Loss) on

Defined

Benefit Asset/

Obligation

Appropriated

Retained

Earnings

Unappropriated

Retained

Earnings Total

Non-controlling

Interests

Total

Equity

As at January 1, 2017 P=12,045,829 P=76,347,229 (P=5,424,455) (P=25,386) P=721,994 P=494,724 P=10,780,430 P=34,895 P=36,000,000 P=169,508,122 P=300,483,382 P=114,263,880 P=414,747,262

Net income – – – – – – – – – 32,923,455 32,923,455 18,595,062 51,518,517
Other comprehensive income – – – – 887,606 (701,701) 4,543,693 (736,150) – – 3,993,448 872,399 4,865,847

Total comprehensive income – – – – 887,606 (701,701) 4,543,693 (736,150) – 32,923,455 36,916,903 19,467,461 56,384,364
Reversal of appropriation (Note 20) – – – – – – – – (27,800,000) 27,800,000 – – –
Appropriation (Note 20) – – – – – – – – 28,800,000 (28,800,000) – – –
Sale of treasury shares held by a subsidiary – 78,810 – – – – – – – – 78,810 79,506 158,316
Acquisition of non-controlling interests – 13,249 – – – – – – – – 13,249 (247,159) (233,910)
Cash dividends - P=7.77 per share (Note 20) – – – – – – – – – (9,359,609) (9,359,609) – (9,359,609)
Cash dividends received by non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – – – (6,709,448) (6,709,448)
Decrease in previous year’s non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – – – (1,174,751) (1,174,751)

As at December 31, 2017 P=12,045,829 P=76,439,288 (P=5,424,455) (P=25,386) P=1,609,600 (P=206,977) P=15,324,123 (P=701,255) P=37,000,000 P=192,071,968 P=328,132,735 P=125,679,489 P=453,812,224

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in Thousands)

 Years Ended December 31

2019 2018 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Income before income tax P=86,614,498 P=74,130,336 P=65,291,234
Adjustments for:
 Equity in net earnings of associate companies and joint ventures

(Note 12) (26,038,426) (19,164,345) (16,640,597)
Depreciation and amortization (Notes 13, 14, 16, 23 and 27) 19,370,843 15,161,207 14,020,884
Interest expense (Note 24) 19,194,311 16,574,388 15,580,819
Interest income (Note 24) (3,881,156) (3,754,141) (4,003,501)

 Impairment loss on investment (Note 12) 3,987,000 – –

Provisions - net (Notes 10, 14 and 23) 2,609,386 2,207,458 1,488,855
Dividend income (Note 21) (480,513) (421,914) (495,582)
Unrealized foreign exchange loss - net 220,432 1,002,006 275,731
Gain on disposal of investments and properties - net (Notes 13 and 14) (193,878) (64,034) (22,702)
Gain on sale of financial assets - net (Note 9) (27,812) (1,337) (110,234)
Gain on fair value changes on derivatives - net (Note 29) (6,379) (454,941) (296,334)

Income before working capital changes 101,368,306 85,214,683 75,088,573
Decrease (increase) in:

Receivables and contract assets (2,848,713) (1,437,678) (616,938)
Merchandise inventories (1,321,289) (4,057,592) (1,953,451)
Other current assets (6,103,198) 5,535,204 1,996,544
Land and development (27,669,751) (37,802,279) (29,891,127)

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 21,611,185 15,835,135 18,509,650

 Tenants’ deposits and others (2,498,565) 10,571,079 4,354,177

Net cash generated from operations 82,537,975 73,858,552 67,487,428
Income tax paid (16,576,112) (13,356,939) (14,425,107)

Net cash provided by operating activities 65,961,863 60,501,613 53,062,321

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of:
Financial assets 3,814,634 771,361 1,983,045
Property and equipment 343,228 203,564 182,366
Investment properties 117,429 105,524 70,301

Additions to:
Investment properties (Note 14) (36,902,404) (27,554,245) (25,806,496)
Property and equipment (Note 13) (7,446,414) (6,452,489) (5,067,991)
Investments in associate companies and joint ventures (Note 12) (5,330,780) (3,849,756) (47,832,363)

 Financial assets (3,261,682) (2,463,985) (3,272,984)
Decrease (increase) in:

Time deposits 25,111,241 12,913,443 26,473,746
Other noncurrent assets (1,543,199) (28,224,945) (11,201,733)

Dividends received 5,558,665 4,945,350 4,175,190
Cash from acquisition of subsidiaries, net of purchase consideration 327,140 – –

Interest received 4,048,370 3,827,116 4,182,186

Net cash used in investing activities (15,163,772) (45,779,062) (56,114,733)

(Forward)
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 Years Ended December 31

2019 2018 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Availments of:
Long-term debt (Note 31) P=52,895,468 P=70,787,135 P=55,866,308
Bank loans (Note 31) 25,266,865 32,199,317 59,419,602

Payments of:

Long-term debt (Note 31) (64,799,259) (40,292,241) (31,640,120)
Interest (Note 31) (22,289,039) (18,043,821) (16,510,177)
Bank loans (Note 31) (21,376,865) (37,256,817) (49,234,402)
Lease liabilities (Notes 27 and 31) (2,854,295) – –

Dividends (Note 31) (20,510,816) (17,674,115) (16,432,295)
Proceeds from maturity of derivatives 395,722 – –

Reissuance by a subsidiary of treasury shares – 585,207 158,316

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (53,272,219) (9,695,335) 1,627,232

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,474,128) 5,027,216 (1,425,180)

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES

ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (625,313) (32,191) 795,639

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING

OF YEAR (Note 7) 79,313,215 74,318,190 74,947,731

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 7) P=76,213,774 P=79,313,215 P=74,318,190

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

SM Investments Corporation (SMIC or Parent Company) was incorporated in the Philippines on
January 15, 1960.  On December 27, 2019, the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) approved the amendment of the Parent Company’s articles of incorporation changing its
corporate life to perpetual.  Its registered office address is 10th Floor, One E-Com Center, Harbor
Drive, Mall of Asia Complex, CBP-1A, Pasay City 1300.

SMIC is the largest publicly listed company in the Philippines that is invested in market leading
businesses in retail, banking and property.  It also invests in ventures that capture high growth
opportunities in the emerging Philippine economy.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of
Directors (BOD), as approved and recommended for approval by the Audit Committee on
February 28, 2020.

2. Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance

Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
derivative financial instruments and financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, which is the Parent
Company’s functional and presentation currency under Philippine Financial Reporting Standards
(PFRSs).  All values are rounded to the nearest thousand Peso except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of Compliance
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with PFRS,
which include the availment of the relief granted by the SEC under Memorandum Circular No. 14,
Series of 2018, Memorandum Circular No. 3, Series of 2019 and Memorandum Circular No. 4, Series
of 2020.

Basis of Consolidation
The Group is considered to have control over an investee when the Group has:

· power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee);

· exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and,

· the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

· the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

· rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and,

· the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.  Consolidation of a subsidiary
begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
over the subsidiary.  Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included or excluded in the consolidated financial statements from the date the
Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to have control over the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity
holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.  When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting
policies.  All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.  When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

· derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;

· derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;

· derecognizes the cumulative translation adjustments recorded in equity;

· recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;

· recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;

· recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and

· reclassifies the Parent Company’s share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit or
loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent Company and the
subsidiaries listed below:

Percentage of Ownership

2019 2018

Company Principal Activities Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Property

SM Prime Holdings, Inc. (SM Prime) and Subsidiaries  Real estate development 50 – 50 –
 SM Development Corporation and Subsidiaries

(SMDC) Real estate development – 100 – 100

 Highlands Prime, Inc. (HPI) Real estate development – 100 – 100
 Costa del Hamilo, Inc. (Costa) and Subsidiary Real estate development – 100 – 100

 Magenta Legacy, Inc. Real estate development – 100 – 100

 Associated Development Corporation Real estate development – 100 – 100

 Prime Metro Estate, Inc. and Subsidiary Real estate development – 100 40 60
 Tagaytay Resort Development Corp Real estate development – 100 – 100

 SM Arena Complex Corporation (SM Arena) Conventions – 100 – 100

 MOA Esplanade Port, Inc. Port terminal operations – 100 – 100

 Premier Clark Complex Real estate development – 100 – –
 SM Hotels and Conventions Corp. and Subsidiaries Hotel and conventions – 100 – 100

First Asia Realty Development Corp. Real estate development – 74 – 74

Premier Central, Inc. Real estate development – 100 – 100
Consolidated Prime Dev. Corp. Real estate development – 100 – 100

Premier Southern Corp. Real estate development – 100 – 100

San Lazaro Holdings Corporation Real estate development – 100 – 100

Southernpoint Properties Corp. Real estate development – 100 – 100
First Leisure Ventures Group Inc. Real estate development – 50 – 50

 CHAS Realty and Development Corporation and

Subsidiaries Real estate development – 100 – 100

Affluent Capital Enterprises Limited and Subsidiaries
(Affluent) *[British Virgin Islands (BVI)] Real estate development – 100 – 100

Mega Make Enterprises Limited and Subsidiaries

*[BVI] Real estate development – 100 – 100
Springfield Global Enterprises Limited *[BVI] Real estate development – 100 – 100
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Percentage of Ownership

2019 2018

Company Principal Activities Direct Indirect Direct Indirect
Simply Prestige Limited and Subsidiaries *[BVI] Real estate development – 100 – 100

SM Land (China) Limited and Subsidiaries *

[Hong Kong]

Real estate development

– 100 – 100
Rushmore Holdings, Inc. Real estate development – 100 – 100

Prime_Commercial Property Management Corp.

and Subsidiaries (PCPMC) Real estate development – 100 – 100

Mindpro, Incorporated (Mindpro) Real estate development – 70 – 70
A. Canicosa Holdings, Inc. (ACHI) Real estate development – 100 – 100

AD Canicosa Properties, Inc. (ADCPI) Real estate development – 100 – 100

Cherry Realty Development Corporation Real estate development – 100 – 91

Supermalls Transport Services, Inc. Real estate development – 100 – 51
Mountain Bliss Resort & Development Corp.

 and Subsidiary Real estate development 100 – 100 –

Intercontinental Development Corporation (ICDC) Real estate development 97 3 97 3
Prime Central Limited and Subsidiaries *[BVI] Investment 100 – 100 –

Bellevue Properties, Inc. Real estate development 62 – 62 –

Neo Subsidiaries (a) Real estate development 95 – 95 –

Nagtahan Property Holdings, Inc. (formerly AD Farming) Real estate development 100 – 100 –
Philippines Urban Living Solutions, Inc. (PULSI)

(see Note 5) Real estate development 63 – 61 –

Retail

SM Retail Inc. (SM Retail) and Subsidiaries Retail 77 – 77 –

Others

Primebridge Holdings, Inc. Investment 100 – 100 –

Asia-Pacific Computer Technology Center, Inc. (APC) (b) Education – – 52 –
Multi-Realty Development Corporation (MRDC) Investment 91 – 91 –

Henfels Investments Corporation Investment 99 – 99 –

Belleshares Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries Investment 99 – 59 40

Neo Property Management Incorporated Investment 100 – 100 –

The principal place of business and country of incorporation of the subsidiaries listed above is in the Philippines except for those marked * and as indicated
after the company name.

(a) Neo Subsidiaries include N-Plaza BGC Land, Inc., N-Plaza BGC Properties, Inc., N-Quad BGC Land, Inc., N-Quad BGC Properties, Inc., N-Square

BGC Land, Inc., N-Square BGC Properties, Inc., N-Cube BGC Land, Inc., N-Cube BGC Properties, Inc., N-One BGC Land, Inc. and N-One BGC
Properties, Inc.

(b) In October 2019, the Group’s equity interest in APC was reduced to 42%.  Accordingly, equity accounting was used to account for the Group’s
investment in APC starting October 2019 (see Note 12).

Material Partly-owned Subsidiary
The non-controlling interests of SM Prime is material to the Group.  Non-controlling shareholders
hold 50% of SM Prime as at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

The summarized financial information of SM Prime follows:

Financial Position

December 31

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Current assets P=152,327,608 P=127,790,263
Noncurrent assets 514,952,066 476,344,055

Total assets 667,279,674 604,134,318

Current liabilities 95,256,780 88,279,852
Noncurrent liabilities 269,506,620 236,776,504

Total liabilities 364,763,400 325,056,356

Total equity P=302,516,274 P=279,077,962
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December 31

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent P=300,916,171 P=275,302,994
Non-controlling interests 1,600,103 3,774,968

P=302,516,274 P=279,077,962

Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31

2019 2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Revenues P=118,311,490 P=104,080,565 P=90,921,850
Cost and expenses 61,619,162 55,753,334 50,293,058
Other charges 7,530,334 6,361,056 4,680,931

Income before income tax 49,161,994 41,966,175 35,947,861
Provision for income tax 10,373,321 9,055,046 7,823,398

Net income 38,788,673 32,911,129 28,124,463
Other comprehensive income (loss) (30,088) (6,125,029) 7,330,510

Total comprehensive income P=38,758,585 P=26,786,100 P=35,454,973

Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent P=38,085,601 P=32,172,886 P=27,573,866
Non-controlling interests 703,072 738,243 550,597

Net income P=38,788,673 P=32,911,129 P=28,124,463

Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent P=38,058,471 P=26,050,908 P=34,906,622
Non-controlling interests 700,114 735,192 548,351

Total comprehensive income P=38,758,585 P=26,786,100 P=35,454,973

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests (P=633,700) (P=576,200) (P=580,791)

Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31

2019 2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities P=51,727,582 P=45,964,414 P=45,777,407
Net cash used in investing activities (48,615,244) (64,078,056) (41,011,985)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing

activities (7,310,020) 12,633,352 14,175,986
Effect of exchange rate changes

on cash and cash equivalents 31,174 (124,777) 229,144

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (P=4,166,508) (P=5,605,067) P=19,170,552
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Changes and Improvements

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
are summarized below.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less
and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Time Deposits
Time deposits (shown under current assets) are cash placements with original maturities of more than
three months but less than one year.  Time deposits with maturities of more than twelve months after
the reporting period are presented under noncurrent assets.

Determination of Fair Value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either:

· in the principal market for the asset or liability; or,

· in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability, in the absence of a principal market.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that the market participants act in their best
economic interest.

The fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes into account the market participant’s ability
to generate economic benefits by using and/or selling the asset to another market participant in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data is available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

Assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole and disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements based on the fair value hierarchy described below:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and,
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorization at the end of each reporting period.
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The Group determines the policies and procedures for both recurring and non-recurring fair value
measurements.  For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has assessed the class of assets
and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the subject asset or liability.

The Group recognizes transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels by re-assessing
categorization based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole, as at the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

“Day 1” Difference.  Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair
value of other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables include only data from observable markets, the Group recognizes the
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” difference) in the consolidated
statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset or liability.  In
cases where use is made of data that is not observable, the difference between the transaction price
and model value is only recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the inputs become
observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Group determines the
appropriate method of recognizing the amount of “Day 1” difference.

Financial Instruments (effective January 1, 2018)

Financial Assets

Initial Recognition and Measurement
At initial recognition, financial assets are classified as, and measured at amortized cost, fair value
through OCI (FVOCI), and fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).  The classification at initial
recognition depends on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets and the
Group’s business model for managing them.  The initial measurement of financial assets, except for
those classified as FVPL, includes the transaction cost.  The exception is for trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component.  These are measured at the transaction price
determined under PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or FVOCI, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal
amount outstanding.  This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at instrument
level.  The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its
financial assets in order to generate cash flows.  The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent Measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:

• Amortized cost
• FVPL
• FVOCI

§ with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
§ with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)
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Financial Assets at Amortized Cost (Debt Instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost when:
• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold these and collect

contractual cash flows; and,
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are

SPPI.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR)
method and are subject to impairment.  Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost include cash and cash equivalents, time deposits,
receivables (including noncurrent portion of receivables from real estate buyers), advances and other
receivables (included under “Other current assets” account) and long-term notes (included under
“Other noncurrent assets” account).

Financial Assets at FVPL

Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at FVPL and financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if these are acquired for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term.

Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are classified as held for trading unless these
are designated as effective hedging instruments.  Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at FVPL, irrespective of the business model.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value.  Changes in fair values are recognized in profit
or loss.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is
separated from the host and accounted for as a separate derivative when:

· The economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;

· A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative; and,

· The hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL.

Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or
loss.  Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required, or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the FVPL category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately.  The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified
in its entirety as a financial asset at FVPL.

Financial Assets at FVOCI (Debt Instruments)

The Group measures debt instruments at FVOCI when:
• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect

contractual cash flows and selling; and,
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are

SPPI.
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For debt instruments at FVOCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses
or reversals are recognized in the consolidated statement of income and computed in the same manner
as financial assets measured at amortized cost.  The remaining fair value changes are recognized in
OCI.  Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change is recycled to profit or loss.

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group does not have any debt instrument measured at
FVOCI.

Financial Assets Designated at FVOCI (Equity Instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to irrevocably classify its equity investments as equity
instruments designated at FVOCI when these meet the definition of equity under Philippine
Accounting Standard (PAS) 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.
The classification is determined at instrument level.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss.  Dividends are
recognized as income in the consolidated statement of income when the right of payment is
established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI.  Equity instruments designated at
FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.

The Group’s equity instruments at FVOCI include investments in shares of stock and club shares
(included under “Financial assets” account).

Derecognition

A financial asset, part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets, is primarily
derecognized when:

• The right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired; or,
• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or, (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates the extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of
its continuing involvement.  In that case, the Group also recognizes an associated liability.  The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not
held at FVPL.  ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate.  The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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The Group uses a provision matrix for rent and other receivables, vintage approach for receivables
from sale of real estate (billed and unbilled) and simplified approach (low credit risk simplification)
for treasury assets to calculate ECLs.

ECLs are recognized in two stages.  For credit exposures with no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-month period (a 12-month ECL).  For those credit exposures with
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECLs.  The Group does not track changes in credit risk, instead, recognizes a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.  The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default generally when contractual payments are 120 days
past due or when sales are cancelled supported by a notarized cancellation letter executed by the
Group and unit buyer.  However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be
in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by
the Group.

For debt instruments at FVOCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification.  At every
reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered to have low credit risk
using all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.  In
making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the internal credit rating of the debt instrument.  The
Group considers there to be a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments become
past due.

Financial Liabilities

Initial Recognition and Measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at FVPL, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge.

Financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include bank loans, accounts payable and other current liabilities
(excluding payable to government agencies), dividends payable, long-term debt, lease liabilities and
tenants’ deposits and others.

Subsequent Measurement
Loans and Borrowings

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings and other payables are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the EIR method.  Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process.
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Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR.  The EIR amortization is included as interest expense in
the consolidated statement of income.

Financial Liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at FVPL include those held for trading as well as derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless these are designated as
effective hedging instruments.  Gains and losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the
consolidated statement of income.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated
statement of income.

Offsetting of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, i.e., to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting

Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as cross-currency swaps, foreign currency call
options, interest rate swaps, options and non-deliverable forwards to hedge the risks associated with
foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations.  Derivative financial instruments are initially
recognized at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at fair value.  Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value
is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

• Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or
liability or an unrecognized firm commitment; or,

• Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast
transaction or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognized firm commitment.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following effectiveness
requirements:

• There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.
• The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic

relationship.
• The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the

hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the
Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of the hedged item.
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Hedges are accounted for as fair value hedges or cash flow hedges.

Fair Value Hedge
The change in the fair value of a hedge instrument is recognized in the consolidated statement of
income.  The change in the fair value attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying
value of the hedge instrument and is also recognized in the consolidated statement of income as other
expense.

For fair value hedges carried at amortized cost, any adjustment to carrying value is amortized through
profit or loss over the remaining term of the hedge using the EIR method.  The EIR amortization is
initiated when an adjustment exists and no later than when the hedged instrument ceases to be
adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.

In case of derecognition, the unamortized fair value of the hedged instrument is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash Flow Hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized in OCI, while any
ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of income.  The cash flow
hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and
the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedged instrument.

The Group designates only the spot element of forward contracts as a hedging instrument.  The
forward element is recognized in OCI and accumulated in a separate component of equity under
“Cumulative translation adjustment” account.

The amounts accumulated in OCI are accounted for depending on the nature of the underlying hedged
transaction.  If the hedged transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial item,
the amount accumulated in equity is removed from the separate component of equity and included in
the initial cost or other carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability.  This is not a reclassification
adjustment and will not be recognized in OCI for the period.  This also applies where the hedged
forecast transaction of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability subsequently becomes a firm
commitment for which fair value hedge accounting is applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods during which hedged cash flows affect profit
or loss.

If hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount accumulated in OCI shall remain in accumulated
OCI if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur.  Otherwise, the amount shall be
reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.  When the hedged cash flow occurs, any
amount remaining in accumulated OCI shall be accounted for depending on the nature of the
underlying transaction.

Financial Instruments (effective before January 1, 2018)

Date of Recognition

The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated balance sheet when
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Purchases or sales of financial
assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market place are recognized on the settlement
date.  Derivatives are recognized on the trade date.
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Initial Recognition of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value, the consideration given (in case of an
asset) or received (in case of a liability).  The initial measurement of financial instruments, except for
those classified as FVPL, includes the transaction cost.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial instruments in the following
categories:

• Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL
• Loans and receivables
• Held-to-maturity (HTM) investments
• AFS investments
• Other financial liabilities

The classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments are acquired and whether these
are quoted in an active market.  Management determines the classification at initial recognition and,
where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this classification at every reporting date.

Financial Assets and Liabilities at FVPL
Financial assets and liabilities at FVPL include financial assets and liabilities held for trading and
financial assets and liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVPL.

Financial assets and liabilities are classified as held for trading if these are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term.  Gains or losses on investments held for trading are
recognized in the consolidated statement of income under “Gain (loss) on sale of financial assets -
net” account.  Interest income earned on investments held for trading are recognized in “Interest
income” account in the consolidated statement of income.

Financial assets and liabilities may be designated by management at initial recognition as FVPL when
any of the following criteria is met:

• The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the assets and liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on a
different basis; or,

• The assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which
are managed and their performance are evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management or investment strategy; or,

• The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does
not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be
separately recorded.

The Group’s investments held for trading and derivative assets are classified as financial assets at
FVPL, while the Group’s derivative liabilities arising from issuance of convertible bonds and
derivative financial instruments with negative fair values are classified as financial liabilities at
FVPL.

Loans and Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable collectible
amounts that are not quoted in an active market.  These are not intended for immediate or short-term
resale and thus, not designated as financial assets at FVPL.
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After initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using

the EIR method, less allowance for impairment.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the loans and
receivables are derecognized and impaired, as well as through the amortization process.  Loans and
receivables are included under current assets if realizability or collectibility is within twelve months
after the reporting period.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, time deposits, receivables (including noncurrent portion of
receivables from real estate buyers), advances and other receivables (included under “Other current
assets” account), long-term notes (included under “Other noncurrent assets” account) are classified in
this category.

Other Financial Liabilities
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as at FVPL
upon inception of the liability.  These include liabilities arising from operations or borrowings.

Other financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at
amortized cost, taking into account the impact of applying the effective interest method of
amortization (or accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction
costs.  Gains and losses on other financial liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statement of
income when the liabilities are derecognized, as well as through the amortization process.

The Group’s bank loans, accounts payable and other current liabilities, dividends payable, long-term
debt and tenants’ deposits and others are classified in this category.

Classification of Financial Instruments between Liability and Equity
A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for a contractual obligation to:

• deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or,
• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are

potentially unfavorable to the Group; or,
• satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.

If the Group does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset
to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a financial liability.

The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are
accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after
deducting from the instrument, as a whole, the amount separately determined as the fair value of the
liability component on the date of issue.

Debt Issue Cost
Debt issue cost is presented as a reduction in long-term debt and amortized over the term of the
related borrowings using the effective interest method.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as cross-currency swaps, foreign currency call
options, interest rate swaps, options and non-deliverable forwards to hedge the risks associated with
foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations.  Derivative financial instruments, including bifurcated
embedded derivatives, are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which the derivative
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contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value.  Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Cash Flow Hedges

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognized asset, liability or a highly probable forecast transaction
and could affect the consolidated statement of income.  Changes in the fair value of a hedging
instrument that qualifies as a highly effective cash flow hedge are recognized under “Cumulative
translation adjustment” account in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, whereas any
hedge ineffectiveness is immediately recognized in the consolidated statement of income under “Gain
(loss) on fair value changes on derivatives - net” account.

Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the consolidated statement of income when the hedged
transaction affects profit or loss, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is
recognized.  However, if an entity expects that all or a portion of a loss recognized in OCI will not be
recovered in one or more future periods, it shall reclassify from equity to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment the amount that is not expected to be recovered.

Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedge ceases to be highly effective.  When
hedge accounting is discontinued, the cumulative gains or losses on the hedging instrument that has
been reported as “Cumulative translation adjustment” is retained in the OCI until the hedged
transaction impacts the consolidated statement of income.  When the forecasted transaction is no
longer expected to occur, any net cumulative gains or losses previously reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of
income.

Other Derivative Instruments Not Accounted for as Hedges

Certain freestanding derivative instruments that provide economic hedges under the Group’s policies
either do not qualify for hedge accounting or are not designated as accounting hedges.  Changes in the
fair values of derivative instruments not designated as hedges are recognized under “Gain (loss) on
fair value changes on derivatives - net” account in the consolidated statement of income.  Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Embedded Derivative
An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined) instrument that also includes a non-
derivative host contract with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary,
in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative.  The Group assesses whether embedded derivatives are
required to be separated from host contracts when the Group first becomes a party to the contract.  An
embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the
following conditions are met:  a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative
are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract; b) a separate
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative;
and c) the hybrid or combined instrument is not recognized at FVPL.

Subsequent reassessment is prohibited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that otherwise would be required under the contract, in which
case, a reassessment is required.  The Group determines whether a modification to cash flows is
significant by considering the extent to which the expected future cash flows associated with the
embedded derivative, the host contract or both, have changed and whether the change is significant
relative to the previously expected cash flows on the contract.
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Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial Assets
A financial asset is derecognized when:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
• The Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a pass-through
arrangement; or,

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, the asset is recognized to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the
form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or has expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

Impairment of Financial Assets

The Group assesses at each reporting period whether a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred loss event) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or a group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Objective evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where
observable data indicate that there is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for financial assets that are
individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant.  If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for
impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is
or continues to be recognized are not included in the collective impairment assessment.
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If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized
cost has been incurred, the amount of loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original EIR.

The carrying amount of the impaired asset shall be reduced through the use of an allowance account.
The amount of the loss shall be recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original EIR of the asset.  Loans
and receivables together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral, if any, has been realized or transferred to the Group.  If
in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is
increased or decreased by adjusting the allowance account.  If a writeoff is later recovered, the
recovery is recognized in the consolidated statement of income to the extent of the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized.

Financial Assets Carried at Cost
If there is objective evidence that there is impairment of an unquoted equity instrument that is not
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset.

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
balance sheet if there is an enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  The
Group assesses that it has a currently enforceable right of offset if the right is not contingent on a
future event, and is legally enforceable in the normal course of business, event of default, and event
of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group and all of the counterparties.

Merchandise Inventories
Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Cost, which includes
all costs directly attributable to acquisition, such as purchase price and transport costs, is primarily
determined using the weighted average method.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Current Portion of Land and Development and Condominium and Residential Units for Sale
Current portion of land and development and condominium and residential units for sale are stated at
the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Cost includes those costs incurred for development and
improvement of the properties.  Net realizable value is the selling price in the ordinary course of
business less costs to complete and the estimated cost to make the sale.  Current portion of land and
development and condominium and residential units for sale include properties that are constructed
for sale in the ordinary course of business, rather than for rental or capital appreciation.

Cost incurred for the development and improvement of the properties includes the following:

• land cost;
• amounts paid to contractors for construction and development; and,
• costs of borrowing, planning and design, and site preparation, as well as professional fees,

property transfer taxes, construction overhead and others.
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Investments in Associate Companies and Joint Ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.  Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture.  Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control is similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.

The Group’s investments in associate companies and joint ventures are accounted for under the equity
method of accounting.  Under the equity method, investments in associate companies and joint
ventures are carried at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share in net assets of the
associate or joint venture.

On acquisition of the investment, any difference between the cost of the investment and the investor’s
share in the net fair value of the associate’s or joint venture’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities is accounted for as follows:

• Goodwill relating to an associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the
investment.  However, amortization of that goodwill is not permitted and is therefore not included
in the determination of the Group’s share in the associate’s or joint venture’s profits or losses;
and,

• Any excess of the Group’s share in the net fair value of the associate’s and joint venture’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the investment is included
as income in the determination of the investor's share of the associate's or joint venture’s profit or
loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The consolidated statement of income reflects the share in the results of operations of the associate or
joint venture.  Where there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate or
joint venture, the Group recognizes its share in any changes and discloses this in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.  Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
associate or joint venture.

Appropriate adjustments to the investor’s share of the associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss after
acquisition are made to account for the depreciation of the depreciable assets based on their fair
values at the acquisition date and for impairment losses recognized by the associate or joint venture,
such as for goodwill or property, plant and equipment.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize any
impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the associate companies and joint
ventures.  At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the
investment in the associate companies and joint ventures is impaired.  If there is such evidence, the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the
associate companies and joint ventures and its carrying value, then, recognizes the loss in the
consolidated statement of income.
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Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognizes any retained investment at its fair value.  Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate companies and joint ventures upon loss of significant influence or
joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in
profit or loss.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, except land, is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization
and any accumulated impairment in value.  Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value.

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties,
taxes and any directly attributable costs necessary in bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.  Cost also includes any related asset retirement obligation and interest
incurred during the construction period.

Major repairs are capitalized as part of property and equipment only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the items can be
measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged against current operations as
incurred.

Depreciation and amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
the assets, namely:

Buildings and improvements 5–25 years
Store equipment and improvements 5–10 years
Data processing equipment 5–8 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3–10 years
Machinery and equipment 5–10 years
Leasehold improvements 5–10 years or term of the lease,

whichever is shorter
Transportation equipment 5–15 years

The residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation and amortization of the assets are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.  The carrying value of the
assets is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until these are no longer in use and no further
depreciation and amortization is credited or charged to current operations.

When any property and equipment is retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation and amortization and accumulated provision for impairment loss is
removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is charged to profit or loss.

Investment Properties
This account consists of investment properties and the noncurrent portion of land and development.
Investment properties include property held to earn rentals and for capital appreciation.  Investment
properties, except land, are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization and
accumulated impairment in value.  Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value.

Expenditures incurred after the investment property has been put in operation such as repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss.
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Depreciation and amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
the assets, namely:

Land improvements 3–10 years
Buildings and improvements 10–40 years
Building equipment, furniture and others 3–15 years
Building and leasehold improvements 5 years or term of the lease,

whichever is shorter

The residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation and amortization of the assets are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Investment property is derecognized when disposed or permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.  Any gains or losses on the retirement or
disposal of an investment property are charged to profit or loss.

Transfers are made to (from) investment property when there is a change in use evidenced by ending
(commencement) of owner-occupation, or, commencement of lease to another party (commencement
of development with a view to sell).

For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property or inventories, the cost of
property for subsequent accounting is its carrying value at the date of change in use.  If the property
occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group
accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to
the date of change in use.

Construction in Progress
Construction in progress under property and equipment and investment property represents structures
under construction and is stated at cost.  This includes cost of construction and other direct costs.
Cost also includes interest on borrowed funds incurred during the construction period.  Construction
in progress is not depreciated.

Tenants’ Deposits
Tenants’ deposits are measured at amortized cost.  Tenants’ deposits refer to security deposits
received from various tenants upon inception of the respective lease contracts on the Group’s
investment properties.  At the termination of the lease contracts, the deposits received by the Group
are returned to tenants, reduced by unpaid rental fees, penalties and/or deductions from repairs of
damaged leased properties, if any.  The related lease contracts usually have a term of more than
twelve months.

Property Acquisitions, Business Combinations and Acquisitions of Non-controlling Interests

Property Acquisitions and Business Combinations.  When property is acquired through corporate
acquisitions or otherwise, management considers the substance of the assets and activities of the
acquired entity in determining whether the acquisition represents an acquisition of a business.

When such an acquisition is not judged to be an acquisition of a business, it is not treated as a
business combination.  Rather, the cost to acquire the entity is allocated between the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the entity based on their relative fair values at acquisition date.  Accordingly,
no goodwill or additional deferred tax arises.
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Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method except for business
combinations under common control in which an accounting similar to pooling of interest method is
used.  Business combinations under common control are those in which all of the combining entities
or businesses are controlled by the same party or parties both before and after the business
combination, and that control is not transitory.  Under the acquisition method, the cost of an
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date
fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  For each business
combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Transaction costs incurred are
expensed and included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” account in the consolidated
statement of income.

For accounting similar to pooling of interest method, the assets, liabilities and equity of the acquired
companies for the reporting period in which the common control business combinations occur, and
for any comparative periods presented, are included in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group at their carrying amounts as if the combinations occurred from the date when the acquired
companies first became under the control of the Group.  The excess of the cost of business
combinations over the net carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the acquired companies is
recognized under “Equity adjustments from common control transactions” account in the equity
section of the consolidated balance sheet.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.  This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.  It is then considered in the determination of
goodwill.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date.  Contingent consideration classified as equity is not re-measured and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.  Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, is measured at
fair value with the changes in fair value recognized in the statement of income in accordance with
PFRS 9.  Other contingent considerations that are not within the scope of PFRS 9 are measured at fair
value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

Acquisitions of Non-controlling Interests. Changes in the Parent Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e., transactions with owners in their capacity as owners).  In such circumstances, the carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests shall be adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiary.  Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid shall be recognized
directly in equity.

Goodwill

Initial Measurement of Goodwill or Gain on a Bargain Purchase.  Goodwill is initially measured by
the Group at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognized for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
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assumed.  If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognized in profit or loss as gain on a bargain purchase.

Subsequent Measurement of Goodwill.  Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment Testing of Goodwill.  For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating
units (CGU), or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units or groups
of units.  Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated:

• represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes; and,

• is not larger than an operating segment as defined in PFRS 8, Operating Segments, before
aggregation.

Frequency of Impairment Testing.  Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the
Group tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment at least annually.

Allocation of Impairment Loss. An impairment loss is recognized for a CGU if the recoverable
amount of the unit or group of units is less than the carrying amount of the unit or group of units.  The
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit or group of units
first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU or group of units and then to the
other assets of the unit or group of units pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit or group of units.

Measurement Period.  If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of
the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports in its consolidated financial
statements provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.  The
measurement period ends as soon as the Group receives the information it was seeking as of the
acquisition date or learns that more information is not obtainable.  The measurement period shall not
exceed one year from the acquisition date.

Intangible Assets
The cost of trademarks and brand names acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the
date of acquisition.  The useful life of trademarks and brand names is assessed based on an analysis of
all relevant factors.  If there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to
generate cash inflows for the Group, the trademark / brand name is considered to be indefinite.

Trademarks and brand names with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the CGU level.  The useful life of an intangible asset is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.  If
not, the change in useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset at the date of disposal and are
recognized in profit or loss.

Land Use Rights
Land use rights which is included under “Other noncurrent assets” is amortized over its useful life of
40–60 years.
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Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The carrying value of nonfinancial assets (property and equipment, investment properties and
investments in associate companies and joint ventures, right-of-use assets (ROU assets), intangibles
with definite useful life and other noncurrent assets) is reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.  If any such
indication exists, and if the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or
CGUs are written down to their recoverable amounts.  The recoverable amount of the asset is the
greater of fair value less cost to sell or value in use.  The fair value less cost to sell is the amount
obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and
willing parties, less costs of disposal.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the
asset belongs.  Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognized impairment loss may no longer exist or may have decreased.  In such a case, the
recoverable amount is estimated.  Any previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only when
there is a change in estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognized.  Accordingly, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its
recoverable amount.  The increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized in prior
years.  Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  After such a reversal, the
depreciation or amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised
carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Capital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital
Capital stock is stated at par value of the share.  Proceeds and/or fair value of considerations received
in excess of par value, if any, is recognized as additional paid-in capital.  Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issuance of new shares is deducted from the proceeds, net of tax.

Revenue and Cost Recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods or services are
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  The Group assesses its revenue arrangements
against specific criteria to determine if it is acting as a principal or as an agent.  The Group has
concluded that it is acting as principal in majority of its revenue arrangements.  The following
specific recognition criteria, other than those disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, shall be met before revenue is recognized:

Rent.  Revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term or based on the terms of the
lease as applicable.  Contingent rent is recognized as revenue in the period in which it is earned.

Sale of Cinema and Amusement Tickets.  Revenue is recognized upon receipt of cash from the
customers which coincides with the rendering of services.

Gain on Sale of Investments in Associate Companies and Joint Ventures and Financial Assets.
Revenue is recognized upon delivery of the securities to and confirmation of the sale by the broker.
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Dividends. Revenue is recognized when the Group’s right as a shareholder to receive payment is
established.

Management and Service Fees.  Revenue and/or expense is recognized when earned and/or incurred,
in accordance with the terms of the agreements.

Interest. Revenue is recognized when interest accrues, taking into account the effective yield.

Selling, General, Administrative and Other Expenses. Costs and expenses are recognized as incurred.

Effective beginning January 1, 2018

Sale of Merchandise Inventories. Revenue from sale of goods is recognized when the transfer of
control has been passed to the buyer at the time when the performance obligation has been satisfied.
The performance obligation is generally satisfied when the customer purchases the goods.  Payment
of the transaction price is due immediately at the point the customer purchases the goods.

Revenue and Cost from Sale of Real Estate. With the effectivity of PFRS 15 effective
January 1, 2018, the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC), Philippine Interpretations
Committee (PIC) issued the following guidance and interpretations to assist real estate companies in
the adoption of PFRS 15:

· PIC Q&A 2018-12, Implementation Issues Affecting the Real Estate Industry, and,

· PIC Q&A 2018-14, Accounting for Cancellation of Real Estate Sales

In response to concerns raised by real estate associations on the implementation and adoption of the
PIC Q&As, the SEC issued Memorandum Circular No. 14-2018 in October 2018 and Memorandum
Circular No. 3-2019 in February 2019, deferring the application of the following provisions of the
above-mentioned PIC Q&As for a period of 3 years:

· accounting for significant financing component,

· exclusion of uninstalled materials and land cost in POC determination,

· common usage service area (CUSA) charges, and,

· accounting for cancellation of real estate sales.

Effective January 1, 2021, real estate companies will adopt PIC Q&A No. 2018-12 and PIC Q&A
No. 2018-14 and any subsequent amendments thereof retrospectively or as the SEC will later
prescribe.

The Group availed of the deferral of adoption of the above specific provisions, except for land
exclusion in the determination of POC.

The Group derives its real estate revenue from the sale of lots, house and lot and condominium units.
Revenue from the sale of these real estate under pre-completion stage are recognized over time during
the construction period (or percentage of completion) since based on the terms and conditions of its
contract with the buyers, the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

In measuring the progress of its performance obligation over time, the Group uses output method.
The Group recognizes revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value to customers of the
goods or services transferred to date, relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract.  Progress is measured using survey of performance completed to date/ milestones reached/
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time elapsed.  This is based on the monthly project accomplishment report prepared by the third party
project managers as approved by the construction manager which integrates the surveys of
performance to date of the construction activities.

Any excess of progress of work over the right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional,
recognized as receivables from sale of real estate, under trade receivables, is accounted for as unbilled
revenue from sale of real estate.

Any excess of collections over the total of recognized installment real estate receivables is included in
contract liabilities.

The Group considers contracts for the sale of its condominium and residential units including the
transfer of ownership to buyers as containing only one performance obligation.  The consideration
indicated in the contract to sell is fixed and without any variable component.  The Group does not
consider the quality assurance warranty covering its sales contracts as a separate performance
obligation.

Payment commences upon signing of the contract to sell and the consideration is payable in cash or
under a financing scheme entered with the customer.  The financing scheme would include payment
of a certain percentage of the contract price spread over a certain period at a fixed monthly payment
with the remaining balance payable in full at the end of the period either through cash or external
financing.  The amount due for collection under the amortization schedule for each of the customer
does not necessarily coincide with the progress of construction.

The Group has a quality assurance warranty which is not treated as a separate performance obligation.

Cost of Real Estate Sold. The Group recognizes costs relating to satisfied performance obligations as
these are incurred, taking into consideration the contract fulfillment assets such as land and
connection fees.  Cost includes the cost of land, land development, building costs, professional fees,
depreciation, permits and licenses and capitalized borrowing costs.  The aggregate cost is allocated to
the saleable area, with the portion allocable to the sold area recognized as costs of real estate sold
while the portion allocable to the unsold area recognized as part of real estate inventories
(condominium and residential units for sale and current portion of land and development).  In
addition, the Group recognizes as an asset those costs that give rise to resources that will be used in
satisfying performance obligations in the future and that are expected to be recovered.

Contract Balances

Receivables. A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional (i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due).

Contract Assets. Contract assets pertain to unbilled revenue from sale of real estate. This is the right
to consideration that is conditional in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer.  The
capitalized amount is reclassified to trade receivable from real estate buyers when the periodic
amortization of the customer becomes due for collection.

Contract Liabilities. Contract liabilities pertain to unearned revenue from sale of real estate. This is
the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration) from the customer.  These also include customers’ deposits related to sale of real
estate.  These are recognized as revenue when the Group performs the pertinent obligations under the
contract.
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Costs to Obtain a Contract. The costs of obtaining a contract with a customer are recognized as an
asset if the Group expects recovery of these costs.  The accrual of commissions paid to brokers and
marketing agents on the sale of pre-completed real estate units is likewise capitalized when recovery
is reasonably expected and is charged to expense in the period in which the related revenue is
recognized as earned.  Commission expense is included in the “Costs and expenses” account in the
consolidated statement of income.  Costs incurred prior to obtaining a contract with a customer are
expensed as these are incurred.

Contract Fulfillment Assets. Contract fulfillment costs are divided into (i) costs that give rise to an
asset; and (ii) costs that are expensed as incurred.  When determining the appropriate accounting
treatment for such costs, the Group considers any other applicable standards.  If those standards
preclude capitalization of a particular cost, then an asset is not recognized under PFRS 15.

If other standards are not applicable to contract fulfillment costs, the Group applies the following
criteria which if met, result in capitalization  (i) costs directly relate to a contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; (ii) costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used
in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and (iii) costs are
expected to be recovered.  The assessment of this criteria requires the application of judgement
particularly in determining whether costs generate or enhance resources to be used to satisfy future
performance obligations and whether costs are expected to be recoverable.

The Group’s contract fulfillment assets mainly pertain to land acquisition costs (included under
condominium and residential units for sale and current portion of land and development).

Amortization, Derecognition and Impairment of Contract Fulfillment Assets and Capitalized Costs to
Obtain a Contract. The Group amortizes contract fulfillment assets and costs capitalized to obtain a
contract to cost of sales over the expected construction period using POC following the pattern of real
estate revenue recognition.  The amortization is included in cost of real estate sold account in the
consolidated statement of income.

A contract fulfillment asset or costs capitalized to obtain a contract is derecognized when it is
disposed of or when no further economic benefits are expected to flow from its use or disposal.

At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is an indication that a contract fulfillment
asset may be impaired.  If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate by comparing the
carrying amount of the asset to the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to
receive less those costs that relate to providing services under the contract.  In determining the
estimated amount of consideration, the Group uses the same principles as it does to determine the
contract transaction price, except that any constraints used to reduce the transaction price is removed
when testing for impairment.

In case the relevant costs demonstrate indicators of impairment, judgment is required in ascertaining
the future economic benefits from these contracts as sufficient to recover the relevant assets.

Effective before January 1, 2018

Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction
will flow to the Group and the amount of the revenue can be reliably measured.  Revenue is measured
at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates and sales
taxes or duties.  The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria to determine if
it is acting as a principal or as an agent.  The Group acts as principal in the majority of its revenue
arrangements.
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Sale of Merchandise.  Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods have passed to the buyer, normally upon delivery.  Sales are net of returns and discounts.

Sale of Real Estate.  Revenue is recognized when it is deemed probable that economic benefits will
flow to the Group in the form of collections.  Collectibility of the sales amount is evidenced by the
buyer’s initial and continuous investments in accordance to the sales agreement, as well as good
credit standing.

Revenue from sales of completed real estate projects is accounted for using the full accrual method.
In accordance with PIC Q&A No. 2006-01, the POC method is used to recognize income from sales
of projects where the Group has material obligations under the sales contract to complete the project
after the property is sold, the equitable interest has been transferred to the buyer, construction is
beyond preliminary stage (i.e., engineering, design work, construction contracts execution, site
clearance and preparation, excavation and the building foundation are finished), and the costs
incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably.  Under this method, revenue is recognized as the
related obligations are fulfilled, measured principally on the basis of the estimated completion of a
physical proportion of the contract work.

Any excess of collections over the recognized receivables are included in the “Tenants’ deposits and
others” account in the consolidated balance sheet.  If any of the criteria under the full accrual or POC
method is not met, the deposit method is applied until all the conditions for recording a sale are met.
Pending recognition of sale, cash received from buyers is presented under the “Tenants’ deposits and
others” account in the consolidated balance sheet.

Cost of real estate sales is recognized consistent with the revenue recognition method applied.  Cost
of condominium and residential units sold before the completion of the development is determined on
the basis of the acquisition cost of the land plus its full development cost, which includes estimated
costs for future development works.

The cost of inventory recognized in the consolidated statement of income upon sale is determined
with reference to the specific costs incurred on the property, allocated to saleable area based on
relative size and takes into account the POC used for revenue recognition purposes.

Expected losses on contracts are recognized immediately when it is probable that the total contract
cost will exceed total contract revenue.  Changes in the estimated cost to complete the condominium
project which affect cost of real estate sold and gross profit are recognized in the year in which
changes are determined.

Pension Benefits
The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for any
effect of limiting the net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling.  The asset ceiling is the present
value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future
contributions to the plan.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method.

Defined benefit costs comprise the following:

• service cost;
• net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset; and,
• re-measurements of net defined benefit liability or asset.
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Service cost which includes current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on
non-routine settlements, is recognized as expense.  Past service cost is recognized on the earlier of the
date of the plan amendment or curtailment, or the date when restructuring-related cost is recognized.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying
the discount rate based on government bonds to the net defined benefit liability or asset.  Net interest
on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or income in the consolidated
statement of income.

Re-measurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in the
effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized
immediately in OCI in the period in which these arise.  Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods.

Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee benefit fund.  Plan assets are not
available to the creditors of the Group, nor can these be paid directly to the Group.  The fair value of
plan assets is based on market price information.  When no market price is available, the fair value of
plan assets is estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects
both the risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected disposal date of those assets
(or, if these have no maturity, the expected period until the settlement of the related obligations).  If
the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present value of the defined benefit obligation, the
measurement of the resulting defined benefit asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate at the date of
the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are restated at the
functional currency rate of exchange as at reporting date.  Nonmonetary items denominated in foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition.  All differences are
recognized in profit or loss.

Foreign Currency Translation
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Philippine peso at the rate of
exchange as at reporting date and their respective statements of income are translated at the weighted
average rate for the year.  The exchange differences arising from the translation are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and are presented within the “Cumulative
translation adjustment” account in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.  On disposal of a
foreign subsidiary, the deferred cumulative amount of exchange differences recognized in equity
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in profit or loss.

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent
on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Group as Lessor.  Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Lease income from operating leases is
recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.  Contingent rent is recognized as revenue in
the period it is earned.
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Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2019

Group as Lessee.  The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases,
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.  The Group recognizes lease liabilities to
make lease payments and ROU assets representing the right to use the underlying asset.

§ ROU Assets.  The Group recognizes ROU assets at the commencement date of the lease.  ROU
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.  The cost of ROU assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives received and estimates of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of
the lease, except when  those costs are incurred to produce inventories.  Unless the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the
recognized ROU assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.  ROU assets are subject to impairment.

§ Lease Liabilities.  At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities
measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term.  The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-subtance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.  The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised and payments of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate.  The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
(IBR) at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.  After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for lease payments made.  In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying
asset.

§ Short-term Leases and Leases of Low-value Assets.  The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have lease terms of 12
months or less from the commencement date and those that do not contain a purchase option).  It
also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption.  These leases are recognized as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Effective before January 1, 2019

Group as Lessee.  Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits
incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value
of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Lease
payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are
reflected in the consolidated statement of income.
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Capitalized lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and
the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of
the lease term.

Leases which do not transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the
asset are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as expense in the
consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Associated costs, such
as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense.  Where the
Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but
only when the receipt of the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Borrowing Cost
Borrowing cost is capitalized as part of the cost of the asset if it is directly attributable to the
acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset.  Capitalization of borrowing cost commences when
the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing cost are incurred.
Borrowing cost is capitalized until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.
Borrowing cost is capitalized when it is probable that it will result in future economic benefits to the
Group.  All other borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.  For borrowing associated with a specific
asset, the actual rate on that borrowing is used.  Otherwise, a weighted average cost of borrowings is
used.

Taxes

Current Income Tax. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured
at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax
laws used to compute the tax amounts are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as at the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred Income Tax.  Deferred income tax is set up based on the liability method and considering
the temporary differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and the corresponding carrying
amounts at each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and carryforward benefits
of excess Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) over Regular Corporate Income Tax (RCIT) and
Net Operating Loss Carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carryforward benefits of excess
MCIT over RCIT and NOLCO can be utilized, except:

• where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and,
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• with respect to deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures wherein deferred tax assets are recognized only to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that the future taxable
profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted as at reporting date.

Income tax relating to items recognized directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and not in the
consolidated statement of income.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and/or the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.

Value-added Tax (VAT). Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT,
except:

• where the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and,

• for receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of tax included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
“Other current assets” or “Accounts payable and other current liabilities” accounts in the consolidated
balance sheet.

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Common Share (EPS)
Basic EPS is computed by dividing the net income attributable to owners of the Parent for the period
by the weighted average number of issued and outstanding common shares for the period, with
retroactive adjustment for any stock dividends declared.

For the purpose of computing diluted EPS, the net income for the period attributable to owners of the
Parent and the weighted-average number of issued and outstanding common shares are adjusted for the
effects of all potential dilutive ordinary shares.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements.  These are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated
financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when an
inflow of economic benefits is probable.
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Events after the Reporting Period
Post yearend events that provide additional information about the Group’s financial position at the
end of the reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
Post yearend events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements when material.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year except for the adoption
of the following new standards, amendments to standards and improvements, starting January 1,
2019.  Unless otherwise indicated, the adoption did not have any significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

§ Philippine Interpretation International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 23,
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

IFRIC 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that
affects the application of PAS 12, Income taxes, and does not apply to taxes or levies outside the
scope of PAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments.

The interpretation specifically addresses the following:
§ Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately
§ The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation

authorities
§ How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax

credits and tax rates
§ How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances

The entity is required to determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or
together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments and use the approach that better predicts
the resolution of the uncertainty.  The entity shall assume that the taxation authority will examine
amounts that it has a right to examine and have full knowledge of all related information when
making those examinations.  If an entity concludes that it is not probable that the taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, it shall reflect the effect of the uncertainty for
each uncertain tax treatment using the method the entity expects to better predict the resolution of
the uncertainty.

§ Amendments to PFRS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

§ Amendments to PAS 19, Employee Benefits, Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

§ Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

§ Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

§ Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations, and PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements,

Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation

§ Amendments to PAS 12, Income Tax Consequences of Payments on Financial Instruments

Classified as Equity

§ Amendments to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalization
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§ PFRS 16, Leases

PFRS 16 supersedes PAS 17, Leases, Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 4, Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, Philippine Interpretation SIC-15, Operating Leases - Incentives

and Philippine Interpretation SIC-27, Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the

Legal Form of a Lease.  The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognize most leases on the balance
sheet.

Lessor accounting under PFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from PAS 17.  Lessors shall
continue to classify using the same classification principle as in PAS 17 and distinguish only
between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.  PFRS 16 did not have any impact on
leases where the Group is the lessor.

The Group adopted PFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and applied the standard
to contracts that were previously identified as leases under PAS 17 and Philippine Interpretation
IFRIC 4.

The effect of adoption of PFRS 16 as at January 1, 2019 follows:

Increase
(decrease)

(In Thousands)

ROU assets P=32,020,254
Accruals (3,031,686)
Prepayments (14,583)
Deferred tax assets 1,939,123
Deferred tax liabilities 1,513,956
Lease liabilities 24,781,169

Before the adoption of PFRS 16, the Group classified each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception
date as either a finance lease or an operating lease.  Upon adoption of PFRS 16, the Group
applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets.

Leases Previously Accounted for as Operating Leases.  The Group recognized ROU assets and
lease liabilities for those leases previously classified as operating leases.  ROU assets were
recognized based on an amount equal to lease liabilities and adjusted for any related prepaid and
accrued lease payments previously recognized.  Lease liabilities were recognized based on the
present value of remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at
the date of initial application.
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The lease liability as at January 1, 2019 is reconciled with the operating lease commitments as at
December 31, 2018.  Details follow:

(In Thousands)

Operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2018 P=33,217,000
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate 4.9% - 10.4%

Discounted operating lease commitments P=24,781,000
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases (157)

 Add: Payments in optional extension periods not
recognized at beginning of year 326

Lease liability as at January 1, 2019 P=24,781,169

With the adoption of PFRS 16 in 2019, the Group’s operating profit and interest expense
increased.  This is due to the change in the accounting for rent expense related to leases that were
previously classified as operating leases under PAS 17.

The adoption of PFRS 16 did not have any impact to the January 1, 2019 equity since the Group
elected to measure the ROU assets at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any related prepaid or accrued lease payments recognized in the consolidated balance
sheet immediately before the date of initial adoption.

Future Changes in Accounting Policies
The following are the new standards and amendments to PFRS that were issued but are not yet
effective as at December 31, 2019.  Unless otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the future
adoption of these new standards and amendments to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.  The Group intends to adopt the applicable standards and amendments when
these become effective.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2020

§ Amendments to PFRS 3, Definition of a Business

The amendments to PFRS 3 clarify the minimum requirements to be a business, remove the
assessment of a market participant’s ability to replace missing elements, and narrow the
definition of outputs.  The amendments also add guidance to assess whether an acquired process
is substantive and add illustrative examples.  An optional fair value concentration test is
introduced which permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business.

These amendments shall be applied prospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2020, with earlier application permitted.

§ Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, and PAS 8, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, Definition of Material

The amendments refine the definition of “material” in PAS 1 and align the definitions used across
PFRSs and other pronouncements.  These are intended to improve the understanding of the
existing requirements rather than to significantly impact an entity’s materiality judgement.
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These amendments shall be applied prospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2020, with earlier application permitted.

Effective beginning on or after January 1, 2021

§ PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

PFRS 17 is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering
recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure.  Once effective, PFRS 17 will replace
PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts.  This new standard on insurance contracts applies to all types of
insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of
entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with
discretionary participation features.  A few scope exceptions apply.

The overall objective of PFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that
is more useful and consistent for insurers.  In contrast to the requirements in PFRS 4, which are
largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a
comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects.

PFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, with
comparative figures required.  Early application is permitted.

Deferred effectivity

§ Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments address the conflict between PFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture.  The
amendments clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when transfer to an associate or joint
venture involves a business as defined in PFRS 3, Business Combinations.  Any gain or loss
resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that does not constitute a business is recognized
only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture.

On January 13, 2016, the Financial Reporting Standards Council deferred the original effective
date of January 1, 2016 of the said amendments until the International Accounting Standards
Board completes its broader review of the research project on equity accounting that may result in
the simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of accounting for
associates and joint ventures.

· Philippine Interpretations Committee (PIC) updates on PFRS 15 implementation Issues.  On
August 27, 2019, the Group together with the real estate industry, sent a Position Paper to the PIC
requesting the latter to revisit its position on certain issues relating to the adoption of PFRS 15
among others.  In line with this, the PIC issued two response letters to the Industry dated
September 13 and 27, 2019.  Pending finalization of PIC’s position on the matters raised by the
Industry, PIC has provided the following options:

§ Conclusion of PIC Q&A No. 2018-12D Step 3, Determining the Transaction Price for the

Contract, temporarily allows the recording of the difference between the consideration
received from customers and the value of goods or services transferred to customers as either
a contract asset, with disclosures pursuant to PFRS 15, or as installment contracts receivable
with disclosures pursuant to PFRS 9.  The Group opted to retain its accounting policy of
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presenting the difference between the consideration received and value of goods or services
transferred as a contract asset with disclosures pursuant to PFRS 15.

§ Conclusion of PIC Q&A No. 2018-12H, Accounting for Common Usage Service Area

(CUSA), recommends the industry to consider an alternative presentation wherein CUSA is
not presented as part of revenues if these are not considered a main source of revenue and
are immaterial in value.

§ March 2019 IFRIC Agenda Decision on Over Time Transfer of Constructed Good (PAS 23,

Borrowing Costs). In March 2019, the IFRIC issued an Agenda Decision clarifying the criteria
for the capitalization of borrowing costs in relation to the construction of residential multi-unit
real estate development which are sold to customers prior to the start of construction or
completion of the development.

Paragraph 8 of PAS 23 allows the capitalization of borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.  Paragraph 5 of PAS 23
defines a qualifying asset as an asset that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its
intended use or sale.  The IFRIC Agenda Decision clarified that the related assets namely,
installment contracts receivable, contract asset or inventory, are not considered qualifying assets
and therefore the corresponding borrowing cost may not be capitalized.

In February 2020, the SEC decided to provide relief to the real estate industry by deferring the
implementation of the March 2019 IFRIC Agenda Decision until December 31, 2020.  Effective
January 1, 2021, real estate companies shall adopt this IFRIC Interpretation of PAS 23 on the
capitalization of borrowing costs and subsequent amendments thereto as the SEC shall prescribe.

4. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements
and accompanying notes.  These judgments, estimates and assumptions are based on management’s
evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as at the reporting date.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:

Existence of a Contract. The Group’s primary document for a contract with a customer is the signed
contract to sell.  In cases wherein the contract to sell is not signed by both parties at report date, other
signed documents including the reservation agreement, official receipts, quotation sheets and other
documents are considered to contain the basic elements to qualify as a contract with the customer
under PFRS 15.

Part of the Group’s assessment process for revenue recognition is to assess the probability that the
Group will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the real estate
property that will be transferred to the customer.  In evaluating whether collectibility of an amount of
consideration is probable, the significance of the customer’s initial payments in relation to the total
contract price is given consideration.
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Measure of Progress. The Group has determined that the output method used in measuring the
progress of the performance obligation faithfully depicts the Group’s performance in transferring
control of real estate development to the customers.

Property Acquisitions and Business Combinations.  At the time of acquisition, the Group considers
whether the acquisition represents an acquisition of a business or a group of assets and liabilities.  The
Group accounts for an acquisition as a business combination if it acquires an integrated set of
business processes in addition to the real estate property.  The consideration is made to the extent that
the significant business processes are acquired and the additional services are to be provided by the
subsidiary.

When the acquisition of subsidiary does not constitute a business, it is accounted for as an acquisition
of a group of assets and liabilities.  The purchase price of the acquisition is allocated to the assets and
liabilities acquired based upon their relative fair values at the date of acquisition.  No goodwill or
deferred tax is recognized.

Consignment Arrangements on Retail Segment. The retail segment of the Group has various
consignment arrangements with suppliers.  Under these arrangements, the Group bears significant
risks and rewards associated with the sale of goods.  Management has determined that it is acting as
principal in these sales transactions.  Accordingly, sales revenue is recognized at gross amount upon
actual sale to customers.  The related inventory stocks supplied under these arrangements only
become due and payable to suppliers when sold.

Operating Lease Commitments - Group as Lessor.  Management has determined that the Group
retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties and thus, accounts for the
contracts as operating leases.  The ownership of the asset is not transferred to the lessee by the end of
the lease term, the lessee has no option to purchase the asset at a price that is expected to be
sufficiently lower than the fair value at the date the option is exercisable, and, the lease term is not for
the major part of the asset’s economic life.

Determination of Lease Term of Contracts with Renewal and Termination Options - Group as Lessee

(On or after January 1, 2019).  The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and
termination options.  The Group applies judgment in evaluating the certainty or possibility of
exercising the option to renew or terminate lease contracts.  The Group considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination option.  After the
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term for any significant event or change in
circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise the option to renew or to
terminate the lease contract (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant
customization to the leased asset).  In most cases, the Group exercises its option to renew.

Operating Lease Commitments - Group as Lessee (Before January 1, 2019).  Management has
determined that all the significant risks and benefits of ownership of these properties remain with the
lessor and thus, accounts for these leases as operating leases.

Assessing Significant Influence over Associates. Management assessed that the Group has significant
influence over all its associates by virtue of the Group’s more than 20% voting power in the investee,
representation in the board of directors, and participation in policy-making processes of the
associates.

Assessing Joint Control of an Arrangement and the Type of Arrangement. The Group has 25%
ownership in Waltermart Mall.  Management assessed that the Group has joint control of Waltermart
Mall by virtue of a contractual agreement with other shareholders.  Waltermart Mall is a joint venture
arrangement as it is a separate legal entity and its stockholders have rights to its net assets.
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Assessing of Control or Significant Influence of Investees

SM Prime. The Group has 50% ownership interest in SM Prime.  Management assessed that the
Group has control of SM Prime as it holds significantly more voting rights than any other vote holder
or organized group of vote holders, and the other shareholdings are widely dispersed giving the
Group the power to direct relevant activities of SM Prime.

BDO Unibank, Inc. (BDO).  The Group has 45% ownership interest in BDO.  Management assessed
that the Group does not have control of BDO as the Group’s aggregate voting rights is not sufficient
to give it power to direct the relevant activities of BDO (see Note 12).

Premium Leisure Corp. (PLC).  The Group has 5% ownership interest in PLC.  PLC is a subsidiary of
Belle Corporation (Belle).  Management assessed that the Group has significant influence over PLC
through its associate, Belle (see Note 12).

Estimates and Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date that pose a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the succeeding years are discussed below.

Revenue Recognition Method and Measure of Progress. The POC method is used to recognize
income from sales of projects where the Group has material obligations under the sales contract to
complete the project after the property is sold.  Revenue is recognized when the equitable interest is
transferred to the buyer, construction is beyond preliminary stage (i.e., engineering, design work,
construction contracts execution, site clearance and preparation, excavation and the building
foundation works are finished), and the costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably.

Provision for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) of Receivables and Contract Assets (referred also in the

consolidated financial statements as “Unbilled revenue from sale of real estate”).  The Group
maintains an allowance for impairment loss at a level considered adequate to provide for potential
uncollectible receivables.  The Group uses a provision matrix for rent and other receivables and
vintage approach for receivables from sale of real estate (billed and unbilled) to calculate ECLs.  The
Group performs a regular review of the age and status of these accounts, designed to identify
accounts for impairment.  The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates,
forecasted economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.  The amount of ECLs is sensitive
to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions.  See Note 10 for related balances.

Net Realizable Value of Merchandise Inventories, Condominium and Residential Units for Sale, and

Land and Development. The Group recognizes an allowance for impairment of value of merchandise
inventories, condominium and residential units for sale, and land and development to value these
assets at net realizable value.  Impairment may be due to damage, physical deterioration,
obsolescence, changes in price levels or other causes.  See Notes 15 and 22 for related balances.

The estimate of net realizable value is based on the most reliable evidence of the realizable value of
the assets, available at the time the estimate is made.  These estimates take into consideration
fluctuations of price or cost directly relating to events occurring after the reporting date to the extent
that such events confirm conditions existing at the reporting date.

The allowance account is reviewed on a regular basis.  In 2019 and 2018, the Group assessed that the
net realizable value of merchandise inventories, condominium and residential units for sale and land
and land development is higher than cost, hence, the Group did not recognize any impairment loss.
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Estimated Useful Life of Property and Equipment and Investment Properties (except for Right-of-use

Asset). The useful life of each of the Group’s property and equipment and investment properties is
estimated based on the period over which the asset is expected to be available for use.  Such
estimation is based on a collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and
experience with similar assets.  The estimated useful life of each asset is reviewed periodically and
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or
commercial obsolescence and legal or other limitations on the use of the asset.  It is possible,
however, that future financial performance could be materially affected by changes in the amounts
and timing of recorded expenses brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above.  See
Notes 13 and 14 for related balances.

Impairment of Investments in Associate Companies and Joint Ventures.  Impairment review of
investments in associate companies and joint ventures is performed when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.  This requires management to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the investments and to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.  See Note 12 for related
balances.

Impairment of Goodwill and Trademarks and Brand Names with Indefinite Useful Lives. Impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.  Fair value less costs of disposal
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.  The value
in use calculations is based on a discounted cash flow model.  The cash flows are derived from the
forecast for the relevant period and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet
committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the assets.  The recoverable amount
is most sensitive to the pre-tax discount rates used for the discounted cash flow model as well as the
expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.  See Note 16 for
related balances.

Impairment of Other Nonfinancial Assets. The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is

an indication that an item of property and equipment, investment properties and ROU assets may be
impaired.  This assessment requires the determination of future cash flows expected to be generated
from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets.  Future events could cause the Group
to conclude that these assets are impaired.  Any resulting impairment loss could have a material
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves judgment and estimations.  While the
Group believes that its assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these
assumptions may materially affect the Group’s assessment of recoverable values and may lead to
future additional impairment charges.  See Notes 13 and 14 for related balances.

Purchase Price Allocation in Business Combinations. The acquisition method requires extensive use
of accounting estimates and judgments to allocate the purchase price to the fair market values of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities at acquisition date.  It also requires the acquirer to
recognize goodwill.  The Group’s acquisitions have resulted in goodwill and separate recognition of
trademarks and brand names. See Note 16 for related balances.

Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets.  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.  The
Group’s assessment on the recognition of deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences and
carryforward benefits of excess MCIT and NOLCO is based on the projected taxable income in future
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periods.  Based on the projection, not all deductible temporary differences and carryforward benefits
of excess MCIT and NOLCO will be realized.  Accordingly, only a portion of the Group’s deferred
tax assets is recognized.  See Note 26 for related balances.

Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation.  The present value of the pension obligations depends
on a number of factors including assumptions of discount rate and rate of salary increase, among
others.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the reporting date.  In determining the discount
rate, the Group considers the interest rates on government bonds that are denominated in the currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the
related pension liability.  Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based on current market
conditions.  Management believes that the assumptions used are reasonable and appropriate.
However, significant differences in actual experience or significant changes in assumptions would
materially affect the Group’s pension and other pension obligations.  See Note 25 for related
balances.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities. The significant components of fair value
measurement were determined using verifiable objective evidence (i.e., foreign exchange rates,
interest rates and volatility rates).  The amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Group
utilized different valuation methodologies and assumptions.  Any changes in the fair value of these
financial assets and liabilities would directly affect profit or loss and OCI.  See Note 29 for related
balances.

Valuation of Unquoted Equity Investments.  Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally
based on one of the following:

· recent arm’s-length market transactions;

· current fair value of other instruments that is substantially the same;

· the expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for investments with similar terms

and risk characteristics; or,

· other valuation models.

The determination of cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equity investments requires
significant estimation.  In valuing the Group’s financial assets at FVOCI at fair value in compliance
with PFRS 9, management applied judgement in selecting the valuation technique and used
assumptions in estimating future cash flows from its equity instruments considering the information
available to the Group.

Leases – Estimating the Incremental Borrowing Rate.  The Group cannot readily determine the
interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it used its IBR to measure lease liabilities.  The IBR is the
rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the ROU asset in a similar
economic environment.  The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the
lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).  The Group estimates
the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
See Note 27 for related balances.
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Contingencies.  The Group is involved in certain legal and administrative proceedings.  The Group, in

collaboration with outside legal counsel handling defense, as the case may be, does not believe that
these proceedings will have a material adverse effect on its financial position and performance.  It is
possible, however, that future financial performance could be materially affected by changes in the
estimates or in the effectiveness of strategies relating to these proceedings.  No accruals were made in
relation to these proceedings.

5. Business Combination

Acquisition

Philippines Urban Living Solutions, Inc. (PULSI).  In April 2017, the Parent Company acquired
674.9 million common shares equivalent to 61.2% equity interest in PULSI, the developer and
operator of MyTown dormitories.

Despite the Parent Company’s 61.2% equity interest, PULSI has been accounted for as an associate
under PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, since the Parent Company did not meet
the requirements to obtain control over PULSI as prescribed by PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial

Statements.

On November 11, 2019, the Parent Company exercised its call option and purchased 22.9 million
common shares of PULSI amounting to P=136.8 million, thereby increasing its equity interest to
63.3%.  Beginning November 11, 2019, PULSI was considered as a subsidiary in accordance with
PFRS 3, Business Combinations.

The transaction was accounted for as a step acquisition under PFRS 3.  The fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition follows:

Fair
Value

(in Thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents P=463,967
Receivables 11,983
Other current assets 122,975
Investment properties 4,606,817
Property and equipment (Note 13) 66,051
Other noncurrent assets 139,335

Total identifiable assets 5,411,128

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 867,545
Deferred tax liabilities 842,532
Other noncurrent liabilities 827

Total identifiable liabilities 1,710,904

Net identifiable assets 3,700,224
Non-controlling interests (1,358,352)
Fair value of previously held interest (2,264,985)
Goodwill arising from the acquisition 59,940

Purchase consideration transferred P=136,827
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The cash flows from this acquisition follow:

Cash acquired P=463,967
Purchase consideration transferred (136,827)

Net P=327,140

PULSI’s receivables comprise mainly of rent receivables from tenants carried at cost.  It is expected
that the full contractual amounts as presented in the balance sheet will be collected in full.

The goodwill of P=59.9 million represents the value of synergies expected to arise from the business
combination.

From the date of acquisition, PULSI contributed P=33.0 million of revenue and P=2.7 million to net
income.  If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, revenue would have been
P=501,757.6 million and net income for the Group would have been P=69,451.4 million.

6. Segment Information

The Group has identified three reportable operating segments as follows:  property, retail, and
financial services and others.

The property segment is involved in mall, residential and commercial development and hotel and
convention center operations.  The mall segment develops, conducts, operates and maintains the
business of modern commercial shopping centers and all businesses related thereto such as the
conduct, operation and maintenance of shopping center spaces for rent, amusement centers and
cinemas within the compound of the shopping centers.  The residential and commercial segments are
involved in the development and transformation of major residential, commercial, entertainment and
tourism districts through sustained capital investments in buildings and infrastructure.  The hotels and
convention centers segment engages in and carries on the business of hotels and convention centers
and operates and maintains any and all services and facilities incident thereto.

The retail segment is engaged in the retail/wholesale trading of merchandise such as dry goods,
wearing apparels, food and other merchandise.

The financial services and others segment primarily includes the operations of the Parent Company
which is engaged in asset management and capital investments as well as its associate companies
which include the banks.

The BOD monitors the operating results of each of its business units for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.  Segment performance is evaluated
based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with the operating profit or loss in the
consolidated financial statements.

Operating Segment Financial Data

 2019

Property Retail

Financial

Services

and Others

Eliminations/

Adjustments Consolidated

(In Thousands)

Revenues:
External customers P=106,442,090 P=366,036,864 P=29,172,941 P=– P=501,651,895

Inter-segment 15,127,079 189,391 3,315,815 (18,632,285) –

P=121,569,169 P=366,226,255 P=32,488,756 (P=18,632,285) P=501,651,895
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 2019

Property Retail

Financial

Services

and Others

Eliminations/

Adjustments Consolidated

(In Thousands)

Segment results:

Income before income tax P=49,881,226 P=20,463,932 P=16,269,340 P=– P=86,614,498

Provision for income tax (10,508,038) (6,235,716) (426,430) – (17,170,184)

Net income P=39,373,188 P=14,228,216 P=15,842,910 P=– P=69,444,314

Net income attributable to:

Owners of the Parent P=19,166,028 P=9,840,717 P=15,561,499 P=– P=44,568,244

Non-controlling interests 20,207,160 4,387,499 281,411 – 24,876,070

2018

Property Retail

Financial

Services
and Others

Eliminations/
Adjustments Consolidated

(In Thousands)

Revenues:
External customers P=94,076,279 P=334,958,024 P=20,753,864 P=– P=449,788,167
Inter-segment 14,179,779 207,805 3,003,367 (17,390,951) –

P=108,256,058 P=335,165,829 P=23,757,231 (P=17,390,951) P=449,788,167

Segment results:
Income before income tax P= 42,362,040 P=18,948,538 P=12,819,758 P=– P=74,130,336
Provision for income tax (9,093,080) (6,227,332) (255,356) – (15,575,768)

Net income P=33,268,960 P=12,721,206 P=12,564,402 P=– P=58,554,568

Net income attributable to:

Owners of the Parent P=16,072,906 P=8,710,519 P=12,294,900 P=– P=37,078,325
Non-controlling interests 17,196,054 4,010,687 269,502 – 21,476,243

2017

Property Retail

Financial
Services

and Others

Eliminations/

Adjustments Consolidated

(In Thousands)

Revenues:

External customers P=80,875,566 P=298,797,817 P=18,274,837 P=– P=397,948,220
Inter-segment 12,905,250 5,378 2,752,992 (15,663,620) –

P=93,780,816 P=298,803,195 P=21,027,829 (P=15,663,620) P=397,948,220

Segment results:
Income before income tax P=36,438,790 P=17,261,621 P=11,590,823 P=– P=65,291,234
Provision for income tax (7,894,965) (5,623,633) (254,119) – (13,772,717)

P=28,543,825 P=11,637,988 P=11,336,704 P=– P=51,518,517

Net income attributable to:

Owners of the Parent P=13,753,617 P=8,060,075 P=11,109,763 P=– P=32,923,455
Non-controlling interests 14,790,208 3,577,913 226,941 – 18,595,062

Disaggregated revenue is consistent with business segment revenues as presented above.

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Cash on hand and in banks (Note 21) P=19,218,912 P=13,609,347
Temporary investments (Note 21) 56,994,862 65,703,868

P=76,213,774 P=79,313,215
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Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.  Temporary investments are made for
varying periods of up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group.
These investments earn interest at prevailing rates (see Note 24).

8. Time Deposits

This account consists of time deposits as follows:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Current P=30,488 P=25,842,829
Noncurrent 2,412,972 2,392,622

P=2,443,460 P=28,235,451

The time deposits bear interest ranging from 2.0% to 3.2% in 2019 and 1.0% to 4.2% in 2018.

Noncurrent time deposits amounting to P=2,413.0 million and P=2,382.6 million as at December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively, are used as collateral for some credit lines.

Interest earned from time deposits is disclosed in Note 24.

9. Financial Assets

This account consists of:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Financial assets at FVOCI:
Shares of stock

Listed P=22,240,653 P=23,382,060
Unlisted 2,635,484 2,613,690

Club shares 12,500 31,830
Financial assets at FVPL -

Corporate notes – 1,314,500

24,888,637 27,342,080
Less current portion 659,077 639,316

Noncurrent portion P=24,229,560 P=26,702,764

· Financial assets at FVOCI pertain to equity investments in shares of stock and club shares
which are not held for trading and which the Group has irrevocably designated at FVOCI, as
the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

· Financial assets at FVPL pertain to debt instruments where the contractual cash flows are not
solely principal and interest.

· Investments in corporate notes bear a fixed interest of 5.0% in 2018.

· Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVOCI amounted to P=27.8 million and P=1.3 million in
2019 and 2018, respectively.
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The movements in net unrealized gain on financial assets at FVOCI and share in unrealized loss on
financial assets at FVOCI of associates attributable to the owners of the Parent follow:

2019 2018

(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of year P=11,748,980 P=–
Share in net unrealized gain (loss) on financial assets

at FVOCI of associates 4,376,205 (3,400,398)
Gain (loss) due to changes in fair value of financial

assets at FVOCI 24,196 (1,876,865)
Transferred to retained earnings - realized gain on

sale of financial assets at FVOCI (1,749,741) –
Effect of adoption of new accounting standards – 1,703,458
Transfer from net unrealized gain on AFS

investments – 15,324,123
Transferred to profit or loss – (1,338)

Balance at end of year P=14,399,640 P=11,748,980

Interest earned from financial assets is disclosed in Note 24.

10. Receivables and Contract Assets

This account consists of:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Trade:
Real estate buyers* P=66,679,220 P=50,878,438
Third-party tenants 8,469,829 7,252,071
Related-party tenants (Note 21) 432,513 383,424
Others 66,747 124,530

Due from related parties (Note 21) 1,079,944 953,010
Management and service fees (Note 21) 2,212,623 1,244,159
Dividends (Note 21) 610,649 185,767

79,551,525 61,021,399
Less allowance for ECL 1,053,549 1,034,040

78,497,976 59,987,359
Less noncurrent portion of receivables from

real estate buyers (Note 16) 24,880,776 26,232,167

Current portion P=53,617,200 P=33,755,192

* Includes unbilled revenue from sale of real estate amounting to P=59,903.0 million and P=46,501.0 million as
at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The terms and conditions of these receivables follow:

· Receivables from real estate buyers pertain mainly to sale of condominium and residential units
at various terms of payment that are noninterest-bearing. Portions of these receivables have been
assigned to local banks: on without recourse basis, P=7,689.0 million and P=1,664.0 million as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and, on with recourse basis, P=1,986.0 million and nil
as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Note 21).  The corresponding liability from
the assignment of receivables on with recourse basis bears interest ranging from 4.3% to 4.5% in
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2019 and 4.5% to 6.5% in 2018.  The fair value of these assigned receivables and liability
approximates cost.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations totaling
P=11,424.0 million and P=12,929.0 million as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, are
expected to be recognized over the construction period ranging from one to five years.

· Trade receivables from tenants and management and service fee receivables are noninterest-
bearing and are normally collectible on 30- to 90-day terms.

· Dividends receivables are noninterest-bearing and are normally collectible within the next
financial year.

· The terms and conditions relating to Due from related parties are discussed in Note 21.

Allowance for ECL pertains to receivables from tenants which were identified to be impaired based
on specific assessment.  The movements in in this account follow:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of year P=1,034,040 P=1,054,498
Provisions (Note 23) 22,928 46,606
Reversal and writeoff (3,419) (67,064)

Balance at end of year P=1,053,549 P=1,034,040

The aging of receivables follow:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Neither past due nor impaired P=75,132,839 P=58,110,539
Past due but not impaired:

31-90 days 1,571,703 551,833
91-120 days 376,635 306,219
Over 120 days 1,416,799 1,018,768

Impaired 1,053,549 1,034,040

P=79,551,525 P=61,021,399

Receivables other than those identified as impaired, are assessed as good and collectible.
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11. Other Current Assets

This account consists of:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Land and development (Note 15) P=37,935,968 P=29,486,964
Prepaid taxes and other prepayments 13,985,109 11,730,967
Condominium and residential units for sale (Note 15) 6,026,426 8,110,504
Bonds and deposits 9,519,229 6,601,305
Receivables from banks 5,497,587 4,158,765
Non-trade receivables 4,362,489 4,605,743
Input tax 4,261,278 2,439,164
Accrued interest receivable (Note 21) 192,499 359,714
Escrow fund (Notes 16 and 21) 117,985 157,719
Others 2,780,249 2,687,732

P=84,678,819 P=70,338,577

· Prepaid taxes and other prepayments consist of creditable tax certificates received by the
Group and prepayments for insurance, real property taxes, rent, and other expenses which are
normally utilized within the next financial year.

· Bonds and deposits pertain to down payments made to suppliers and contractors to cover
preliminary expenses of the Group’s construction projects.  These are noninterest-bearing and
are applied to progress billings depending on the percentage of project accomplishment.

· Non-trade receivables include interest-bearing advances to third parties which are normally
collectible within the next financial year (see Note 24).

· Receivables from banks are noninterest-bearing and are normally collectible on 30- to 90-day
terms.

· Accrued interest receivable relates mostly to time deposits and is normally collected within
the next financial year.

· Escrow fund pertains to amounts deposited with an escrow agent, a requisite for the issuance
of temporary license to sell by the Housing and Land Use Regulatory Board (HLURB),
pending issuance of a license to sell and certificate of registration.  Amounts deposited
include all amounts received from buyers including down payments, reservation and monthly
amortization, among others.
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12. Investments in Associate Companies and Joint Ventures

The movements in this account follow:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Cost:
Balance at beginning of year P=164,862,652 P=161,012,896
Additions 5,330,780 3,849,756
Step acquisition (Note 5) (1,250,000) –
Reclassifications 1,579,750 –

Balance at end of year 170,523,182 164,862,652

Accumulated equity in net earnings:
Balance at beginning of year 101,572,595 84,014,473
Equity in net earnings 26,038,426 19,164,345
Dividends received and others (5,503,034) (4,423,746)
Step acquisition (Note 5) (22,455) –
Effect of adoption of new standards – 2,817,523

Balance at end of year 122,085,532 101,572,595

Share in other comprehensive loss of associate
companies (7,642,912) (6,697,742)

Translation adjustment (7,164) 57,572

284,958,638 259,795,077
Allowance for impairment loss 3,987,000 –

P=280,971,638 P=259,795,077

The associate companies and joint ventures of the Group follow:

Percentage of Ownership

2019 2018

Company Gross Effective Gross Effective Principal Activities

Associates

BDO Unibank, Inc. (BDO) 47 45 46 45 Financial services

China Banking Corporation (China Bank) 23 23 23 20 Financial services
Belle Corporation (Belle) 27 26 27 26 Real estate development and tourism

Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development Corporation (Atlas) 34 34 34 34 Mining
Sodexo Benefits and Rewards Services Philippines, Inc. 40 40 40 40 Retail

Fast Retailing Philippines, Inc. 25 19 25 19 Retail

CityMall Commercial Centers, Inc. 34 34 34 34 Real estate development and tourism
Premium Leisure Corp. (PLC) 5 5 5 5 Gaming

OCLP Holdings, Incorporated (OHI) 40 20 40 20 Real estate development
Feihua Real Estate (Chongqing) Company Ltd (FHREC) 50 25 50 25 Real estate development

Fitness Health & Beauty Holdings Corp. 40 31 40 31 Retail
2Go Group, Inc. (2Go) 30 30 34 34 Integrated supply chain

Neo Associates (a) 34 34 34 34 Real estate development
Goldilocks Bakeshop, Inc. (GBI) 34 34 34 34 Bakery products and other food items

Asia-Pacific Computer Technology Center, Inc. 42 42 52 52 Investment

GPAY Network, PH, Inc. 35 35 – –

Providing electronic money through

electronic instruments

Joint Ventures

Waltermart Mall (b) 51 25 51 25 Shopping mall development
Metro Rapid Transit Service, Inc. 51 25 51 25 Transportation

ST 6747 Resources Corporation 50 25 50 25 Real estate development

The principal place of business and country of incorporation of the associate companies and joint ventures listed above is in the Philippines except for FHREC which was incorporated in

China.

(a) Neo Associates consists of N-Park BGC Properties, Inc., N-Lima BGC Properties, Inc. and N-Park BGC Land, Inc.

(b) Waltermart Mall consists of Winsome Development Corporation, Willin Sales, Inc., Willimson, Inc., Waltermart Ventures, Inc. and WM Development Inc.
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Belle
In August 2018, Belle repurchased 735.6 million of its shares from the market, thus reducing the
Group’s effective ownership to 26.4%.

GBI
In June 2018, the Group acquired 34.1% equity interest in Goldilocks Bakeshop, Inc.

BDO
The condensed financial information of the Group’s material associate, BDO, follows:

2019 2018
(In Millions)

Total assets P=3,188,858 P=3,022,247
Total liabilities 2,818,271 2,694,098

Total equity 370,587 328,149
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 45% 46%

166,764 150,949
Goodwill and others 26,201 14,554

Carrying amount of the Group’s investment P=192,965 P=165,503

2019 2018 2017
(In Millions)

Interest income P=160,572 P=129,040 P=99,795
Interest expense (40,681) (30,748) (18,042)
Other expenses - net (75,723) (65,653) (53,648)

Net income 44,168 32,639 28,105
Other comprehensive income (loss) 515 (4,727) (1,868)

Total comprehensive income P=44,683 P=27,912 P=26,237

Group’s share in net income P=20,592 P=15,101 P=12,968

Group’s share in total comprehensive
income (loss) (P=936) P=10,754 P=12,845

The aggregate comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures that are not individually
material follows:

2019 2018 2017
(In Millions)

Share in net income P=5,446 P=4,063 P=3,673
Share in other comprehensive

income (loss) (9) 315 315

Share in total comprehensive income P=5,437 P=4,378 P=3,988
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The fair value of investments in associate companies which are listed in the PSE follows:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

BDO P=343,893,457 P=280,162,825
China Bank 15,172,742 16,414,423
Belle 5,183,434 6,016,951
Atlas 3,030,506 3,103,238
PLC 15,082,241 21,168,058

These investments are categorized as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.
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13. Property and Equipment

The movements in this account follow:

Buildings and

Improvements

Store Equipment
and

Improvements

Data
Processing

Equipment

Furniture,
Fixtures

and Office

Equipment

Machinery
and

Equipment

Leasehold

Improvements

Transportation

Equipment

Construction

in Progress Total

(In Thousands)

Cost

As at December 31, 2017 P=12,435,886 P=3,250,294 P=7,005,457 P=9,249,821 P=7,775,635 P=17,099,137 P=827,238 P=1,226,846 P=58,870,314
Additions 495,484 137,221 650,192 984,300 1,087,083 1,089,021 399,380 1,609,808 6,452,489
Reclassifications 731,140 318,803 215,101 (640,623) 595,411 943,314 14,273 (1,311,435) 865,984

Disposals/retirements (7,238) (43,712) (33,983) (29,836) (35,489) (319,355) (276,580) (10,715) (756,908)

As at December 31, 2018 13,655,272 3,662,606 7,836,767 9,563,662 9,422,640 18,812,117 964,311 1,514,504 65,431,879

Additions 356,889 144,070 681,626 1,284,065 864,377 1,347,570 90,239 2,677,577 7,446,413
Effect of business combination (Note 5) – – 750 86,517 14,443 – 1,562 – 103,272
Reclassifications 544,069 237,227 98,281 (974,418) 82,394 533,433 311 (1,459,977) (938,680)

Disposals/retirements (229,272) (33,454) (28,431) (74,845) (46,189) (93,669) (8,629) (13,183) (527,672)

As at December 31, 2019 P=14,326,958 P=4,010,449 P=8,588,993 P=9,884,981 P=10,337,665 P=20,599,451 P=1,047,794 P=2,718,921 P=71,515,212

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization

As at December 31, 2017 P=5,045,238 P=2,205,165 P=5,552,533 P=6,117,842 P=5,335,664 P=12,638,169 P=636,296 P=– P=37,530,907
Depreciation and amortization (Note 23) 819,177 357,057 648,782 955,861 862,892 1,373,922 74,722 – 5,092,413

Reclassifications 14,631 42,348 30,070 (92,395) 52,707 165,661 3,137 – 216,159
Disposals/retirements (5,766) (41,873) (32,274) (25,906) (32,862) (310,433) (160,153) – (609,267)

As at December 31, 2018 5,873,280 2,562,697 6,199,111 6,955,402 6,218,401 13,867,319 554,002 – 42,230,212

Depreciation and amortization (Note 23) 773,894 380,986 695,475 554,216 1,003,150 1,467,314 59,215 – 4,934,250
Effect of business combination (Note 5) – – 205 33,216 2,643 – 1,157 – 37,221
Reclassifications (31,628) (80,706) (6,405) 861,310 (7,303) (840,944) (6,294) – (111,970)

Disposals/retirements (90,774) (15,556) (21,913) (23,952) (43,342) (91,236) (8,601) – (295,374)

As at December 31, 2019 P=6,524,772 P=2,847,421 P=6,866,473 P=8,380,192 P=7,173,549 P=14,402,453 P=599,479 P=– P=46,794,339

Net Book Value

As at December 31, 2019 P=7,802,186 P=1,163,028 P=1,722,520 P=1,504,789 P=3,164,116 P=6,196,998 P=448,315 P=2,718,921 P=24,720,873

As at December 31, 2018 7,781,992 1,099,909 1,637,656 2,608,260 3,204,239 4,944,798 410,309 1,514,504 23,201,667
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14. Investment Properties

The movements in this account follow:

Land and

Improvements

Buildings
and Leasehold

Improvements

Building
Equipment,

Furniture

and Others

Construction

in Progress Total

(In Thousands)

Cost

As at December 31, 2017 P=68,319,833 P=222,001,891 P=36,167,105 P=32,958,780 P=359,447,609
Additions 4,331,055 8,484,409 3,024,922 11,713,859 27,554,245
Reclassifications (1,450,188) 9,065,328 1,112,146 (5,889,917) 2,837,369

Translation adjustment (5,531) (166,451) (12,678) (4,949) (189,609)
Disposals (65,250) (63,044) (413,313) (24,124) (565,731)

As at December 31, 2018 71,129,919 239,322,133 39,878,182 38,753,649 389,083,883

Additions 3,563,225 2,334,200 1,883,218 29,121,761 36,902,404
Reclassifications (120,439) 12,621,438 1,261,397 (14,002,546) (240,150)

Effect of common control business combination 510,586 3,771,736 – 382,207 4,664,529
Translation adjustment (67,417) (1,976,026) (157,843) (69,323) (2,270,609)
Disposals (5,125) (18,639) (159,680) (1,153) (184,597)

As at December 31, 2019 P=75,010,749 P=256,054,842 P=42,705,274 P=54,184,595 P=427,955,460

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization

As at December 31, 2017 P=1,988,051 P=46,650,292 P=21,791,001 P=– P=70,429,344
Depreciation and amortization (Note 23) 226,776 6,654,052 3,067,430 – 9,948,258
Reclassifications (26,656) 174,997 (153,171) – (4,830)

Translation adjustment (9,243) (68,853) (14,860) – (92,956)
Disposals (25,807) (61,055) (373,345) – (460,207)

As at December 31, 2018 2,153,121 53,349,433 24,317,055 – 79,819,609

Depreciation and amortization (Note 23) 244,454 7,297,151 3,064,236 – 10,605,841
Reclassifications 7,563 (11,523) – – (3,960)

Effect of common control business combination – 57,712 – – 57,712
Translation adjustment (35,052) (355,546) (88,474) – (479,072)
Disposals (3,626) (10,454) (105,893) – (119,973)

As at December 31, 2019 P=2,366,460 P=60,326,773 P=27,186,924 P=– P=89,880,157

Net Book Value

As at December 31, 2019 P=72,644,289 P=195,728,069 P=15,518,350 P=54,184,595 P=338,075,303

As at December 31, 2018 68,976,798 185,972,700 15,561,127 38,753,649 309,264,274

Portions of investment properties located in China with carrying value of P=1,738.0 million and
P=1,886.0 million as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, were mortgaged as collateral to
secure certain domestic borrowings in China (see Note 19).

Rent income from investment properties, which is primarily attributable to SM Prime, amounted to
P=50,138.7 million, P=46,222.4 million and P=40,957.3 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The corresponding direct operating expenses amounted to P=35,117.7 million, P=32,701.3 million and
P=30,486.4 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Construction in progress includes construction costs incurred for new shopping malls, commercial
building and redevelopment of existing malls amounting to P=53,780.0 million and P=38,740.0 million
as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Construction contracts related to the construction of the above-mentioned projects amounted to
P=55,155.0 million and P=47,100.0 million as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, inclusive
of overhead, labor and materials and all other costs necessary for the proper execution of the works.
The outstanding contracts are valued at P=24,676.0 million and P=15,738.0 million as at December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Interest capitalized to investment properties amounted to P=3,143.0 million and P=2,681.0 million as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  Capitalization rates used range from 2.4% to 5.1% in
2019 and 2.4% to 5.0% in 2018.

The fair value of substantially all investment properties amounting to P=1,350,307.2 million was
determined by accredited independent appraisers with appropriate qualifications and experience in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.  The fair value represents the price that would
be received to sell the investment properties in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date.

The significant assumptions used in the valuations follow:

Discount rate 4.0%–8.0%
Capitalization rate 4.0%–8.0%
Average growth rate 1.0%–5.0%

In conducting the appraisal, the independent appraisers mainly used the Income Approach.  The
Income Approach is based on the premise that the value of a property is directly related to the income
it generates.

These investment properties are categorized as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy since valuation is
based on unobservable inputs.

15. Land and Development and Condominium and Residential Units for Sale

Land and Development
Land and development includes the cost of land as well as construction cost of ongoing residential
projects.

The movements in “Land and development - current” accounted as real estate inventories follow:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of year P=29,486,964 P=62,698,284
Reclassification to land and development - noncurrent,

accounted as investment property (7,227) (36,484,925)
Development cost incurred 22,277,052 20,358,758
Transfer from land and development - noncurrent 1,810,966 –
Borrowing cost capitalized – 4,047
Cost of real estate sold (14,638,083) (15,390,471)
Transfer to condominium and residential units for sale (4,089,397) (1,733,711)
Reclassification and others 3,095,693 34,982

Balance at end of year P=37,935,968 P=29,486,964

Included in land and development accounted as real estate inventories are contract fulfillment assets
amounting to P=838.0 million and P=1,232.0 million as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively,
representing the unamortized portion of land cost.
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The movements in “Land and development - noncurrent” accounted as investment property follow:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of year P=53,928,447 P=–
Reclassification from land and development -

noncurrent, accounted as real estate inventories 7,227 36,484,925
Land acquisitions 23,254,266 17,443,522
Reclassification to investment property (432,280) –
Transfer to land and development - current (1,810,966) –

P=74,946,694 P=53,928,447

Not included in land and development - current and noncurrent is the estimated cost to complete the
projects amounting to P=74,238.0 million and P=51,097.0 million as at December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

Land and development is stated at cost.  There is no allowance for inventory write-down as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Condominium and Residential Units for Sale
The movements in this account follow:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of year P=8,110,504 P=8,829,343
Transfer from land and development 4,089,397 1,733,711
Development cost incurred – 1,644
Cost of real estate sold (6,168,529) (2,461,799)
Repossessed inventories and others (4,946) 7,605

Balance at end of year (Note 11) P=6,026,426 P=8,110,504

The condominium and residential units for sale are stated at cost as at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

16. Intangibles and Other Noncurrent Assets

Intangible Assets
This account consists of:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Goodwill P=17,458,431 P=17,398,491
Less accumulated impairment loss 91,620 91,620

Net book value 17,366,811 17,306,871
Trademarks and brand names 7,922,798 8,163,825

P=25,289,609 P=25,470,696

Goodwill is attributable mainly to SM Prime, Supervalue, Inc., Super Shopping Market, Inc., Neo
Subsidiaries, Waltermart Supermarket, Incorporated and PULSI.



- 55 -

*SGVFS038966*

Trademarks and brand names include the following:

a. Brand names of SM Supermarket and SM Hypermarket that were acquired in a business
combination in 2006.  These are assessed to have an indefinite life and valued using the Relief-
from-Royalty Method.  The royalty rate used was 3.5%, the prevailing royalty rate in 2006 in the
retail assorted category.

b. Rights, title and interest in the trademark of Cherry Foodarama, Inc. that was acquired in 2015
and assessed to have a definite useful life of 10 years.

The recoverable amount of goodwill, trademarks and brand names have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations using the cash flow projections from the financial budgets approved by
senior management covering a five-year period and fair value less cost of disposal calculations of the
underlying net assets of the CGUs.

The calculation of value-in-use is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Revenue.  Revenue forecasts are management’s best estimates considering factors such as index
growth to market, customer projections and economic factors.

Pre-tax discount rates.  Discount rates reflect the current market assessment of the risks to each CGU
and are estimated based on the weighted average cost of capital for the industry.  The rates are further
adjusted to reflect the market assessment of any risk specific to the CGU for which future estimates
of cash flows have not been adjusted.  Pre-tax discount rates applied to cash flow projections ranged
from 11.1% to 15.7% and 14.8% to 16.7% as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Fair value less cost of disposal.  The fair value of the assets and liabilities of the CGUs were
determined by independent appraisers and in reference to the available market price for quoted
instruments.

Management assessed that no reasonably possible change in pre-tax discount rates, future cash
inflows and fair values would cause the carrying value of goodwill in 2019 and 2018 to materially
exceed its recoverable amount.

Other Noncurrent Assets
This account consists of:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Bonds and deposits P=48,643,102 P=65,893,795
Receivables from real estate buyers* (Note 10) 24,880,776 26,232,167
Land use rights 377,722 9,976,393
Long-term notes (Notes 21 and 29) 5,942,878 6,739,026
Derivative assets (Note 29) 826,315 1,566,788
Deferred input VAT 1,410,699 1,689,045
Defined benefit asset (Note 25) 95,057 73,469
Escrow fund (Note 21) 132,460 132,460
Others 2,066,636 3,131,964

P=84,375,645 P=115,435,107

* Pertains to the noncurrent portion of unbilled revenue from sales of real estate.
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· Bonds and deposits include other assets used to secure certain obligations of the Group as
well as deposits for its leased properties.  These are not re-measured at amortized cost.

· Long-term notes pertain to a 7-year loan amounting to US$150.7 million that was extended to
Carmen Copper Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of Atlas, in March 2017.  The loan
bears a fixed interest that starts at 5.0% and escalates annually up to 10.0%, payable
quarterly.

· Included under “Land use rights” account are certain parcels of real estate properties planned
for residential development in accordance with the cooperative contracts entered into by SM
Prime with Grand China International Limited (Grand China) and Oriental Land
Development Limited (Oriental Land) in March 2007.  The value of these real estate
properties was not part of the consideration paid by SM Prime to Grand China and Oriental
Land.  Accordingly, the assets were recorded at carrying value under “Other noncurrent
assets” account and a corresponding liability equivalent to the same amount, which is shown
as part of “Tenants’ deposits and others” account in the consolidated balance sheets.  Portions
of land use rights with carrying amount of P=295.0 million and P=319.0 million as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, are used as collateral to secure certain domestic
borrowings in China (see Note 19).

· Escrow fund pertains mainly to funds deposited by the Parent Company in the account of an
escrow agent as required by the SEC, in connection with the corporate restructuring in 2013.

17. Bank Loans

This account consists of:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Peso-denominated:
Parent Company P=8,829,900 P=4,850,000
Subsidiaries 9,880,565 14,035,465

P=18,710,465 P=18,885,465

These loans bear interest ranging from 3.8% to 7.9% in 2019 and 2.9% to 6.0% in 2018.

These loans have maturities of less than one year.  Interest on bank loans is disclosed in Note 24.
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18. Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities

This account consists of:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Trade P=85,996,862 P=70,934,888
Accrued expenses 11,324,572 11,697,441
Nontrade 9,790,527 6,230,139

Tenants and customers’ deposits* 12,868,406 12,699,887
Payable arising from acquisition of land 4,769,349 7,974,792
Payables to government agencies 6,331,940 4,618,623

Accrued interest (Note 21) 2,833,930 3,058,294
Subscriptions payable 2,021,790 2,021,790
Due to related parties (Note 21) 1,031,812 1,362,505
Lease liabilities (Note 27) 1,534,154 –
Gift checks redeemable and others 2,948,422 4,179,360

P=141,451,764 P=124,777,719

* Includes unearned revenue from sale of real estate amounting to P=6,023.0 million and P=4,195.0 million as
at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The terms and conditions of the above liabilities follow:

· Trade payables primarily consist of liabilities to suppliers and contractors.  These are noninterest-
bearing and are normally settled on 30-to 60-day terms.

· Accrued expenses pertain to selling, general and administrative expenses which are normally
settled within the next financial year.

· Nontrade payables, accrued interest, subscriptions payable and others are expected to be settled
within the next financial year.

· Tenants and customers’ deposits pertain to the excess of collections from real estate buyers over
the related revenue recognized based on the percentage of completion method, as well as non-
refundable reservation fees.

· Payable arising from acquisition of land is expected to be settled within the next financial year.

· Payables to government agencies mainly consist of output tax which is normally settled within
the next financial year.

· The terms and conditions relating to Due to related parties are discussed in Note 21.

· Gift checks are redeemable at face value.
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19. Long-term Debt

This account consists of:

Availment Maturity Interest Rate/Term Security 2019 2018

(In Thousands)

Parent Company

     U.S. dollar-
denominated

October 17, 2012 -
July 16, 2019

October 17, 2019 -
June 28, 2024

Fixed 4.3%-4.9%;
Floating six-month and
three-month LIBOR +

margin; semi-annual
and quarterly

Unsecured P=44,921,283 P=65,097,129

     Peso-denominated July 16, 2012 -
December 27, 2018

January 14, 2019 -
August 8, 2025

Fixed 4.4%-6.9%;
three-month PHP
BVAL + margin;
semi-annual and

quarterly

Unsecured 68,498,010 78,864,170

Subsidiaries

     U.S. dollar-
denominated

April 23, 2014 -
April 15, 2019

April 14, 2019 -
 February 28, 2024

LIBOR + spread;
semi-annual

Unsecured 39,749,299 41,975,402

     China Yuan
Renminbi-
denominated
(Note 14)

July 28, 2015 -
October 16, 2017

December 31, 2019 -
October 16, 2022

CBC rate less 10.0%;
quarterly

Secured 2,670,803 3,118,514

     Peso-denominated January 12, 2012 -
December 27, 2019

January 28, 2019 -
August 7, 2029

Floating BVAL +
margin; Fixed 3.8%-

7.6%; PDST-R2 +
margin

Unsecured 202,247,332 179,751,217

358,086,727 368,806,432
Less debt issue cost 1,650,800 1,770,189

356,435,927 367,036,243
Less current portion 29,077,719 61,480,887

P=327,358,208 P=305,555,356

BVAL – Bloomberg Valuation
LIBOR – London Interbank Offered Rate

PDST-R2 – Philippine Dealing System Treasury Reference Rate – PM
CBC – Central Bank of China

Debt Issue Cost
The movements in unamortized debt issue cost follow:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of year P=1,770,189 P=1,658,247
Amortization (582,964) (580,114)
Additions 463,575 692,056

Balance at end of year P=1,650,800 P=1,770,189

Repayment Schedule
The repayment schedule of long-term debt as at December 31, 2019 follows:

Gross Debt Debt Issue Cost Net
(In Thousands)

Within 1 year P=29,089,674 P=11,955 P=29,077,719
Over 1 year to 5 years 298,882,114 1,606,667 297,275,447
Over 5 years 30,114,939 32,178 30,082,761

P=358,086,727 P=1,650,800 P=356,435,927
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Covenants
The long-term debt of the Group is covered with certain covenants including adherence to financial
ratios.  The Parent Company’s loan covenants include adherence to certain financial ratios namely:
(1) debt-to-equity ratio not to exceed 80:20, and, (2) current ratio at a minimum of 0.30, and, certain
restrictions with respect to material change in ownership or control.  SM Prime’s loan covenants
include adherence to certain financial ratios namely: (1) current ratio of not less than 1:1, (2) debt to
equity ratio of not more than 75:25, and (3) interest coverage ratio of not less than 2.5x; and, certain
restrictions with respect to material change in ownership or control.  As at December 31, 2019 and
2018, the Group is in compliance with the terms of its debt covenants.

20. Equity

Capital Stock

a. Common stock

Number of Shares

2019 2018

Authorized - P=10 par value per share 2,790,000,000 2,790,000,000

Issued and subscribed 1,204,582,867 1,204,582,867

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Parent Company is compliant with the minimum public
float as required by the PSE.

Information on the Parent Company’s registration of securities under the Securities Regulation
Code follows:

Date of SEC Approval
Authorized

Shares
Number of

Shares Issued
Issue/Offer

Price

March 22, 2005 105,000,000 P=250
November 6, 2007 56,000,000 218

June 14, 2007 100,000,000 10
April 25, 2007 (4.3% stock dividends) 25,023,038 10
October 4, 2010 to March 13, 2012

Conversion of convertible bonds 2,851,582 453
September 24, 2012 9,100,000 700
January 23, 2013 to July 5, 2013

Conversion of convertible bonds 7,651,851 781
June 14, 2013 500,000,000 10
June 24 and July 12, 2013

(25.0% stock dividends) 157,657,314 10
July 18, 2013 to November 1, 2013

Conversion of convertible bonds 738,483 625
August 1, 2013 7,250,000 900
August 27, 2014

Conversion of convertible bonds 68,378 625
January 15, 2015 to April 9, 2015

Conversion of convertible bonds 6,714,759 625
July 15, 2016 1,600,000,000 10
July 20, 2016 (50.0%  stock dividends) 401,527,462 10
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The total number of shareholders of the Parent Company is 1,261 and 1,255 as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

b. Redeemable preferred shares

Number of Shares

2019 2018

Authorized - P=10 par value per share 10,000,000 10,000,000

There are no issued and subscribed preferred shares as at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Equity Adjustments from Common Control Transactions
Equity adjustments from common control transactions include the following:

· Acquisition of various SM China Companies by SM Prime in 2007.

· Acquisition of various service companies by SM Retail in 2009.

· Corporate restructuring to consolidate the Group’s real estate subsidiaries and real estate assets in
SM Prime in 2013.

· Merger of SM Retail with other retail affiliates in 2016.

· SM Prime common control business acquisitions in 2016 and 2017.

These acquisitions were considered as a combination of businesses under common control for which
the pooling of interests method was applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

Retained Earnings

§ Appropriated

Following are the appropriations approved by the BOD:

Date of BOD Approval Amount
(In Thousands)

Balance as at January 1, 2015 P=27,000,000
Reversal November 4, 2015 (18,000,000)
Addition November 4, 2015 27,000,000
Reversal November 8, 2017 (27,800,000)
Addition November 8, 2017 28,800,000

Retained earnings appropriated as at December 31, 2019 is intended for the payment of certain
long-term debts and new investments as follows:

Timeline Amount
(In Thousands)

Debt service 2020 - 2023 P=27,000,000
Investments 2020 - 2021 10,000,000

P=37,000,000
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§ Unappropriated

The Parent Company’s cash dividend declarations in 2019 and 2018 follow:

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Per Share Total

(In Thousands)

April 24, 2019 May 9, 2019 May 23, 2019 P=9.12 P=10,985,796

April 25, 2018 May 10, 2018 May 24, 2018 8.20 9,877,580

Unappropriated retained earnings include the accumulated equity in net earnings of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures amounting to P=237,286.0 million and P=202,669.4 million as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, that is not available for distribution until such time
that the Parent Company receives the dividends from the respective subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures.

The retained earnings of the Parent Company available for dividend declaration amounted to
P=16,330.0 million and P=17,196.9 million as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

21. Related Party Disclosures

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly and indirectly, to control the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.

The significant transactions with related parties follow:

§ Rent

The Group has existing lease agreements for office and commercial spaces with related
companies (retail and banking group and other related parties under common stockholders).

§ Management and Service Fees

The Parent Company and SM Retail receive management and service fees from retail entities
under common stockholders for management, consultancy, manpower and other services.

§ Dividend Income

The Group earns dividend income from certain related parties under common stockholders.

§ Cash Placements and Loans

The Group has certain bank accounts and cash placements as well as bank loans and debts with
BDO and China Bank.  Such accounts earn interest at prevailing market rates.

§ Notes Receivable

The Group has certain notes receivable from Carmen Copper Corporation (see Notes 16 and 28).
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§ Others

The Group, in the normal course of business, has outstanding receivables from and payables to
related companies which are unsecured and normally settled in cash.

The related party transactions and outstanding balances follow:

Transaction Amount Outstanding Amount

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 Terms Conditions

(In Thousands)

Banking Group

Cash placement and investment in

marketable securities

P=60,819,475 P=89,922,969 Interest-bearing Unsecured;

no impairment

Interest receivable 96,400 227,606 – –

Interest income P=2,738,310 P=2,253,257 P=2,401,642 – –

Interest-bearing debt 25,787,720 31,446,016 Interest-bearing Unsecured

Interest payable 85,185 65,477 – –

Interest expense 1,885,429 1,441,884 984,569 – –

Rent receivable 130,907 126,809 Noninterest-

bearing

Unsecured;

no impairment

Rent income 1,018,963 943,474 856,149 – –

Receivable financed 7,689,986 1,663,822 4,923,847 Without recourse Unsecured

Dividends receivable 13,462 2,587 Noninterest-

bearing

Unsecured; no

impairment

Bonds and deposits 17,722,250 18,403,000 Interest-bearing

4.5%

Unsecured; no

impairment

Management and service fee receivable 16,882 14,469 Noninterest-

bearing

Unsecured;

no impairment

Management and service fee income 2,799 4,205 7,892 – –

Escrow fund 250,445 290,179 Interest-bearing Unsecured;
no impairment

Retail and Other Entities

Rent receivable 301,606 256,615 Noninterest-
bearing

Unsecured;
no impairment

Rent income 2,144,633 1,926,478 1,746,184 – –

Management and service fee receivable 1,938,102 937,255 Noninterest-

bearing

Unsecured;

no impairment

Management and service fee income 1,713,152 1,233,740 489,437 – –

Due from related parties 1,079,944 953,010 Noninterest-

bearing

Unsecured;

no impairment

Due to related parties 1,031,812 1,362,505 Noninterest-

bearing

Unsecured

Dividend receivable 369,988 – Noninterest-

bearing

Unsecured

Interest receivable 9,905 9,360 – –

Interest income 387,437 345,700 366,183 – –

Notes receivable 5,942,878 6,739,026 Interest-bearing

5.0% to 10.0%

Unsecured;

no impairment

Terms and Conditions of Transactions with Related Parties
The Group did not make any provision for impairment loss relating to amounts owed by related
parties.
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Compensation of Key Management Personnel
The aggregate compensation and benefits relating to key management personnel in 2019, 2018 and
2017 consist of short-term employee benefits amounting to P=3,270.9 million, P=2,544.5 million and
P=2,043.7 million, respectively, and post-employment benefits amounting to P=372.7 million,
P=338.2 million and P=279.9 million, respectively.

22. Cost of Merchandise Sales

This account consists of:

2019 2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Merchandise inventories at beginning of year P=31,836,333 P=27,778,741 P=25,825,290
Purchases 263,755,950 242,959,699 216,448,154

Total goods available for sale 295,592,283 270,738,440 242,273,444
Less merchandise inventories at end of year 33,157,622 31,836,333 27,778,741

P=262,434,661 P=238,902,107 P=214,494,703

23. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

This account consists of:

2019 2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Personnel cost (Note 21) P=29,924,102 P=23,948,881 P=19,725,683
Depreciation and amortization

(Notes 13, 14, 16 and 27) 19,370,843 15,161,207 14,020,884
Utilities 18,028,601 18,048,050 15,691,055

Taxes and licenses 9,714,573 9,783,825 8,816,366

Outside services 7,048,795 8,339,162 8,157,459

Marketing and selling 6,803,530 5,847,641 5,166,973
Rent (Note 27) 4,474,401 7,668,449 6,723,855
Repairs and maintenance 3,067,465 2,977,334 2,791,300
Supplies 2,474,260 2,584,725 2,363,417
Provisions - net (Note 10) 2,609,386 2,207,458 1,488,855
Transportation and travel 1,179,285 1,152,212 1,034,751
Pension (Note 25) 1,145,678 962,405 667,572
Insurance 864,113 807,540 734,322
Data processing 788,316 664,778 614,141
Professional fees 311,659 579,945 444,687
Entertainment, representation and amusement 378,813 519,664 373,296
Communications 343,261 353,108 333,149
Donations 359,975 348,486 252,540
Management fees (Note 21) 197,555 183,884 207,180
Others 4,173,320 4,280,945 2,734,945

P=113,257,931 P=106,419,699 P=92,342,430
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24. Interest Income and Interest Expense

The sources of interest income and interest expense follow:

2019 2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Interest income on:
 Time deposits and other noncurrent assets

(Notes 8 and 16) P=1,221,445 P=1,551,959 P=1,967,629
 Cash in banks and temporary investments

(Note 7) 1,990,315 1,706,201 1,137,524
Financial assets (Note 9) – 65,095 340,984
Others (Note 11) 669,396 430,886 557,364

P=3,881,156 P=3,754,141 P=4,003,501

Interest expense on:
Long-term debt (Note 19) P=15,737,919 P=14,857,203 P=13,217,491
Bank loans (Note 17) 1,401,349 1,399,546 819,017
Lease liabilities (Note 27) 1,676,045 – –
Others 378,998 317,639 1,544,311

P=19,194,311 P=16,574,388 P=15,580,819

25. Pension Benefits

The Group has funded defined benefit pension plans covering all regular and permanent employees.

Net benefit expense (included under “Selling, general and administrative expenses”) consists of:

2019 2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Current service cost P=1,050,358 P=959,134 P=728,182
Net interest cost (income) 98,138 2,681 (12,097)
Past service cost - curtailment (2,818) 590 (48,513)

P=1,145,678 P=962,405 P=667,572

Changes in the net defined benefit liability and asset follow:

§ Net Defined Benefit Liability

PresentValue
of Defined

Benefit
Obligation

Fair Value
of Plan Assets

Amount not

Recognized due
to Asset Limit

Defined
Benefit

Liability
(Asset)

(In Thousands)

As at December 31, 2017 P=4,154,578 P=3,538,089 P=– P=616,489

Net benefit expense (Note 23):
Current service cost 796,527 – – 796,527

Net interest cost 406,544 395,213 193 11,524

1,203,071 395,213 193 808,051

(Forward)
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Present Value
of Defined

Benefit
Obligation

Fair Value
of Plan Assets

Amount not

Recognized due
to Asset Limit

Defined
Benefit

Liability
(Asset)

(In Thousands)

Re-measurements in other comprehensive income:
Return on plan assets (excluding amount

included in net interest) P=– (P=713,607) P=– P=713,607

Actuarial changes arising from:
Changes in financial assumptions (1,810,481) – – (1,810,481)
Changes in demographic assumptions 266,954 – – 266,954

Experience adjustment 2,055,346 – – 2,055,346
Others – – (1,644) (1,644)

511,819 (713,607) (1,644) 1,223,782

Reclassifications from defined benefit assets 2,889,077 3,038,695 – (149,618)
Actual contributions – 981,148 – (981,148)

Benefits paid (393,096) (393,096) – –
Transfer to related parties 6,670 6,670 – –
Other adjustments 7,965 590 1,451 8,826

As at December 31, 2018 8,380,084 6,853,702 – 1,526,382

Net benefit expense (Note 23):

Current service cost 1,008,560 – – 1,008,560

Net interest cost 743,511 643,614 108 100,005

1,752,071 643,614 108 1,108,565

Re-measurements in other comprehensive income:
Return on plan assets (excluding amount

included in net interest) – (8,581) – 8,581

Actuarial changes arising from:
Changes in financial assumptions 2,436,454 – – 2,436,454

Changes in demographic assumptions 17,266 – – 17,266

Experience adjustment 657,913 – – 657,913

Others – – (1,689) (1,689)

3,111,633 (8,581) (1,689) 3,118,525

Reclassifications from defined benefit assets 827,328 1,153,704 – (326,376)

Effect of common control business combination

(Note 5) 277 –

–

 277

Actual contributions – 1,607,666 – (1,607,666)

Benefits paid (440,647) (434,477) – (6,170)

Transfer to related parties (9,221) (9,221) – –

Other adjustments 257,003 – 1,581 258,584

As at December 31, 2019 P=13,878,528 P=9,806,407 P=– P=4,072,121

§ Net Defined Benefit Asset

Present Value

of Defined
Benefit

Obligation
Fair Value

of Plan Assets

Amount not
Recognized due

to Asset Limit

Defined

Benefit
Liability

(Asset)

(In Thousands)

As at December 31, 2017 P=4,002,879 P=4,379,341 P=14 (P=376,448)

Net benefit expense (Note 23):

Current service cost 162,607 – – 162,607
Net interest cost (income) 72,688 83,045 1,514 (8,843)

 Past service cost - curtailment 590 – – 590

235,885 83,045 1,514 154,354

Re-measurements in other comprehensive income:

 Return on plan assets (excluding amount
included in net interest) – (162,462) – 162,462

 Actuarial changes arising from:

Changes in financial assumptions (293,471) – – (293,471)
Changes in demographic assumptions (1,827) – – (1,827)

 Experience adjustment 188,577 – – 188,577

Others – – 33 33

(106,721) (162,462) 33 55,774

(Forward)



- 66 -

*SGVFS038966*

Present Value
of Defined

Benefit
Obligation

Fair Value
of Plan Assets

Amount not

Recognized due
to Asset Limit

Defined
Benefit

Liability
(Asset)

(In Thousands)

Reclassifications from defined benefit liabilities (P=2,766,690) (P=3,035,117) P=– P=268,427
Effect of common control business combination

(Note 5) 23,496 16,604 – 6,892

Actual contributions – 196,152 – (196,152)
Benefits paid (33,148) (33,148) – –
Transfer from the plan 839 839 – –

Amount not recognized due to asset limit – – 15,250 15,250
Other adjustments – – (1,566) (1,566)

As at December 31, 2018 1,356,540 1,445,254 15,245 (73,469)

Net benefit expense (Note 23):
 Current service cost 41,798 – – 41,798

Net interest cost (income) 20,879 23,813 1,067 (1,867)

Past service cost - curtailment (2,818) – – (2,818)

59,859 23,813 1,067 37,113

Re-measurements in other comprehensive income:
 Return on plan assets (excluding amount

included in net interest) – 6,519 – (6,519)

Actuarial changes arising from:
  Changes in financial assumptions 3,759 – – 3,759

Changes in demographic assumptions (120) – – (120)

Experience adjustment (9,540) – – (9,540)

Others – – (3,529) (3,529)

(5,901) 6,519 (3,529) (15,949)

Reclassifications from defined benefit liabilities (851,621) (1,147,177) – 295,556

Actual contributions – 104,393 – (104,393)

Benefits paid (6,165) (6,165) – –

Transfer from the plan 295 295 – –

Amount not recognized due to asset limit – – 11,299 11,299

Other adjustments (232,426) – (12,788) (245,214)

As at December 31, 2019 P=320,581 P=426,932 P=11,294 (P=95,057)

The principal assumptions used in determining the pension obligations of the Group follow:

2019 2018

Discount rate 3.8%-7.7% 5.0%-8.0%
Future salary increases 2.0%-9.0% 2.0%-10.0%

The assets of the Pension Plan are held by a trustee bank, BDO, a related party.  The investing
decisions of the Plan are made by the Board of Trustees of the Pension Plan.  The carrying amounts,
which approximate the estimated fair values of the Plan assets, follow:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents P=485,544 P=816,168
Investment in debt and other securities 2,435,008 2,214,942
Investment in common trust funds 3,852,852 2,720,038
Investment in equity securities 143,261 200,046
Investment in government securities 3,257,911 2,298,150
Others 58,763 49,612

P=10,233,339 P=8,298,956
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· Cash and cash equivalents include regular savings and time deposits.

· Investments in debt and other securities, consisting of both short-term and long-term
corporate loans, notes and bonds, bear interest ranging from 4.0% to 7.5% and 4.0% to 8.8%
in 2019 and 2018, respectively.  These have maturities from February 2020 to October 2026
and May 2019 to October 2025 in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

· Investment in common trust funds consists of unit investment trust fund placements.

· Investment in equity securities consists of listed and unlisted equity securities.

· Investment in government securities consists of retail treasury bonds.  These bonds bear
interest ranging from 3.3% to 8.8% and 2.1% to 8.8% in 2019 and 2018, respectively.  These
bonds have maturities from February 2020 to May 2030  and February 2019 to May 2030 in
2019 and 2018, respectively.

· Others pertain to accrued interest income on cash deposits and debt securities held by the
Plan.

The outstanding balances and transactions of the Pension Plan with the trustee bank follow:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Balances:
Cash and cash equivalents P=485,544 P=816,168
Investment in common trust funds 3,852,852 2,720,038

Transactions:
Interest income from cash and cash equivalents 183,328 11,702

 Gains (loss) from investment in common trust
funds 110,455 (15,627)

The Group expects to contribute about P=1,913.2 million to its Pension Plan in 2020.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes in each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, with all
other assumptions held constant:

Increase (Decrease)
in Basis Points

Increase (Decrease)
in Defined Benefit

Obligation
(In Thousands)

2019

Discount rates 50 (P=554,688)

(50) 541,759

Future salary increases 100 1,101,148

(100) (1,607,872)

No attrition rate – 2,157,892

2018
Discount rates 50 (P=331,311)

(50) 346,601
Future salary increases 100 972,807

(100) (815,430)
No attrition rate – 1,921,376
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The average duration of the Group’s defined benefit obligation is 3 to 28 years in 2019 and 4 to 28

years in 2018.

The maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments follows:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Year 1 P=1,614,943 P=717,315
Year 2 548,903 379,992
Year 3 379,677 466,365
Year 4 479,300 372,793
Year 5 476,010 421,637
Year 6 -10 3,120,444 2,575,923

The Plan assets are not matched to any specific defined benefit obligation.

26. Income Tax

The details of the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities follow:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
 Excess of fair values over cost of investment

properties P=1,151,366 P=1,167,853
NOLCO 413,026 508,314
Lease liabilities 7,717,920 –
Accrued leases 749,979 651,103
Provision for doubtful accounts and others 1,177,356 807,565

 Unamortized past service cost and defined
benefit liability 1,009,245 220,270

MCIT 17,088 3,394

12,235,980 3,358,499

Deferred tax liabilities:
Appraisal increment on investment property 3,013,880 3,088,393
ROU assets 7,319,668 –
Trademarks and brand names 1,879,000 1,879,000
Capitalized interest 1,768,391 1,807,409
Unrealized gross profit on sale of real estate 3,935,005 2,011,975

 Excess of fair values over cost of equity
instruments 125,084 273,146

 Unamortized past service cost and defined
benefit asset 186,000 35,853

Accrued/deferred rent income 114,875 107,640
Others 377,003 239,790

18,718,906 9,443,206

Net deferred tax liabilities P=6,482,926 P=6,084,707
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The net deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Deferred tax assets P=3,121,117 P=2,726,155
Deferred tax liabilities 9,604,043 8,810,862

P=6,482,926 P=6,084,707

The unrecognized deferred tax assets from the deductible temporary differences and carryforward
benefits of NOLCO and MCIT amounted to P=5,356.6 million and P=4,429.6 million as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The reconciliation between the statutory tax rates and the Group’s effective tax rate on income before
income tax follows:

2019 2018 2017

Statutory income tax rate 30% 30% 30%
Income tax effect of reconciling items:

 Equity in net earnings of associate
companies and joint ventures (9) (8) (8)

Interest income subjected to final tax (1) (2) (2)
Others – 1 1

Effective income tax rate 20% 21% 21%

27. Lease Agreements

As Lessor.  The Group’s lease agreements with its tenants are generally granted for a term of one to
twenty-five years.  Upon inception of the lease agreement, tenants are required to pay certain amounts
of deposits.  Tenants likewise pay a fixed monthly rent which is calculated with reference to a fixed
sum per square meter of area leased except for a few tenants which pay either a fixed monthly rent or
a percentage of gross sales, whichever is higher.

The future minimum lease receivables under the non-cancellable operating leases as at
December 31 follow:

2019 2018
(In Millions)

Within one year P=6,778 P=6,944
After one year but not more than five years 19,188 18,729
More than five years 6,520 6,517

P=32,486 P=32,190

As Lessee.  The Group leases certain parcels of land where some of its malls are situated.  The terms
of the lease are for periods ranging from fifteen to fifty years, renewable for the same period under
the same terms and conditions.  Rental payments are generally computed based on a certain
percentage of gross rental income or a certain fixed amount, whichever is higher.
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There are also non-cancellable operating lease commitments with lease periods ranging from two to
thirty years, mostly containing renewal options and those that provide for the payment of additional
rental based on a certain percentage of sales of the sub-lessees.

The rollforward analysis of ROU assets follows:

Land Use Rights Office/Store Space Total

(In Thousands)

Cost

As at January 1, 2019, as previously
reported P=– P=– P=–

Effect of adoption of PFRS 16 (Note 3) 18,293,095 13,727,159 32,020,254

As at January 1, 2019, as restated 18,293,095 13,727,159 32,020,254
Additions 3,000,000 5,531,628 8,531,628
Reclassifications 145,995 1,033,071 1,179,066
Translation adjustment (481,794) – (481,794)
Disposals (2,073) – (2,073)

As at December 31, 2019 P=20,955,223 P=20,291,858 P=41,247,081

Accumulated Depreciation

and Amortization

As at January 1, 2019 P=– P=– P=–
Depreciation and amortization (Note 23) 510,196 3,077,734 3,587,930
Translation adjustment (4,415) – (4,415)
Disposals (610) – (610)

As at December 31, 2019 P=505,171 P=3,077,734 P=3,582,905

Net Book Value

As at December 31, 2019 P=20,450,052 P=17,214,124 P=37,664,176

Following are the amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended

December 31, 2019:

(In Thousands)

Depreciation of ROU assets P=3,587,930
Interest expense on lease liabilities 1,676,045

The rollforward analysis of lease liabilities follows:

(In Thousands)

As at January 1, 2019, as previously reported P=–
Effect of adoption of PFRS 16 (Note 3) 24,781,169

As at January 1, 2019, as restated 24,781,169
Additions 5,531,627
Interest expense (Note 24) 1,676,045
Payments (2,854,295)

As at December 31, 2019 P=29,134,546

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options.  These options
are negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio.
Management exercises significant judgement in determining whether these extension and termination
options are reasonably certain to be exercised.
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The future minimum lease payables under the non-cancellable leases as at December 31 follow:

2019 2018
(In Millions)

Within one year P=4,565 P=2,470
After one year but not more than five years 12,954 4,283
More than five years 29,350 26,464

P=46,869 P=33,217

Tenant’s deposits amounted to P=23,607.1 million and P=19,774.5 million as at December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively.

28. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, consist of cash and cash
equivalents, time deposits, financial assets, non-trade receivables, bonds and deposits, receivables
from banks, accrued interest receivable, bank loans, long-term debt and lease liabilities.  The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations.  The Group has other
financial instruments such as receivables and accounts payable and other current liabilities, which
arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, mainly, cross-currency swaps, interest rate swaps,
foreign currency call options and non-deliverable forwards.  The purpose is to manage the interest
rate and foreign currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its sources of finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments follow:

· Interest rate risk. Fixed rate financial instruments are subject to fair value interest rate risk while
floating rate financial instruments are subject to cash flow interest rate risk.  Repricing of floating
rate financial instruments is mostly done at intervals of three or six months.

· Foreign currency risk. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises as the Parent
Company and SM Prime have significant investments and debt issuances which are denominated
in U.S. Dollars and China Yuan Renminbi.

· Liquidity risk. Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may encounter difficulties
in raising funds to meet commitments from financial instruments.

· Credit risk. Refers to the risk that a borrower will default on any type of debt by failing to make
the required payments.

· Equity price risk. The Group’s exposure to equity price risk pertains to its investments in quoted
equity shares which are classified as equity investments at FVOCI in the consolidated balance
sheets.  Equity price risk arises from changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of
individual stocks traded in the stock exchange.

The BOD reviews and approves the policies for managing each of these risks.
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Interest Rate Risk
The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s
long-term debt obligations (see Note 19).

The Group maintains a conservative financing strategy and has preference for longer tenor credit with
fixed interest rate that matches the nature of its investments.  To manage this mix in a cost-efficient
manner, the Group enters into interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps in which the Group
agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable interest amounts
calculated by reference to an agreed notional amount.  The interest rate swaps economically hedge the
underlying debt obligations.  The cross-currency swaps were designated by the Group under cash
flow hedge accounting.

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, after taking into account the effect of the swaps, approximately
79.0% and 81.1%, respectively of the Group’s borrowings, net of debt issue cost, is kept at fixed
interest rates.

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity Analysis.  The sensitivity analysis for a reasonably possible change in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s interest-bearing debt with floating
interest rates, follows:

Increase
(Decrease)

in Basis Points

Effect
on Income

Before Tax

(In Millions)

2019 100 (P=172.7)

50 (86.4)

(100) 172.7

(50) 86.4

2018 100 (P=236.3)
50 (118.2)

(100) 236.3
(50) 118.2

The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on observable
market conditions.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Group aims to reduce foreign currency risks by employing on-balance sheet hedges and
derivatives such as foreign currency swap contracts, foreign cross-currency swaps, foreign currency
call options and non-deliverable forwards.

The Group’s foreign currency-denominated financial assets and liabilities and their peso equivalents
follow:

2019 2018

US$ PhP= US$ PhP=

(In Thousands)

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $10,003 P=506,525 $5,825 P=306,275
Time deposits 491,275 25,831,265

 Receivables and contract assets 1,023 51,800 55,025 2,893,228

(Forward)
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2019 2018

US$ PhP= US$ PhP=

(In Thousands)

Noncurrent assets:

Time deposits $361,896 P=18,324,621 $21,713 P=1,141,652
Other noncurrent assets 136,949 6,934,428 514,749 27,065,524

Total assets 509,871 25,817,374 1,088,587 57,237,944

Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt – – 495,680 26,062,856

 Accounts payable and other current liabilities 1,223 61,939 5,607 294,821

Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt - net of current portion 475,028 24,053,060 528,424 27,784,556

Total liabilities 476,251 24,114,999 1,029,711 54,142,233

Net $33,620 P=1,702,375 $58,876 P=3,095,711

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, approximately 23.1% and 28.4%, respectively, of the Group’s
borrowings, net of debt issue cost, are denominated in foreign currency.

The Group recognized net foreign exchange gain (loss) of P=561.7 million gain, P=182.5 million loss
and P=698.7 million gain in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  This resulted from movements in the
closing rate of U.S. dollar against the Philippine peso as follows:

U.S. Dollar
to Peso

December 31, 2019 P=50.64

December 31, 2018 52.58
December 31, 2017 49.93

Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis.  The sensitivity analysis for a reasonably possible change
in U.S. Dollar to Philippine peso exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency, follows:

Appreciation
(Depreciation) of Peso

Effect on Income
Before Tax

(In Millions)

2019 1.50 P=50.4

1.00 33.6

(1.50) (50.4)

(1.00) (33.6)

2018 1.50 P=88.3

1.00 58.9
(1.50) (88.3)

(1.00) (58.9)

Liquidity Risk
The Group manages its liquidity to ensure adequate financing of capital expenditures and debt
service.  Financing consists of internally generated funds, proceeds from debt and equity issues,
and/or sale of assets.

The Group regularly evaluates its projected and actual cash flow information and assesses conditions
in the financial markets for opportunities to pursue fund raising initiatives including bank loans,
export credit agency-guaranteed facilities, bonds and equity market issues.
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The Group’s financial assets, which have maturities of less than 12 months and used to meet its short-
term liquidity needs, include the following:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents P=76,213,774 P=79,313,215
Current portion of time deposits 30,488 25,842,829

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities follow:

2019

Less than

1 Year

1 to 5

Years

More than

5 Years Total

(In Thousands)

Bank loans P=18,710,465 P=– P=– P=18,710,465

Accounts payable and other current liabilities * 122,251,417 – – 122,251,417

Long-term debt (including current portion) ** 37,745,146 336,519,185 96,164,360 470,428,691

Derivative liabilities** – 1,966,090 – 1,966,090

Dividends payable 4,204,962 – – 4,204,962

Lease liabilities 3,859,945 12,334,377 25,810,461 42,004,783

Tenants’ deposits ** 297,039 21,306,522 64,830 21,668,391

Other noncurrent liabilities *** – 22,775,561 – 22,775,561

P=187,068,974 P=394,901,735 P=122,039,651 P=704,010,360

*Excluding payables to government agencies of P=6,331.9 million, which are not considered as financial liabilities.

**Based on estimated future cash flows.

***Excluding nonfinancial liabilities amounting to P=5,086.4 million.

2018

Less than
1 Year

1 to 5
Years

More than
5 Years Total

(In Thousands)

Bank loans P=18,885,465 P=– P=– P=18,885,465
Accounts payable and other current liabilities * 107,459,209 – – 107,459,209

Long-term debt (including current portion) ** 72,701,164 268,546,245 93,842,363 435,089,772
Derivative liabilities** – 335,008 – 335,008
Dividends payable 3,906,476 – – 3,906,476

Tenants’ deposits ** 299,939 21,688,833 62,911 22,051,683
Other noncurrent liabilities *** 148,772 14,251,063 – 14,399,835

P=203,401,025 P=304,821,149 P=93,905,274 P=602,127,448

*Excluding payables to government agencies of P=4,618.6 million, which are not considered as financial liabilities.

**Based on estimated future cash flows.

***Excluding nonfinancial liabilities amounting to P=3,432.6 million.

Credit Risk
The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy related and third parties.  The Group policy
requires customers who wish to trade on credit terms to undergo credit verification.  In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on a regular basis to keep exposure to bad debts at the minimum.
Given the Group’s diverse customer base, it is not exposed to large concentrations of credit risk.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group which consist of cash
and cash equivalents, time deposits and certain derivative instruments, the Group’s credit risk arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these
instruments.

Receivables from sale of real estate have minimal credit risk and are effectively collateralized by the
respective units sold since title to the real estate properties are not transferred to the buyers until full
payment is made.
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As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the financial assets, except for certain receivables, are generally

viewed by management as good and collectible considering the credit history of the counterparties.
Past due or impaired financial assets are very minimal in relation to the Group’s total financial assets.

Credit Quality of Financial Assets
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using high quality and standard quality
as internal credit ratings.

High Quality.  This pertains to a counterparty who is not expected to default in settling its obligations,
thus credit risk is minimal.  This normally includes large prime financial institutions, companies and
government agencies.

Standard Quality.  Other financial assets not belonging to the high quality category are included in
this category.

2019 2018

High

Quality

Standard

Quality Total

High
Quality

Standard
Quality Total

(In Thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding
cash on hand) P=74,274,369 P=– P=74,274,369 P=77,583,440 P=– P=77,583,440

Time deposits including noncurrent
portion 2,443,460 2,443,460 28,235,451 – 28,235,451

Financial assets 22,253,153 2,635,485 24,888,638 24,728,390 2,613,690 27,342,080

Receivables and contract assets - net
(including noncurrent portion of
receivables from real estate

buyers)* 46,018,028 8,873,608 54,891,636 30,230,611 7,610,927 37,841,538
Advances and other receivables - net

(includes non-trade receivables,

bonds and deposits, receivable
from banks, notes receivable and
accrued interest receivable under

“Other current assets” account in
the consolidated balance sheets)** 21,431,159 – 21,431,159 15,451,092 – 15,451,092

Escrow fund 250,445 – 250,445 290,179 – 290,179

Other noncurrent assets:
Bonds and deposits 17,722,250 – 17,722,250 18,403,000 – 18,403,000
Long-term notes 5,942,878 – 5,942,878 6,739,026 – 6,739,026

Derivative assets (including noncurrent
portion) 826,315 – 826,315 1,566,788 – 1,566,788

P=191,162,057 P=11,509,093 P=202,671,150 P=203,227,977 P=10,224,617 P=213,452,594

*Excluding non-financial assets amounting to P=20,268.6 and P=20,269.0 million as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
**Excluding non-financial assets amounting to P=449.3million and P=274.4 million as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Equity Price Risk
Management closely monitors the equity securities in its investment portfolio.  Material equity
investments within the portfolio are managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are
approved by management.

The sensitivity analysis for a reasonably possible change in equity indices, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s investments in listed shares of stock, follows:

Change in

Equity Price

Effect on

Equity

(In Millions)

2019 +2.86% P=838.5

-2.86% (838.5)

2018 +1.78% P=621.1
-1.78% (621.1)
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Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes appropriate adjustments based on changes in
economic conditions.  Accordingly, the Group may adjust dividend payments to shareholders, secure
new and/or pay off existing debts, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group monitors its capital gearing by maintaining its net debt at no higher than 50% of the sum
of net debt and equity.

Net Gearing Ratio

2019 2018

(In Thousands)

Bank loans P=18,710,465 P=18,885,465
Long-term debt (current and noncurrent) 356,435,927 367,036,243

Less:
 Cash and cash equivalents

(excluding cash on hand) (74,274,369) (77,583,440)

Time deposits (current and noncurrent) (2,443,460) (28,235,451)

Net interest-bearing debt (a) 298,428,563 280,102,817
Total equity 536,151,478 492,290,012

Net interest-bearing debt and total equity (b) P=834,580,041 P=772,392,829

Gearing ratio - net (a/b) 36% 36%

Gross Gearing Ratio

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Bank loans P=18,710,465 P=18,885,465
Long-term debt 356,435,927 367,036,243

Total interest-bearing debt (a) 375,146,392 385,921,708
Total equity 536,151,478 492,290,012

Total interest-bearing debt and total equity (b) P=911,297,870 P=878,211,720

Gearing ratio - gross (a/b) 41% 44%
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29. Financial Instruments

The Group’s financial assets and liabilities by category and by class, except for those with carrying
amounts that are reasonable approximations of fair values, follow:

2019

Carrying

Value Fair Value

Quoted Prices

in Active

Markets

(Level 1)

Significant

Observable

Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

(Level 3)

(In Thousands)

Assets Measured at Fair Value

Financial assets at FVOCI

Listed shares of stock P=22,240,653 P=22,240,653 P=22,240,653 P=– P=–

Unlisted shares of stock 2,635,484 2,635,484 – – 2,635,484

Club shares 12,500 12,500 – 12,500 –

Derivative assets 826,315 826,315 – 826,315 –

25,714,952 25,714,952 22,240,653 838,815 2,635,484

Assets for which Fair Values are Disclosed

Time deposits - noncurrent portion 2,412,972 2,386,637 – – 2,386,637

 Other noncurrent assets:

Bonds and deposits 17,722,250 19,763,982 – – 19,763,982

Long-term notes 5,942,878 7,577,904 – – 7,577,904

26,078,100 29,728,523 – – 29,728,523

P=51,793,052 P=55,443,475 P=22,240,653 P=838,815 P=32,364,007

Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

Derivative liabilities P=1,966,090 P=1,966,090 P=– P=1,966,090 P=–

Liabilities for which Fair Values are Disclosed

 Long-term debt (noncurrent portion and net of
unamortized debt issue cost) 327,358,208 331,463,306 – – 331,463,306

Lease liabilities - noncurrent portion 27,600,392 38,144,838 – – 38,144,838

Tenants’ deposits and others* 35,607,059 32,355,186 – – 32,355,186

390,565,659 401,963,330 – – 401,963,330

P=392,531,749 P=403,929,420 P=– P=1,966,0900 P=401,963,330

*Excluding nonfinancial liabilities amounting to P=5,086.4 million.

2018

Carrying
Value Fair Value

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets
(Level 1)

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

(In Thousands)

Assets Measured at Fair Value

Financial assets at FVOCI

Listed shares of stock P=23,382,060 P=23,382,060 P=23,382,060 P=– P=–
Unlisted shares of stock 2,613,690 2,613,690 – – 2,613,690

Club shares 31,830 31,830 – 31,830 –
Financial assets at FVPL 1,314,500 1,314,500 1,314,500 – –

Derivative assets 1,566,788 1,566,788 – 1,566,788 –

28,908,868 28,908,868 24,696,560 1,598,618 2,613,690

Assets for which Fair Values are Disclosed

Time deposits - noncurrent portion 2,392,622 2,339,327 – – 2,339,327
 Receivables and contract asssets - net (including

noncurrent portion of receivables
from real estate buyers) 59,987,359 57,604,083 – – 57,604,083

 Other noncurrent assets:
Bonds and deposits 18,403,000 19,800,272 – – 19,800,272

Long-term notes 6,739,026 8,489,300 – – 8,489,300

87,522,007 88,232,982 – – 88,232,982

P=116,430,875 P=117,141,850 P=24,696,560 P=1,598,618 P=90,846,672

Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

Derivative liabilities P=335,008 P=335,008 P=– P=335,008 P=–

Liabilities for which Fair Values are Disclosed

 Long-term debt (noncurrent portion and net of
unamortized debt issue cost) 305,555,356 288,274,800 – – 288,274,800

Tenants’ deposits and others* 36,000,150 32,026,177 – – 32,026,177

341,555,506 320,300,977 – – 320,300,977

P=341,890,514 P=320,635,985 P=– P=335,008 P=320,300,977

*Excluding nonfinancial liabilities amounting to P=3,432.6 million.
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There were no transfers into and out of Levels 1, 2 and 3 fair value measurements as at
December 31, 2019 and 2018.

The estimated fair value of the following financial instruments is based on the discounted value of
future cash flows using the prevailing interest rates.  Discount rates used follow:

2019 2018

Noncurrent portion of time deposits 4.41% - 4.74% 2.0% - 7.9%
Noncurrent portion of receivables

from real estate buyers – 7.0%
Long-term notes included under

“Other noncurrent assets” account 1.69% - 1.94% 2.6% - 2.8%
Tenants’ deposits 3.12%-4.74% 5.3% - 7.9%

Long-term Debt.  The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on the following assumptions:

Debt Fair Value Assumptions

Fixed Rate Estimated fair value is based on the discounted value
of future cash flows using the applicable rates for
similar types of loans.  Discount rates used range from
1.7% to 6.5% and 2.6% to 8.5% as at December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

Variable Rate For variable rate loans that re-price every three months,
the carrying value approximates the fair value because
of recent and regular repricing based on current market
rates.  For variable rate loans that re-price every six
months, the fair value is determined by discounting the
principal amount plus the next interest payment
amount using the prevailing market rate for the period
up to the next repricing date.  Discount rates used were
3.0% to 7.0% and 3.8% to 9.0% as at December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively.

Derivative Instruments. The fair values are based on quotes obtained from counterparties.  The
rollforward analysis of the fair value changes of derivative instruments follows:

2019 2018
(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of year P=1,231,780 P=4,564,032
Net changes in fair value during the year (2,223,363) (1,280,800)
Fair value on settled derivatives (148,192) (2,051,452)

Balance at end of year (P=1,139,775) P=1,231,780

Derivative Instruments Accounted for as Cash Flow Hedges
As at December 31, 2019, the Parent Company and SM Prime have outstanding arrangements to
hedge both foreign currency and interest rate exposure on its foreign currency-denominated debt.
Details follow:
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Cross-currency swaps:

Notional Amount

(In US$) (In PhP=) (In CN¥) Principal Fair Value Receive Pay US$:PhP= US$: CN¥ Maturity

(In Thousands)

Parent:

$53,000 P=2,761,300 P=2,683,655 (P=138,710) LIBOR + spread 5.3% P=52.10 March 6, 2023

100,000 5,210,000 5,063,500 (400,093) LIBOR + spread 5.9% 52.10 April 16, 2023

56,159 3,000,000 2,843,598 (338,579) LIBOR + spread 6.1% 53.42 July 26, 2023

100,000 5,140,000 5,063,500 (205,908) LIBOR + spread 5.5% 51.40 June 28, 2024

100,000 5,115,000 5,063,500 (170,640) LIBOR + spread 5.4% 51.15 June 28, 2024

SM Prime:

50,000 2,666,500 2,531,750 (321,329) LIBOR + spread 6.4% 53.33 June 14, 2023

60,000 3,199,200 3,038,100 (390,289) LIBOR + spread 6.4% 53.32 June 14, 2023

25,000 ¥172,100 1,265,875 (38,773) LIBOR + spread 5.4% ¥6.884 March 27, 2022

25,000 172,300 1,265,875 (36,253) LIBOR + spread 5.4% 6.892 March 27, 2022

50,000 327,315 2,531,750 77,144 LIBOR + spread 5.0% 6.546 June 30, 2022

50,000 335,940 2,531,750 60,099 LIBOR + spread 4.0% 6.719 February 28, 2024

50,000 335,725 2,531,750 85,546 LIBOR + spread 3.9% 6.715 February 28, 2024

50,000 335,750 2,531,750 59,395 LIBOR + spread 3.9% 6.715 February 28, 2024

50,000 334,400 2,531,750 54,713 LIBOR + spread 3.9% 6.688 February 28, 2024

50,000 335,750 2,531,750 62,646 LIBOR + spread 3.9% 6.715 February 28, 2024

36,000 241,643 1,822,860 46,028 LIBOR + spread 3.9% 6.712 February 28, 2024

Principal only and interest rate swaps:

Fair Value

Notional Amount Principal
Principal

Only Swap
Interest

Rate Swap US$:CN¥
Interest

Rate Maturity

(In Thousands)

SM Prime US$270,000 P=13,994,148 P= 387,062 P= 68,709 ¥6.458-6.8899 6.2% January 29, 2021

As the terms of the swaps have been negotiated to match the terms of the hedged loans and advances,
the hedges were assessed to be highly effective.

Other Derivative Instruments Not Designated as Accounting Hedges

Non-deliverable Forwards and Swaps. The net fair value changes from the settled currency forward
and swap contracts recognized in the consolidated statements of income amounted to P=2.0 million
loss in 2019 and P=314.4 million gain in 2018.

30. EPS Computation

2019 2018 2017

(In Thousands Except Per Share Data)

Net income attributable to owners of the Parent (a) P=44,568,244 P=37,078,325 P=32,923,455

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding (b) 1,204,583 1,204,583 1,204,583

EPS (a/b) P=37.00 P=30.78 P=27.33
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31. Change in Liabilities Arising From Financing Activities

2019 2018

Bank Loans

(Note 17)

Long-term

Debt

(Note 19)

Lease

Liabilities

(Note 27)
Bank Loans

(Note 17)

Long-term
Debt

(Note 19)

(In Thousands)

Balance at beginning of year P=18,885,465 P=367,036,243 P=24,781,169 P=24,172,965 P=332,853,001
Availments 25,266,865 52,895,468 5,531,627 32,199,317 70,787,135
Payments (21,376,865) (64,799,259) (2,854,295) (37,256,817) (40,292,241)
Cumulative translation adjustment

on cash flow hedges – (1,841,637) – – (50,799)
Foreign exchange movement – (929,710) – – 3,621,088
Loan refinancing – – – (230,000) 230,000
Reclassification (4,065,000) 4,065,000 – – –
Others – 9,822 1,676,045 – (111,941)

Balance at end of year P=18,710,465 P=356,435,927 P=29,134,546 P=18,885,465 P=367,036,243

There are no non-cash changes in accrued interest and dividends payable.  Others include debt
accretion and debt issue cost amortization.

32. Reclassification

The Group reclassified certain income accounts in 2018 to conform to the 2019 presentation and
classification.  The reclassification has no impact on the 2019 and 2018 profit or loss and equity of
the Group.
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(30.9%)

Casamia Furniture 
Center, Inc. (68.5%)
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Management 
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Annex 1
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Limited
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Subsidiaries of
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Legacy, Inc.
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SM Synergy 
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Incorporated
(49.7%)
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(49.7%)

102 E. De Los 
Santos Realty Co., 
Inc. (49.7%)

Union-Madison 
Realty Company, 
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Willin Sales,
Inc. (25.4%)
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Corporation 
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International 
Tennis Events Ltd. 
(12.4%)
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(49.7%)

OCLP Holdings, 
Incorporated
(19.9%)

MOA Esplanade 
Port, Inc.
(49.7%)

SM Property 
Management, Inc. 
(49.7%)
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Holdings, Inc. 
(49.7%)

Prime_Commercial 
Property Management 
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Development
Corporation (49.7%)
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Holdings, Inc. 
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Service, Inc. (25.4%)
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(49.7%)
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Corporation
(49.7%)

Seafront 
Residences Corp
(49.7%)

WM Shopping
Center 
Management, Inc. 
(25.4%)

Greenmist Property 
Management 
Corporation (45.6%)

Feihua Real Estate 
(Chongqing) 
Company Ltd 
(24.9%)

Premier Clark 
Complex Inc. 
(49.7%)

Supermalls 

Transport Services, 

Inc. (49.7%)
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SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONGLOMERATE MAP

AS AT MARCH 31, 2020

( Effective Ownership Interest )

Legend:

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION

SMIC Subsidiary

N-PLAZA BGC LAND, INC. 
(Formerly, Crescent Park 14-
678 Property Holdings, Inc.) 
(95.0%)

N-PLAZA BGC PROPERTIES, 
INC. (Formerly, 14-678 Property 
Holdings, Inc.) (95.0%)

N-QUAD BGC LAND, INC. 
(Formerly, Crescent Park 6-24 
Property Holdings, Inc.) 
(95.0%)

N-QUAD BGC 
PROPERTIES, INC. 
(Formerly, 6-24 Property 
Holdings, Inc.) (95.0%)

N-SQUARE BGC LAND, INC.
(Formerly, Crescent Park 18-2 
Property Holdings, Inc.) 
(95.0%)

N-SQUARE BGC 
PROPERTIES, INC. 
(Formerly, 18-2 Property 
Holdings, Inc.) (95.0%)

N-CUBE BGC LAND, INC. 
(Formerly, Crescent Park 6-3 
Property Holdings, Inc.) 
(95.0%)

N-CUBE BGC 
PROPERTIES, INC. 
(Formerly, 6-3 Property 

Holdings, Inc.) (95.0%)

N-ONE BGC LAND, INC. 
(Formerly, Crescent Park 
19-1 Property Holdings, 
Inc.) (95.0%)

N-ONE BGC 
PROPERTIES, INC. 
(Formerly, 19-1 Property 
Holdings, Inc.) (95.0%)

Associate of 
SMIC

N-Park BGC 
Properties, Inc. (Formerly, 

20-34 Property Holdings, Inc.)

(34.0%)

N-Lima BGC Properties, 
Inc. (Formerly, 20-12 Property 

Holdings, Inc.) (34.0%)

N-Park BGC Land, Inc. 

(Formerly, THENETGROUP 
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 

CORPORATION) (34.0%)
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